
Committee Agenda  

1

Area Planning Sub-Committee East
Wednesday, 5th September, 2018
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Area Planning Sub-Committee East, which 
will be held at: 

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping
on Wednesday, 5th September, 2018
at 7.30 pm .

Derek Macnab
Acting Chief Executive

Democratic Services 
Officer

V.Messenger Tel: (01992) 564243
Email: democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:

Councillors P Keska (Chairman), B Rolfe (Vice-Chairman), N Avey, N Bedford, P Bolton, 
H Brady, L Burrows, A Grigg, I Hadley, S Jones, M McEwen, R Morgan, J Philip, P Stalker, 
B Vaz, C Whitbread, H Whitbread, J H Whitehouse and J M Whitehouse

WEBCASTING/FILMING NOTICE

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 
Council's internet site - at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or 
part of the meeting is being filmed.  The meeting may also be otherwise filmed by 
third parties with the Chairman’s permission.

You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection 
Act. Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the 
Council’s published policy.

Therefore by entering the Chamber and using the lower public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for web casting and/or training purposes. If members of the public do not 
wish to have their image captured they should sit in the upper council chamber 
public gallery area or otherwise indicate to the Chairman before the start of the 
meeting.

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Public Relations Manager 
on 01992 564039.

1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION  



Area Planning Sub-Committee East Wednesday, 5 September 2018

2

1. This meeting is to be webcast. Members are reminded of the need to activate 
their microphones before speaking. 

2. The Chairman will read the following announcement:

“I would like to remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live to the 
internet (or filmed) and will be capable of repeated viewing (or another use by such 
third parties).

If you are seated in the lower public seating area it is likely that the recording cameras 
will capture your image and this will result in the possibility that your image will 
become part of the broadcast.

This may infringe your human and data protection rights and if you wish to avoid this 
you should move to the upper public gallery.”

2. ADVICE TO PUBLIC AND SPEAKERS ATTENDING THE COUNCIL PLANNING 
SUB-COMMITTEES  (Pages 5 - 8)

General advice to people attending the meeting is attached.

3. MINUTES  (Pages 9 - 20)

To confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Sub-Committee held on 08th August 
2018. 

4. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To declare interests in any item on this agenda.

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972, requires that the permission of 
the Chairman be obtained, after prior notice to the Chief Executive, before urgent 
business not specified in the agenda (including a supplementary agenda of which the 
statutory period of notice has been given) may be transacted.

7. EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN SUBMISSION VERSION - PLANNING 
POLICY BRIEFING NOTE  

A Planning Policy Briefing Note (March 2018) has been produced by the Planning 
Policy Team to ensure that a consistent approach is taken to the provision of planning 
policy advice for the District, particularly in relation to the Epping Forest District Local 
Plan Submission Version, which was published on 18 December 2017. 

The primary purpose of the Planning Policy Briefing Note is to inform the development 
management process and to provide assistance for Development Management 
Officers, Councillors, applicants and planning agents. The Planning Policy Briefing 
Note is available at:

http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-
Note_Mar-2018.pdf 

http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-Note_Mar-2018.pdf
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-Note_Mar-2018.pdf


Area Planning Sub-Committee East Wednesday, 5 September 2018

3

8. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL  (Pages 21 - 136)

(a) Site Visits

To identify and agree requirements for formal site visits to be held with regard to any 
planning application listed in this agenda for consideration under Section (b) (Planning 
Applications) below, prior to consideration of the application.

This opportunity for members to identify and agree requirements for formal site visits 
to be held prior to consideration of a planning application is being operated on a trial 
basis from the commencement of the 2018/19 municipal year, until 30 November 
2018. The success of this arrangement will be reviewed by the Constitution Working 
Group at the end of the trial period.

(b) Planning Applications

To consider planning applications as set out in the attached schedule.

Background Papers:

(i)  Applications for determination – applications listed on the schedule, letters of 
representation received regarding the applications which are summarised on the 
schedule.  

(ii)  Enforcement of Planning Control – the reports of officers inspecting the properties 
listed on the schedule in respect of which consideration is to be given to the 
enforcement of planning control.

9. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  

Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2):

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number

Nil Nil Nil

The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting.

Background Papers:  Article 17 - Access to Information, Procedure Rules of the 
Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion:

(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 
report is based;  and

(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 



Area Planning Sub-Committee East Wednesday, 5 September 2018

4

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information and in respect of executive reports, the advice of any political 
advisor.

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the 
meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.



Revised ST (August 2017)

Advice to Public and Speakers at the Council’s District Development Management 
Committee and Area Plans Sub-Committees

Are the meetings open to the public?

Yes all our meetings are open for you to attend. Only in special circumstances are the public 
excluded.

When and where is the meeting?

Details of the location, date and time of the meeting are shown at the top of the front page of 
the agenda along with the details of the contact officer and Members of the Committee. 

Can I speak?

If you wish to speak you must register with Democratic Services by 4.00 p.m. on the 
day before the meeting, by telephoning the number shown on the front page of the agenda. 
Speaking to a Planning Officer will not register you to speak; you must register with 
Democratic Service. Speakers are not permitted on Planning Enforcement or legal issues.

Who can speak?

Three classes of speakers are generally allowed: One objector (maybe on behalf of a 
group), the local Parish or Town Council and the applicant or his/her agent. In some cases, a 
representative of another authority consulted on the application may also be allowed to 
speak.

What can I say?

You will be allowed to have your say about the application but you must bear in mind that 
you are limited to three minutes. At the discretion of the Chairman, speakers may clarify 
matters relating to their presentation and answer questions from Committee members. 

If you are not present by the time your item is considered, the Committee will determine the 
application in your absence.

If you have registered to speak on a planning application to be considered by the District 
Development Management Committee, Area Plans Sub-Committee East, Area Plans Sub-
Committee West or Area Plans Sub-Committee South you will address the Committee from 
within the Council Chamber at the Civic Offices. If you simply wish to attend a meeting of 
any of these Committees to observe the proceedings, you will be seated in the public gallery 
of the Council Chamber.

Can I give the Councillors more information about my application or my objection?

Yes you can but it must not be presented at the meeting. If you wish to send further 
information to Councillors, their contact details can be obtained from Democratic Services or 
our website www.eppingforestdc.gov.uk. Any information sent to Councillors should be 
copied to the Planning Officer dealing with the application.

How are the applications considered?

The Committee will consider applications in the agenda order. On each case they will listen 
to an outline of the application by the Planning Officer. They will then hear any speakers’ 
presentations. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

http://www.eppingforesdc.gov.uk/


Revised ST (August 2017)

The order of speaking will be (1) Objector, (2) Parish/Town Council, then (3) Applicant or 
his/her agent. The Committee will then debate the application and vote on either the 
recommendations of officers in the agenda or a proposal made by the Committee. Should 
the Committee propose to follow a course of action different to officer recommendation, it is 
required to give its reasons for doing so.

An Area Plans Sub-Committee is required to refer applications to the District Development 
Management Committee where:

(a) the Sub-Committee’s proposed decision is a substantial departure from:

(i) the Council's approved policy framework; or
(ii) the development or other approved plan for the area; or
(iii) it would be required to be referred to the Secretary of State for approval as 

required by current government circular or directive;

(b) the refusal of consent may involve the payment of compensation; or

(c) the District Development Management Committee have previously considered the 
application or type of development and has so requested; or

(d) the Sub-Committee wish, for any reason, to refer the application to the District 
Development Management Committee for decision by resolution.

Further Information

Further information can be obtained from Democratic Services or through our leaflet ‘Your 
Choice, Your Voice’.

Page 6



Area Planning Subcommittee East 2018-19 
Members of the Committee and Wards Represented: 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 Cllr  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Cllr Jones 
Theydon Bois 

Cllr H 
Whitbread 

Epping Lindsey 
and Thornwood 

Common 

 

Cllr Avey 

Epping 
Hemnall 

Cllr Bedford 

Shelley 

 

Cllr Brady 
Passingford 

Cllr Burrows 

Epping 
Lindsey and 
Thornwood 
Common 

Cllr Grigg 

North Weald 
Bassett 

 

Cllr Philip 

Theydon Bois 

 

Vice- 
Chairman 
Cllr Rolfe 

Lambourne 

 

Cllr Hadley 

Moreton and 
Fyfield  

 

Cllr J H 
Whitehouse 

Epping Hemnall 

 

Cllr J M 
Whitehouse 

Epping 
Hemnall 

 

Chairman 
Cllr Keska 

Chipping Ongar, 
Greensted and 

Marden Ash 

Cllr McEwen 

High Ongar 
Willingale and 
the Rodings 

Cllr Bolton 

North Weald 
Bassett 

Cllr Morgan 

Hastingwood, 
Matching and 

Sheering 
Village 

 

Cllr C 
Whitbread 

Epping 
Lindsey and 
Thornwood 
Common 

 

 

Cllr Stalker 
Lower Sheering 

Cllr Vaz 

Chipping Ongar, 
Greensted and 

Marden Ash 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL
COMMITTEE MINUTES

Committee: Area Planning Sub-Committee 
East

Date: 8 August 2018 

Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, 
High Street, Epping

Time: 7.30  - 9.17 pm

Members 
Present:

P Keska (Chairman), B Rolfe (Vice-Chairman), N Avey, N Bedford, P Bolton, 
L Burrows, I Hadley, S Jones, R Morgan, J Philip, P Stalker, B Vaz, 
C Whitbread, H Whitbread, J H Whitehouse and J M Whitehouse

Other 
Councillors:

Apologies: H Brady, A Grigg and M McEwen

Officers 
Present:

R Perrin (Senior Democratic Services Officer), J Shingler (Principal Planning 
Officer) and G Woodhall (Senior Project Manager)

9. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chairman welcomed members of the public to the meeting and outlined the 
procedures and arrangements adopted by the Council to enable persons to address 
the Sub-Committee, in relation to the determination of applications for planning 
permission. The Sub-Committee noted the advice provided for the public and 
speakers in attendance at Council Planning Sub-Committee meetings.

10. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION 

The Chairman made a short address to remind all present that the meeting would be 
broadcast on the Internet, and that the Council had adopted a protocol for the 
webcasting of its meetings. The Sub-Committee noted the Council’s Protocol for 
Webcasting of Council and Other Meetings.

11. MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2018 be taken as read and 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

12. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(a) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor J Philip, 
declared a personal interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of knowing 
one of the objectors and the applicant. The Councillor had determined that his 
interest was not prejudicial and would remain in the meeting for the consideration of 
the application and voting thereon:

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Area Planning Sub-Committee East 8 August 2018

2

 EPF/0712/18 Cornerways, The Green, Theydon Bois, Epping.

(b) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillors H Whitbread, 
L Burrows, S Jones and N Avey declared a personal interest in the following item of 
the agenda by virtue of knowing one of the objectors. The Councillors had 
determined that their interest was not prejudicial and would remain in the meeting for 
the consideration of the application and voting thereon:

 EPF/0712/18 Cornerways, The Green, Theydon Bois, Epping.

(c) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor P Stalker  
declared a personal interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of living 
near the application site, being consulted on the application as a resident and 
knowing both the objector and applicant. The Councillor had determined that his 
interest was prejudicial and would leave the meeting for the consideration of the 
application and voting thereon:

 EPF/1339/18 Land adj Hoppit, The Street, Sheering.

(d) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillors H Whitbread 
and I Hadley declared a personal interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue 
of knowing some of the objectors. The Councillors had determined that their interest 
was not prejudicial and would remain in the meeting for the consideration of the 
application and voting thereon:

 EPF/1348/18 4 Kendall Avenue, Epping.

(e) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor N Avey 
declared a personal interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of being the 
Chairman of Epping Town Council Planning Committee. The Councillor had 
determined that his interest was not prejudicial and would remain in the meeting for 
the consideration of the application and voting thereon:

 EPF/1348/18 4 Kendall Avenue, Epping.

(f) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor C Whitbread 
declared a pecuniary interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of knowing 
the applicant in a business capacity. The Councillor had determined that his interest 
was prejudicial and would leave the meeting for the consideration of the application 
and voting thereon:

 EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon Mount.

(g) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillors J Philip, J H 
Whitehouse and L Burrows declared a personal interest in the following item of the 
agenda by virtue of knowing the objector. The Councillors had determined that their 
interest was not prejudicial and would remain in the meeting for the consideration of 
the application and voting thereon:

 EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon Mount.

(h) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor S Jones 
declared a person interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of knowing 
both the objector and applicant. The Councillor had determined that her interest was 
prejudicial and she would leave the meeting for the consideration of the application 
and voting thereon:

Page 10



Area Planning Sub-Committee East 8 August 2018

3

 EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon Mount.

(i) Pursuant to the Council’s Code of Member Conduct, Councillor B Rolfe 
declared a person interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of knowing 
the objector. The Councillor had determined that his interest was prejudicial and he 
would leave the meeting for the consideration of the application and voting thereon:

 EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon Mount.

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

It was noted that there was no other urgent business for consideration by the Sub-
Committee.

14. EPPING FOREST DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN SUBMISSION VERSION - PLANNING 
POLICY BRIEFING NOTE 

It was noted that the Epping Forest District Local Plan Submission Version Planning 
Policy Briefing note was available at:
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-
Note_Mar-2018.pdf 

15. DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

(a) Site Visit

The Planning Sub-Committee identified 1 – EPF/0712/18 Cornerways, The Green, 
Theydon Bois and items 7 – EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon 
Mount for a formal site visit prior to the consideration of the applications.

(b) Planning Applications

The Planning Sub-Committee considered the remaining planning application set out 
in the agenda.

RESOLVED:

(1) That items 1 – EPF/0712/18 Cornerways, The Green, Theydon Bois 
and items 7 – EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, Theydon Mount 
be deferred for a site visit; and
(2) That the planning applications numbered 1 - 7 be determined as set 
out in the schedule attached to these minutes.

CHAIRMAN

Page 11

http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-Note_Mar-2018.pdf
http://www.efdclocalplan.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/03/Planning-Policy-Briefing-Note_Mar-2018.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Report Item No: 1

APPLICATION No: EPF/0712/18

SITE ADDRESS: Cornerways
The Green
Theydon Bois
Epping
Essex
CM16 7JH

PARISH: Theydon Bois

WARD: Theydon Bois

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Gillespie

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Replacement of existing dwelling house with new single family 
dwelling house and new pavement crossover

DECISION: Deferred 

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=606853

Deferred for Members to visit the site

5

Minute Item 15

Page 13

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=606853


Report Item No: 2

APPLICATION No: EPF/0859/18

SITE ADDRESS: Ship Cottage
Off New Road
Lambourne End
Essex
RM4 1AJ

PARISH: Lambourne

WARD: Lambourne

APPLICANT: Mr Ricky Jordan

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing house and the erection of a five bedroom 
detached dwelling.

DECISION: Refuse 

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=607513

1. The proposed replacement dwelling is materially larger than the dwelling it will replace and as 
such is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, by definition harmful to openness.  No 
very special circumstances sufficient to outweigh this harm exist and the proposal is therefore 
contrary to policy GB2A of the Epping Forest District Adopted Local Plan and paras 143 to 145 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018).

3

6 Page 14

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=607513


Report Item No: 3

APPLICATION No: EPF/1320/18

SITE ADDRESS: 19 High Street
Ongar
Essex
CM5 9DS

PARISH: Ongar

WARD: Chipping Ongar, Greensted and Marden Ash

APPLICANT: Ms Sharon Britton

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Conversion of hairdressers A1 use to cafe A3 use and alterations 
to shopfront.

DECISION: Grant Permission (With Conditions)

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609373

CONDITIONS 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice.

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 2037/01, 02  and 03, and 1301/M01

3 The cafe hereby permitted shall not be open for customers other than between 
0730hr and 1400hrs Mondays to Saturdays, 0930hrs to 1400hrs on Sundays, and at 
no times on Bank Holidays. No food preparation within the premises shall take place 
more than 30 minutes before the opening time above.

4 Details of the type and colour of the external finishes to the proposed shopfront shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to its installation. 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
For the purposes of this condition, the samples shall only be made available for 
inspection by the Local Planning Authority at the planning application site itself. 

5 The extract ventilation system shown on the plans hereby approved, and 
incorporating anti-vibration mountings and incorporating filters as set out in the 
application supporting documents (in particular specification letter by W>G>Ford 
(Ventilating Ltd dated 8th April 2018) shall be fully installed and functioning prior to 
the use commencing, and shall thereafter be maintained in full accordance with the 
said details.

7Page 15

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609373


6 Prior to the commencement of the use, details of grease separators to be fitted to 
any drainage serving the kitchen shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Authority.  The agreed separators shall be fully installed prior to first use and 
thereafter maintained in working order in accordance with the .said details.

8 Page 16



Report Item No: 4

APPLICATION No: EPF/1339/18

SITE ADDRESS: Land adj Hoppit
The Street
Sheering
Essex
CM22 7LR

PARISH: Sheering

WARD: Hastingwood, Matching and Sheering Village

APPLICANT: Founthill Ltd

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Erection of three detached dwellings

DECISION: Deferred 

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609436

Deferred for more information relating to the planning History of the site and for members to visit 
the site.

9Page 17

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609436


Report Item No: 5

APPLICATION No: EPF/1348/18

SITE ADDRESS: 4 Kendal Avenue
Epping
Essex
CM16 4PN

PARISH: Epping

WARD: Epping Hemnall

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Virk

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing 4 bed house. Construction of 3 storey block 
of flats consisting of 5, 2 bedrooms flats, with allocated parking, 
cycle store and bin store. 

DECISION: Refuse

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609533

1   Due to its excessive height and its width fronting onto Hartland Road and  its design detailing, 
 the proposed development will result in a prominent and incongruous feature in the street scene, 
entirely out of scale and keeping with the prevailing pattern of development in the locality and 
harmful to the character and visual amenity of the area.  This unsympathetic change is 
exacerbated by the significant prominence and visibility of the site in the street scene. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to policies DBE1,
CP2 (iv) and CP7 of the Adopted Local Plan and Alterations and with paragraph 127 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, which seek to secure high quality design. 

2  Insufficient space is provided within the site for the turning of vehicles within the site such that 
cars may have to reverse out into the road, with limited visibility (due to the boundary walls),  to the 
detriment of highway and pedestrian safety in this location close to a junction.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy ST4 of the Epping Forest District Local Plan.

10 Page 18

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609533


Report Item No: 6

APPLICATION No: EPF/1374/18

SITE ADDRESS: Ambresbury House
Theydon Road
Theydon Bois
Essex
CM16 4EF

PARISH: Theydon Bois

WARD: Broadley Common, Epping Upland and Nazeing

Theydon Bois

APPLICANT: Mr Scott Kyson

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Redevelopment of garage (previously approved under 
EPF/0534/16) and new wall and gates to boundary.

DECISION:  Withdrawn

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609614

The applicant decided to withdraw the application immediately following the resolution of members 
of the east planning committee held on the 08 of August 2018.

As the decision was not yet issued, from a legal point of view the applicant has the right to 
withdraw the application and so this option was exercised

11Page 19

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609614


Report Item No: 7

APPLICATION No: EPF/1406/18

SITE ADDRESS: 1 Mount End 
Mount End Road
Theydon Mount
Epping
Essex
CM16 7PS

PARISH: Theydon Mount

WARD: Passingford

APPLICANT: Mr Robert Shaw 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL:

Demolition of barn and erection of two detached houses (Revised 
application to EPF/2248/17)

DECISION: Deferred 

Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case:
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609733

Deferred for members to visit the site.

12 Page 20

http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609733


AREA PLANS SUB-COMMITTEE ‘EAST’

5th September 2018

INDEX OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS/ENFORCEMENT CASES

ITEM REFERENCE SITE LOCATION OFFICER 
RECOMMENDATION

PAGE

1 EPF/0282/18 12 Station Road, 

Epping 

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

24

2 EPF/0712/18 Cornerways,

The Green,

Theydon Bois

Grant Permission 

 (Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

34

3 EPF/0763/18 Stationbridge House,

Blake Hall Road,

Ongar

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

43

4 EPF/0904/18 Barn Adjacent Great Notts,

Moreton Road,

Bobbingworth, Ongar

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

53

5 EPF/1062/18 Land Adj no 24 Vicarage Road,

Coopersale,

Epping

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

62

6 EPF/1339/18 Land Adj Hoppit

The Street

Sheering

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

73

7 EPF/1406/18 1 Mount End

Mount End Road

Theydon Mount

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

84

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



8 EPF/1556/18 Site at Bansons Lane,

Ongar

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

95

9 EPF/1583/18 1 Buttercross Lane

Epping

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

106

10 EPF/1834/18 171 High Road

North Weald

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

119

11 EPF/1847/18 55 High Street

Epping

Grant Permission 

with conditions

(Subject to Legal 

Agreements)

128

Page 22



Page 23



 
123  

 

 
 
  

 

103.3m

2

1

12

10a

3

6

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 1 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/0282/18 

Site Name: 12 Station Road Epping Essex 
CM16 4HN 

Scale of Plot: 1:500 

 
 

Page 24



Report Item No: 1 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/0282/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: 12 Station Road 

Epping 
Essex 
CM16 4HN 
 

PARISH: Epping 
 

WARD: Epping Hemnall 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Alex Lal 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Demolition of existing dwelling, erection of a detached building 
comprising 9 self contained apartments incorporating revisions to 
vehicular access, associated car parking and on-site amenities 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=605301 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: BRD/17/070/002-A, 003, 004, 005 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the proposed upper 
storey window openings in the south eastern elevation shall be entirely fitted with 
obscured glass and have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of 
the room in which the window is installed and shall be permanently retained in that 
condition. 
 

5 The parking area shown on the approved plan shall be provided prior to the first 
occupation of the development and shall be retained free of obstruction for the 
parking of residents and visitors vehicles. 
 

6 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and 
associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice 
tools. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial 
completion of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance 
with the management and maintenance plan. 

Page 25



7 Electric vehicle charging points shall be provided for use by residents of the 
development prior to first occupation and shall be retained thereafter. 
 

8 Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved measures to improve the 
ecological value of the site shall be implemented in accordance with details that 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

9 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 

10 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

 
 
And subject to the completion of a Legal agreement to secure appropriate financial 
contributions for the management and monitoring of visitors to the Epping Forest Special 
Area of Conservation and the impacts resulting from impacts on air quality. 
 
This application is before this Committee since an objection has been received from a local 
council, supported by at least one non-councillor resident, with material planning reasons; and 
since at least 5 expressions of objections material to the planning merits of the proposal have 
been received (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation of The Council) 
 
Description of Site:  
 
The application site consists of a large detached building situated on a corner plot at the junction 
of Station Road and Nicholl Road. The site currently benefits from a large area of parking to the 
front and an attached garage to the rear. 
 
The site is not in a Conservation Area or the Green Belt and is a short distance from the 
designated town centre of Epping and the immediate surrounding area is generally urban and 
residential in character. The property previously contained a small incidental surgery on the 
ground floor. 
 
Description of Proposal:  
 
The proposed development seeks to demolish the existing dwelling and erect a new building 
containing nine self-contained apartments. This would consist of six no. 1-bed units and three no. 
2-bed units. The apartments would be served by a six bay car park to the front of the site with a 
further three bays situated to the rear, all of which would be accessed from Nicholl Road. The site 
would also contain a dedicated bin store, cycle store and an area of shared communal amenity 
space. 
 
The new building would be two-and-a-half storeys in height with three flats on each floor (the 
upper most ones being contained within the roof space). 
 
Relevant History:  
 
EPF/0265/05 - Single storey side extension to surgery to provide disabled persons' facilities – 
approved/conditions 21/03/05 
EPF/1127/75 - Extensions and garage – approved/conditions 09/10/75 

Page 26



EPU/0133/72 - Extension to existing property and conversion to form four maisonettes – refused 
21/11/72 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
CP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives 
CP2 – Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment 
CP3 – New development 
CP6 – Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
DBE1 – Design of New Buildings 
DBE2 – Effect on Neighbouring Properties 
DBE9 – Loss of amenity 
RP3 – Water quality 
RP4 – Contaminated Land  
ST1 – Location of Development 
ST2 – Accessibility of Development 
ST4 – Road Safety 
NC1-  SPAs ,Sacs and SSSIs 
ST6 – Vehicle Parking 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
H 1 - Housing Mix and Accommodation Types  
T 1 - Sustainable Transport Choices  
DM 1 - Habitat Protection and Improving Biodiversity  
DM 2 - Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA  
DM 9 - High Quality Design  

Page 27



DM 10 - Housing Design and Quality  
DM 11 - Waste Recycling Facilities on New Development 
DM 18 - On Site Management of Waste Water and Water Supply 
DM 19 - Sustainable Water Use 
DM 21 - Local Environmental Impacts, Pollution and Land Contamination  
DM 22 - Air Quality  
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received: 
 
22 neighbouring properties were consulted and a Site Notice was displayed. 
 
TOWN COUNCIL – Object. The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site in terms of its scale, 
height, bulk, overlooking, overbearing and density, which would result in a detrimental effect on the 
street scene. 
 
The proposal will result in a massive loss of amenity for neighbouring properties as the proposal is 
too high with three storeys and will affect other properties dramatically nearby, in terms of loss of 
light, overshadowing and visual impact. Committee do not feel this flats development mix is in 
keeping with the street scene. 
 
The proposal does not offer enough car parking for both potential residents and visitors. There are 
severe parking issues in Epping and the insufficient parking from this scheme will put additional 
pressures on the surrounding roads. 
 
This development would be located on a busy and congested junction, with a vast increase in the 
number of cars accessing the site, which would be detrimental to Highway safety and the 
character of the area through which the new traffic will move.  
 
Committee object to the loss of this large family house, which are as necessary as flats and do not 
feel this is the most suitable location. A mix of dwelling types is required and removing large, 
family homes does not contribute to this objective. This proposal would also create an unwelcome 
precedent to the area. Generally, there isn’t enough amenity space within the proposal. 
 
New developments like this which results in unsympathetic change, overdevelopment and loss of 
amenity should not be permitted. 
 
EPPING SOCIETY – Object as this is an overdevelopment of the site, would have a negative 
impact on the street scene due to its height and bulk, will impact on neighbours, loss of existing 
landscaping, inadequate car parking, and since this would set an undesirable precedent. 
 
14 STATION ROAD – Object as the building will dominate the area, impact on neighbours 
amenities, will be detrimental to parking provision and traffic, as the development will be 
overbearing and would be out of character with the area. 
 
16 STATION ROAD – Concerned about impact on water pressure, loss of light, traffic increase, 
noise nuisance, and inconveniences such as gas/electric/water disruption. 
 
18 STATION ROAD – Object as this is unrealistically ambitious and would impact on existing 
facilities, traffic during construction, light to neighbours, sight lines, and the visual appearance of 
the area. 
 
2 NICHOLL ROAD – Object as this development would be overbearing and incongruous, would sit 
in front of the roads building line, and provided insufficient parking. 
 

Page 28



3 NICHOLL ROAD – Concerned about traffic implications, impact on parking provision, loss of any 
of the existing grass verges, and since it is a shame to lose the existing family home. 
 
4 NICHOLL ROAD – Object to the overall scale, height and massing of the building which is an 
overdevelopment of the site, would impact on the street scene, would cause a loss of light and 
privacy to neighbours, would be unsympathetic and out of character with the surrounding area, will 
impact on parking pressure and increase traffic, provides insufficient amenity space, and is 
contrary to other decisions within the locality. 
 
6 NICHOLL ROAD – Object due to parking concerns, increased traffic and highway safety 
implications, since the height would be overbearing and cause a loss of privacy to neighbours, due 
to the loss of existing planting, the amenity space proposed is inadequate, and since the 
development falls outside of the set ‘building line’. 
 
6A KENDALL AVENUE – Object as the site is close to the conservation area but gives no 
consideration to this and disagree with much of the submission put forward. 
 
8 NICHOLL ROAD – Object due to the impact on parking, water pressure, it would be out of 
character with the area, and would cause a loss of light and cause a potential nuisance to 
neighbouring residents. 
 
8 AMBLESIDE – Object as this is overdevelopment and since it would overshadow neighbours. 
 
10 AMBLESIDE – Object as this is overdevelopment, due to parking concerns, and since it would 
harm the character of the area. 
 
17 AMBLESIDE – Object as the size and mass of the development will overshadow neighbours 
and would be an overdevelopment of the site, would result in increased traffic and proposed 
insufficient parking provision. 
 
6 GREEN TREES – Object to the loss of a family home, overdevelopment of the site, overlooking, 
insufficient parking, impact on the street scene, insufficient amenity space, impact on traffic, and 
since there are better locations to build flats. 
 
COURTYARD COTTAGE, HARTLAND ROAD – Object due to the size of the development, and 
the impact on parking and drainage. 
 
Main Issues and Considerations:  
 
The key considerations in this application are the principle of the development in this location, 
design and impact on the street scene, any potential impact on neighbour amenities, and 
regarding parking provision/highways impacts. 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The application site is located within the urban town of Epping approximately 80m walk from the 
designated Epping Town Centre. The site is also less than 500m from Epping train station, which 
provides trains into London by way of the Central Line. Whilst some residents in Epping commute 
into London for work purposes Epping is also considered to be a self-sustained town that is served 
by a full complement of local amenities and facilities (such as schools, shops, doctor’s surgeries 
and a hospital), local employment, and local transport links (such as Epping Station and several 
bus routes). There are also a number of open spaces in and around the town and easy access to 
Epping Forest.  
 

Page 29



The Council is currently in the process of preparing a new Local Plan where sites will be identified 
for residential development. Whilst the allocated sites within the emerging Local Plan will provide a 
suitable five-year land supply once the Plan is adopted, at the current time the Council cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of land for housing purposes. Due to this it has been shown in 
several recent appeal decisions, both within and outside of the district that such a lack of a 
demonstrable five year supply of housing weighs in favour of granting planning permission in 
locations such as this. Such matters weigh in favour of the development. 
 
Concerns have been raised that this proposal may set an undesirable precedent within the area, 
however there are already flatted developments within the immediate locality, including on the 
corner of Station Road and Hemnall Street; No. 17 Hartland Road (on the junction with Kendal 
Avenue) which was altered into five apartments in the 1970’s; Glen House, which is a custom built 
block of multiple flats designed to appear as a single dwelling; and the recently approved block of 
flats at No. 3 Kendall Avenue. 
 
Reference has been made to the recently refused application at No. 4 Kendall Avenue 
(EPF/2335/17) however this was purely refused for the following design reason: 
 

“Due to its excessive height and its width fronting onto Hartland Road and design detailing 
including the provision of narrow 3 storey gable features which intrude into the roof, the 
proposed development will result in a prominent and incongruous feature in the street 
scene, entirely out of scale and keeping with the prevailing pattern of development in the 
locality and harmful to the character and visual impact of the area. This unsympathetic 
change is exacerbated by the significant prominence and visibility of the site in the street 
scene. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies DBE1, CP2 (iv) and CP7 of the 
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations and with paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework which seeks to secure high quality design.” 

 
In terms of the principle of development the report regarding EPF/2335/17 makes it clear that “it is 
considered that this proposal would allow the opportunity for a more efficient use of an existing 
brownfield site within a sustainable urban area and therefore the principle of flatted development in 
this location is acceptable”. 
 
Due to the above it is considered that the principle of redeveloping and making more efficient use 
of this sustainable site is acceptable. 
 
Design: 
 
The existing property is a sizeable two storey detached dwelling with a single storey side and rear 
extension. The site contains a hardstanding parking area to the front along with an attached 
garage to the rear. The front boundary contains a planted strip behind a low brick wall/railings, and 
the side boundary (adjacent to Nicholl Road) is primarily formed from a 2m high solid brick wall. 
 
The proposed replacement building would be two-and-a-half storeys in height and would be 
situated on roughly the same footprint as the existing dwelling. The ‘front’ elevation (facing Station 
Road) would feature two gables and would provide direct access doors into two ground floor 
apartments and has been designed to resemble a pair of semi-detached houses. 
 
The ‘flank’ elevation (fronting Nicholl Road) steps down by approximately 500mm and contains 
three small gable projections, two of which would be gabled and one of which would be pitched (to 
assist in softening the building). The roof line would also be broken up through a stepped back 
central section and the inclusion of three dormer windows. The design ethos of this elevation is 
such that it would have a form similar to a small terrace of dwellings. 
 
Whilst the proposed new building would be larger in height and scale than the existing, particularly 

Page 30



since it would replace and extend the single storey rear projection with a two-and-a-half storey 
section, the site is a corner location situated on a hill that is surrounded by two storey dwellings 
with pitched roofs. The overall ridge height of the building would increase by approximately 1.4m, 
which would be some 1.3m above the ridge height of No. 14 Station Road, however would be 
1.6m lower than the ridge height of the dwellings on the opposite side of Nicholl Road. 
 
Despite the concerns about overdevelopment on the site, it is not considered that the proposal 
would appear cramped or out of keeping with the surrounding street scene. The corner location of 
the site enables a slightly more prominent building and the design and detailing goes some way to 
break up the visual bulk of the new development. 
 
Concerns have been raised that the proposed development would extend beyond the ‘building 
line’ of Nicholl Road. Whilst it is accepted than the dwellings on the southern side of Nicholl Road 
do have a greater set back from the edge of the highway than this proposal, the existing dwelling 
on the site already extends beyond this notional building line and therefore the development would 
not introduce a new feature contrary to this but would rather reflect the existing situation on this 
corner junction. 
 
The development would utilise red brick and rough cast render, timber windows, and a plain tile 
roof and includes traditional detailing and features that would reflect the surrounding properties. As 
such it is not considered that the proposal would be detrimental to the character or appearance of 
the area. 
 
The proposed development would include an enclosed, secure cycle store and bin store to the 
rear of the site and would benefit from 147m2 of shared communal amenity space (which following 
concerns from a neighbouring resident has been checked in terms of size).  
 
Neighbouring Amenity: 
 
The proposed new building, whilst higher and larger in overall bulk, has been laid out in such a 
way so that the rear projecting element steps away from the shared boundary with No. 14 Station 
Road at two points, meaning that the sections of new build beyond this neighbours rear wall are 
set 5m and 8.1m respectively from the shared boundary. The only upper storey windows within 
this elevation would serve a bathroom or be a high level rooflight to an internal hallway and 
therefore can be conditioned to be obscured glazed with fixed frames up to 1.7m in height to 
ensure that they do not result in any overlooking or loss of privacy. 
 
Concerns have been raised about potential overlooking to the dwellings in Nicholl Road since the 
existing dwelling has no upper storey flank windows in this elevation. Whilst this development 
would introduce ten upper storey windows into a location where there are currently no windows 
these would be at a distance of some 19m from the windows of the neighbouring properties, would 
be across a public highway, and would face onto the front elevation of the properties on Nicholl 
Road. As such it is not considered that the development would have any greater impact than a 
standard street with houses opposite each other and as such would not cause any excessive or 
undue loss of privacy to these neighbours.   
 
Given the distances from the neighbouring properties/shared boundaries it is not considered that 
there would be any detrimental impact on neighbour’s amenities as a result of loss of light or 
outlook, including any potential overbearing impact. 
 
Concerns have been raised with regards to disturbance, nuisance and parking problems as a 
result of construction works, however such matters are not material planning considerations as this 
harm would only be temporary during the period of construction. Time constraints for construction 
works are however suggested in order to minimise any impact on neighbours. 
 

Page 31



Parking provision/highways: 
 
One of the key concerns of neighbouring residents appears to be regarding parking provision and 
the potential impact that this development would have on the surrounding road network. 
 
The proposal includes the provision of nine off-street parking spaces situated within two areas (six 
to the front of the site and three to the rear). The Essex County Council Vehicle Parking Standards 
recommends one off street parking space for 1-bed units and two off-street spaces for 2+bed 
units, along with visitor parking provision. In this instance the standards would require fourteen 
parking spaces. However the Parking Standards does state that “a lower provision of vehicle 
parking may be appropriate in urban areas (including town centre locations) where there is good 
access to alternative forms of transport and existing car parking facilities”. Given the location of the 
site just outside of the designated town centre of Epping and within easy walking distance of 
Epping Station it is considered that a lower provision of parking would be acceptable in this 
instance.  
 
The two parking areas would both be served by new vehicle crossovers on Nicholl Road, which 
would replace the two existing crossovers currently serving the front garden and rear garage of the 
existing property. As such the development would not have any significant impact on on-street 
parking provision. Whilst it is accepted that there is existing parking stress within Epping, given the 
location of the site it is considered that the proposed development would provide sufficient off-
street parking to serve future residents and therefore should have no significant impact to on-street 
parking stress. 
 
The positioning of the northern most access point was amended by request of Essex County 
Council, who raise no objection to the development. Whilst there would be some additional traffic 
as a result of the proposal over and above the existing use of the site, this increase would be 
minimal in comparison to the overall traffic within the locality and therefore would not be excessive 
or significant in terms of additional pressure or highway safety concerns. 
 
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation: 
 
The application site lies within 6.2km of the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  
As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the SAC as a result of increased visitor 
pressure arising from new residential development within 6.2km of the SAC, and from the effects 
of air quality throughout the District. The Council is currently developing with partners an interim 
strategy for the management and monitoring of visitor pressures and air quality on the SAC. This 
will include measures to be funded through the securing of financial contributions from new 
development in accordance with Policies DM 2 and DM 22.  Notwithstanding the fact that this work 
is yet to be completed the applicant has confirmed willingness to enter into a legal agreement and 
recognises that the level of contribution is to be agreed after the committee. 
 
In addition to the above, as required by policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local Plan 
Submission Version, a condition is required to ensure that electric charging points are provided for 
the development to encourage and facilitate the use of electric cars, which would assist in 
improving air quality within the District. 
 
Other considerations: 
 
Land Drainage: 
 
The development is of a size where it is necessary to avoid generating additional runoff and where 
the opportunity should be taken to improve existing surface water runoff. As such a Flood Risk 
Assessment is required which can be dealt with by condition. 

Page 32



 
Concerns have been raised about the potential impact that the development would have on water 
pressure. In line with policy DM 19 of the Epping Forest District Council Local Plan Submission 
Version, a condition should be imposed to ensure that a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or 
less) per person per day is provided on site in order to avoid any additional water stress. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
The redevelopment of this site would make more efficient use of a previously developed site. 
Whilst the development would result in the loss of a large family house it would provide a suitable 
mix of one and two-bed units and would assist in the Council meeting its five-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. 
 
It is not considered that the development would be detrimental to the character or appearance of 
the street scene nor would it have an excessive detrimental impact on the amenities of 
surrounding residents. 
 
Given the extremely sustainable location of the site, one off-street parking space per unit is 
considered to be adequate and therefore the development should have no greater impact on 
parking pressure, nor would it be excessively detrimental to vehicular traffic or highway safety. 
 
Due to this it is considered that the proposal complies with the guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the relevant adopted and emerging Local Plan policies 
and the application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to the applicant first entering 
into a legal agreement to secure mitigation measures for the Epping Forest SAC. 
 
 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer:   Graham Courtney 
Direct Line Telephone Number:   01992 564228 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 33



123  
 

 
 
  

 

59.1m

60.4m

64.3m

61.6m

Archdale

13

9

Th
e 

Elm
s

El Sub Sta

1 to 8

The
 W

hit
e

Thistle

Cottage

FiveTrees

Cor
ne

rw
ay

s
Te

le
ph

on
e

Exc
ha

ng
e

W
oodlea

Cot
ta

ge

Ches
tn

uts

Sunny Croft
Branscombe

W
in

de
n

2

Chu
rc

hPen
de

nn
is

Lodge

G
re

en
si

de
Theydon

45
43

T
ro

tw
oo

d

H
ig

h
S

ta
rli

ng
s

Jesmond Dene

Coppice Lodge

12

Red Oaks

21

27

25

THE G
REEN

THE GREEN

AVENUE R
OAD

LO
UGHT

ON L
A

B 172

LB

TCB

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 2 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/0712/18 

Site Name: Cornerways, The Green, Theydon 
Bois, CM16 7JH 

Scale of Plot: 1/1250 

 
 

Page 34



Report Item No: 2 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/0712/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Cornerways 

The Green 
Theydon Bois 
Epping 
Essex 
CM16 7JH 
 

PARISH: Theydon Bois 
 

WARD: Theydon Bois 
 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Gillespie 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Replacement of existing dwelling house with new single family 
dwelling house and new pavement crossover 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission (with conditions) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=606853 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: A001, A-02, A-06a, A07a, A08a and A09a 
 

3 No development shall take place until details of levels have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority showing cross-sections and elevations of 
the levels of the site prior to development and the proposed levels of all ground floor 
slabs of buildings, roadways and accessways and landscaped areas. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details. 
 

4 No development shall take place until details of surface water disposal have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

5 No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place 
until a Tree Protection Plan Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring 
schedule in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition 
and construction - recommendations) has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
 

6 The proposed use of this site has been identified as being particularly vulnerable if 
land contamination is present, despite no specific former potentially contaminating 
uses having been identified for this site.   

Page 35



 
Should any discoloured or odorous soils be encountered during development works 
or should any hazardous materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming 
materials be found, then all development works should be stopped, the Local 
Planning Authority contacted and a scheme to investigate the risks and / or the 
adoption of any required remedial measures be submitted to, agreed and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of 
development works. 
 
Following the completion of development works and prior to the first occupation of 
the site, sufficient information must be submitted to demonstrate that any required 
remedial measures were satisfactorily implemented or confirmation provided that no 
unexpected contamination was encountered. 
 

7 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

8 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

9 No development shall take place until wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for 
vehicles leaving the site during construction works have been installed at the site.  
The installed cleaning facilities shall be used to clean vehicles wheels immediately 
before leaving the site. 
 

10 A screen not less than 1.8m high measured from the balcony floor level, constructed 
in  etched or otherwise obscured glazing or similar ,shall be fitted to the south -east 
side (facing the White Cottage) of the balcony hereby approver prior to its first use. 
The screen shall thereafter be retained and maintained in the built form unless 
otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority 
 

11 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any other Order 
revoking, further amending or re-enacting that Order) no development generally 
permitted by virtue of Classes A - D inclusive of Part1 of Schedule 2 to the Order  
shall be undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

12 An electric vehicle charging point shall be provided for each of the approved 
dwellings prior to first occupation  
 

13 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal and as there 
are additional objections from residents  (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of 
Delegation) 
 
This application was deferred from the last committee to enable members to visit the site. 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site comprises a two storey detached dwelling on a corner plot located on the 
south west side of The Green with a return frontage to the south side of Avenue Road. The 
existing building has a simple brick and tile form with a hipped roof and projecting front bay section 
and a small lean-to extension at the rear. A single garage is located in the back of the garden with 
access onto Avenue Road.  
 
Properties in The Green comprise a mix of uses which include predominantly residential properties 
as well as the church on the opposite corner of the Avenue Road junction and the telephone 
exchange building which abuts the neighbouring house to the south. Buildings have a range of 
architectural styles, indicating a piecemeal pattern of original development. 
 
Description of Proposal:  
 
The application is a resubmitted proposal for the demolition of the existing house and a 
replacement dwelling. Permission is sought for a two storey, 4 bedroom dwelling. The building 
aligns at the front with the existing built frontage and the two storey element includes a crown roof, 
projecting over the staircase in a cat slide feature above the staircase which terminates 1m from 
the side boundary. The ground floor extends a further 3m at the rear, part of which is set back to 
create a covered canopy. At first floor, there is a half width balcony set 5m from the boundary with 
the adjoining house. A flat roof single storey element wraps around the front and side forming part 
of a porch and garage/store. 
 
The application proposes a white painted render finish to the external walls, and a zinc cladding to 
the main roof. Solar panels are shown on the rear, south west facing roof slope. There are two 
parking spaces on the frontage, with a new crossover, and the existing garage at the rear is shown 
as retained. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPF/3403/16 Replacement of existing dwelling house with new single family dwelling house and 

new pavement crossover – refused on design, bulk and proximity to boundary; 
resultant appeal dismissed. 

 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1  Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2  Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP7  Urban form and quality 
DBE1  Design of new buildings 
DBE2  Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE3  Design in urban areas 
DBE9  Loss of Amenity 
LL11  Landscaping schemes 
ST6  Vehicle parking 

Page 37



 
NPPF: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since March 
2012. Paragraph 215 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight. 
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 
 
•             The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  
 
•             The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  
 
•             The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in 
the NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the 
weight that may be given). 
 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
 
SP1  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP7  Natural Environment, Landscape Character and Green Infrastructure 
T1  Sustainable Transport Choices 
DM2  Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA 
DM9  High Quality Design 
DM15  Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM16  Sustainable drainage systems 
DM20  Low carbon and renewable energy 
DM21  Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22  Air quality 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received   
 
   
Number of neighbours consulted:   22 
Responses received:  Three responses have been received, as follows: 
WHITE COTTAGE, THE GREEN –The immediate neighbour has made a number of detailed 
comments covering: 

- The design is not significantly different to the refused scheme 
- Design out of keeping with the street scene, resulting in significant change 

Page 38



- Garage at front not designed for parking and intended for living space (Comment – this is 
indicated as a motorcycle/ cycle/ garage, not intended or sized for vehicles) 

- Crossover is too close to Avenue Road junction. 
- Level of parking would allow future rental to commuters 
- Roof height too high and higher than objector’s property (Comment –the height has been 

reduced since consultation) 
- Future extensions should be restricted 
- Rear projection is excessive 
- Balcony at rear causes overlooking (Comment – at the time of consultation, the balcony 

extended across the full width, this has now been reduced to half width) 
- No Right of Light Assessment has been undertaken (Comment – not a material planning 

consideration) 
- Materials and finishes out of character; the zinc roof finish is not appropriate 
- Industrial boiler flue inappropriate (Comment – this type of flue is becoming common with 

wood burners. It is located between the buildings and set around 10m back from the 
frontage with minimal visual impact). 

- No asbestos survey of existing building (Comment – not relevant to this application) 
The objector makes other speculative comments wholly irrelevant to the application. 
 
2 THE HEIGHTS, FOREST DRIVE – This objector comments that the development would not 
blend with the surrounding area and that the balcony would result in overlooking. Comments are 
also made that there is no need to replace the existing dwelling which only needs refurbishing, and 
the frontage could be retained with improved parking at the rear, but these are personal views not 
relevant to the application.  
 
27 AVENUE ROAD – Raises concerns at the new vehicle access to the frontage, concerned at the 
potential hazard close to the junction in light of the overall level of parking on The Green.    
 
PARISH COUNCIL -: Theydon Bois Parish Council objected to the application, commenting: 
 
The Parish Council acknowledges that the design of this proposal is an improvement over the 
previously refused application. However, it still fails to overcome the reasons for refusal of that 
application. 
 
The overall height, scale and bulk of the proposal has not been addressed, in fact the bulk of the 
roof has increased since the split roof would now be replaced with a fully-hipped crown roof, being 
3.5m high from the eaves to the ridge. The total height of the property would be 9m, as opposed to 
7.8m of the existing property. The height and design of the side elevation, which was previously 
criticised, still generally reflects that of the previous proposal. 
 
The non- vernacular materials proposed, particularly the zinc roof which was highlighted in the 
reason for refusal of the previous application, still remains.   
 
Due to the above, the proposal still fails to respect its setting and would lead to an overly visually 
prominent dwelling, out of keeping with the street scene and harmful to the character and visual 
amenity of this sensitive location overlooking the Village Green.      
 
Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
Material considerations from previous refusal / appeal; decision 
 
In considering the application, the decision in respect of the earlier application, and particularly the 
subsequent appeal decision are material to the determination of the latest proposal. The 
application was refused for one reason, as follows: 
 

Page 39



Due to the design, detailing, size, bulk and proximity to the side boundary of the plot with Avenue 
Road and the non vernacular materials proposed, (in particular the zinc roof), the replacement 
dwelling fails to respect its setting and will be overly visually prominent, out of keeping with the 
street scene and harmful to the character and visual amenity of this sensitive location overlooking 
The Green. The development is therefore contrary to policies, CP2, CP7, and DBE1 of the 
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations and Paragraph 64 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The Inspector at the subsequent appeal identified two key issues in the design of the building and 
its impact on Avenue Road. The Inspector commented on the proposed built form; “Whilst the 
height of the proposal would remain in keeping with the adjoining dwelling, the split level roofing 
would contrast with the more traditional rooflines and due to the prominence of the site, would 
create a development which would detract from the existing focal buildings and would not reflect 
the existing character and appearance of the dwellings along this part of The Green.” 
 
On the latter, the Inspector commented:  “It would also introduce elements of the first floor which 
would be set in from the side boundary and a sloping pitch feature. Whilst the overall increase in 
the scale over and above the existing dwelling would be relatively minimal in terms of its depth, the 
proposal would result in a wider dwelling. The combination of the contemporary design of the side 
elevation facing onto Avenue Road and the increased proximity to the side boundary would result 
in a dominant building which would be overly prominent within, and harmful to, the street scene. 
Although the side boundary treatment would remain, the proposal would include the blank flank 
wall of the garage sited up to, and forming part of, the side boundary which would also result in a 
dominant feature.” 
 
The Inspector concluded as follows|: 
 
“Whilst the dwelling would remain in line with the front elevation of the existing 
dwelling, which would retain a sense of openness when viewed from The Green, when 
viewed from within Avenue Road the increase in built form of the proposed dwelling 
would have an enclosing effect given the prominence of the site and the overall 
design of the proposed dwelling. This would be harmful to the visual character when 
looking towards the open space and would result in a loss of openness from this 
viewpoint which would not be sufficiently mitigated by the retention of the trees 
within the site.  
 
The proposed development would utilise timber and render for the external elevations 
and zinc roofing, which would contribute to giving the dwelling a lighter appearance. 
The use of timber and render are present on other properties in the surrounding area 
and materials in the wider area are varied. However, the acceptability of the materials 
would not be sufficient to mitigate against the harm to the character and appearance 
of the area as a result of the contemporary design and dominance of the proposed 
side elevation.  
 
The proposed design, particularly in terms of the front and side elevations facing The 
Green and Avenue Road, would introduce a contemporary feature which would fail to 
integrate with the existing street scene. As a result it would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area.” 
 
Design response and considerations 
 
The revisions to the proposals should be considered in the context of the Inspectors comments. 
The contemporary, split level roof design is replaced by a crown roof.  Timber cladding panels are 
replaced by a more consistent rendered finish, painted white like the neighbouring house. The 

Page 40



overall height of the building has been reduced since the Parish Council commented and is now 
consistent with the height of the neighbouring house. 
 
The whole building is now set back from the Avenue Road boundary – the two storey staircase 
element is a minimum of 1 metre from the footway and the remainder of the first floor is 2m from 
the boundary; the ground floor garage on the corner is a minimum of 600mm. 
 
In the context of the Inspector’s comments, officers consider that these aspects of the revisions 
address the issues of wider architectural form, scale and massing and the enclosing nature of the 
development in relation to the side boundary. 
 
The application does retain the zinc roof finish. In this regard, it is noted that the Inspector does 
not argue against this, commenting that the zinc cladding gives the building a lighter appearance, 
and further comments on the ‘acceptability of the materials’. While officers have sought, 
consideration of a more traditional tiled form, the applicants have argued that this approach is 
highly sustainable, and a reasonable approach in the broader context.  
 
Consideration of issues such as materials are subjective and finely balanced. Officers 
acknowledge that a zinc finish would introduce a different element to the street scene but in the 
context of the site not being in a conservation area or close to listed buildings, question whether 
such diversity has a harmful or detrimental effect. Your officers take the view on balance that the 
other changes to the form and siting of the building are such that they overcome the previous 
objections to development. 
 
Impact on neighbouring occupiers 
 
In noting the specific comments from the immediate neighbour, the proposed building follows the 
rear building line of the previous application with the bulk of the rear projection beyond the 
neighbours extension at single storey only. The proposed rear balcony, on half the width of the 
building, is similarly located and sized to the previous scheme.  It is some 5 metres from the 
boundary and includes a screening panel to the side. Thus having previously accepted this aspect 
of the development had no substantive adverse impact, there is no reason to change this view. 
 
Parking considerations 
 
As to parking, the application indicates parking for three vehicles, above the requirement in 
adopted standards for a dwelling of this size. The front vehicle access lies a minimum of 6 metres 
from the junction which allows for safe access and egress notwithstanding existing highway 
parking arrangements on street. It is noted that the Highway Authority do not object to the 
application. 
 
Other considerations 
 
The site lies within 3km of the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation, and the application 
has been assessed in the context of policies DM2 and DM22. However, the requirement for 
contributions under these policies applies to additional dwellings only, not to proposals solely 
replacing buildings on a one-for-one basis. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
Having regard to the Inspectors appeal decision and all material considerations, officers take the 
view that the alterations to the overall size, general form and siting of the building have addressed 
the principle reasons for refusing the previous application which were supported by the appeal 
inspector.  
 

Page 41



The use of a zinc roof still evidently divides opinion and requires an element of subjective 
assessment. The key questions are whether the introduction of a different roof material has a 
significant impact on the character of this non-designated location, whether zinc cladding is an 
inappropriate material for a dwelling, and whether this finish has a particular adverse impact on the 
building. If, as officers conclude, the answer to all three is no, then the application should be 
approved. 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 

123  
 

 
 
  

 

81.4m

83.5m

D
ef

1.83m FW

C
R

Station
Blake Hall

Stationbridge House

B
LA

K
E 

H
A

LL

Pond

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 3 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/0763/18 

Site Name: Stationbridge House Blake Hall 
Road, Bobbingworth, Ongar  
CM5 9LW 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 

 Page 43



Report Item No: 3 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/0763/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Stationbridge House 

Blake Hall Road 
Bobbingworth 
Ongar 
Essex 
CM5 9LW 
 

PARISH: Moreton, Bobbingworth and the Lavers 
 

WARD: Moreton and Fyfield 
 

APPLICANT: Ms Greta Banister 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Demolition of existing warehouses and construction of 10 no. 
dwellings (amended scheme following previous approval). 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=607114 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 878-PL-001, 002A, 003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 009, 010, 
011, 012 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 No development shall take place, including site clearance or other preparatory work, 
until full details of both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and 
implementation programme (linked to the development schedule) have been 
submitted to an approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works 
shall be carried out as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as 
appropriate, and in addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed 
finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other minor 
artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services above 
and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for 
planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules 
of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where 
appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or 
establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any 
replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size 

Page 44



as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 

5 The soft landscaping to the east, west and south boundaries of the site shall consist 
of a planting strip of a minimum width of 3metres with garden fences on the inside 
edge. The landscaping shall consist of trees / hedges of native species. If any plant 
dies, becomes diseased or fails to thrive within a period of 5 years from the date of 
planting, or is removed, uprooted or destroyed, it must be replaced by another plant 
of the same kind and size and at the same place, unless the Local Planning 
Authority agrees to a variation beforehand in writing. 
 

6 No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place 
until a Tree Protection Plan, Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring 
schedule (in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition 
and construction - Recommendations) have been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
 

7 Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle 
parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided, 
hard surfaced, sealed and marked out and shall be retained as such in perpetuity. 
 

8 No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular access 
within 6 metres of the highway boundary. 
 

9 There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway. 
 

10 An electric vehicle charging point shall be provided for each of the approved 
dwellings prior to first occupation  
 

11 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 

12 Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved a biodiversity 
enhancement plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

13 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and 
associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice 
tool. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial completion 
of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance with the 
management and maintenance plan. 
 

14 No development shall take place until details of foul and surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

15 No development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried 
out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 

Page 45



remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

16 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 
 

17 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

18 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 

19 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

 
 

Page 46



And the completion by the 10th September 2018 (unless otherwise agreed by Planning 
Performance Agreement) of a legal agreement to secure a financial contribution of £115,000 
towards affordable housing. In the event that the developer/applicant fails to complete a 
Legal Agreement within the stated time period, Members delegate authority to officers to 
refuse planning permission on the basis that the proposed development would not comply 
with Local Plan policies regarding the provision of affordable housing. 
 
This application is before this Committee since it is an application for residential development 
consisting of 10 or more dwellings (unless approval of reserved matters only) and is recommended 
for approval (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation of The Council) 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site consists of a commercial site containing two large warehouse buildings along 
with associated hardstanding, parking, etc. used for B8 (Storage and Distribution). The site is 
located on the eastern side of Blake Hall Road immediately south of the Epping Ongar railway line. 
 
The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and an EFDC flood risk assessment zone. 
An extant planning consent exists for the redevelopment of the site in order to provide ten 
residential dwellings ref: EPF/2432/16. 
 
Description of Proposal 
 
Consent is being sought for the demolition of the existing warehouses and construction of 10 no. 
four bed detached dwellings. The proposed development would include a single estate road 
accessed from Blake Hall Road along with off-street parking provision and associated amenity 
space. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPF/2432/16 - Demolition of existing warehouses and construction of 10 no. dwellings – 
approved/condition (subject to legal agreement) 14/03/18 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan and Alterations (1998/2006) 
 
CP1 – Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 – Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP3 – New development 
CP5 – Sustainable building 
CP6 – Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
CP8 – Sustainable economic development 
CP9 – Sustainable transport 
GB2A – Development in the Green Belt 
GB7A – Conspicuous development 
H2A – Previously developed land 
H3A – Housing density 
H5A – Provision for affordable housing 
H6A – Site thresholds for affordable housing 
H7A – Levels of affordable housing 
DBE1 – Design of new buildings 
DBE2 – Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE8 – Private amenity space 
DBE9 – Loss of amenity 

Page 47



LL10 – Provision for landscape retention  
LL11 – Landscaping schemes 
ST4 – Road safety 
ST6 – Vehicle parking 
U2B – Flood risk assessment zones 
U3A – Catchment effects 
RP3 – Water quality 
RP4 – Contaminated land 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP 6 - Green Belt and District Open Land  
H 1 - Housing Mix and Accommodation Types  
H2 - Affordable housing 
E 1 - Employment Sites  
T 1 - Sustainable Transport Choices  
DM 1 - Habitat Protection and Improving Biodiversity  
DM 2 - Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA  
DM 3 - Landscape Character, Ancient Landscapes and Geodiversity  
DM 4 - Green Belt  
DM 9 - High Quality Design  
DM 10 - Housing Design and Quality  
DM 11 - Waste Recycling Facilities on New Development  
DM15 - Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM 18 - On Site Management of Waste Water and Water Supply  
DM 19 - Sustainable Water Use  
DM 21 - Local Environmental Impacts, Pollution and Land Contamination  

Page 48



DM 22 - Air Quality  
 
Summary of Representations: 
 
17 neighbouring properties were consulted and a Site Notice was displayed. 
 
PARISH COUNCIL – None received. 
 
BLAKE HALL STATION, BLAKE HALL ROAD – Object due to the loss of industry/employment 
and since the proposed ten dwellings is inappropriate to the area which is characterised by 
traditional properties. 
 
SPRINGBANK, BLAKE HALL ROAD – Concerned about the access and feel that a lower speed 
limit would be better for this road. 
 
EPPING ONGAR RAILWAY – Object due to the loss of employment and this existing commercial 
use is ideally suited to this site and its redevelopment would not strengthen the rural economy, 
since the proposal would introduce ten new homes that may be disturbed by the Epping Ongar 
Railway, and since the design of the proposal would be out of character with the area. 
 
Issues and Considerations:  
 
Principle of development: 
 
This application is an amendment to a recently approved, and still extant, planning consent to 
redevelop the site in order to provide ten dwellings. The key differences in this application over 
and above the existing consent are that all ten dwellings would be detached and are of a slightly 
different design to those previously agreed. 
 
Green Belt: 
 
The application site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and is a commercial site 
containing large warehouses and is predominantly laid to hardstanding. It was previously accepted 
that the redevelopment of the site meets one of the exceptions to inappropriate development as 
laid out within the NPPF (both previous and recently revised). 
 
The proposed ten new dwellings would be detached rather than a mix of detached and semi-
detached houses, however would be almost identical in terms of volume. As such the proposal 
would continue to result in a 23% reduction in built form on the site. Furthermore the proposed 
development would continue to reduce the level of hardstanding covering the site and would 
enable the provision of additional landscaping. As such the proposed development would not have 
any greater impact on the openness and character of the Green Belt over and above the existing 
development on the site or that previously granted consent under EPF/2432/16 and therefore 
continues to meet one of the exceptions to inappropriate development. 
 
Loss of employment: 
 
The proposed redevelopment of this site would involve the loss of a commercial employment site. 
Whilst policy E 1 of the Submission Version of the Local Plan seeks to protect existing employment 
land this site already benefits from an extant, very recent, planning approval for redevelopment and 
therefore it is not considered that the loss of employment would constitute a reason for refusal in 
this instance. 
 

Page 49



Design: 
 
The site is located within a very rural setting adjacent to Blake Hall Station and the Landscape 
Character Assessment places this site within ‘G6 – Stapleford Tawney and Stanford Rivers’. The 
area is characterized as “small scale settlement patterns, encompassing isolated farmsteads and 
the small, nucleated villages of Stapleford Tawney and Stanford Rivers” and comments that “open 
and framed views across gently undulating farmland are characteristic of this area”. It concludes 
that the area is considered to have a moderate to high sensitivity to change. The suggested 
landscape planning guidelines are that “any new development within the farmland is small scale, 
responding to historic settlement pattern, landscape setting and locally building styles”. 
 
The density of the proposed development would be 20 houses per hectare, which is below the 
recommended 30-50 dwellings per hectare as stated within policy H3A. However given the rural 
nature of the site a lower density scheme would be more appropriate. 
 
The proposed development would remove the existing unsightly warehouse buildings and 
introduce dwellings that have been designed to reflect the traditional buildings seen within the 
district with some more contemporary detailing (such as in the fenestration). Variation would be 
provided through the use of different house types combined with alterations in the external 
materials. Whilst the linear layout of the dwellings is somewhat suburban in form this reflects the 
constraints on the size and shape of the site and would reflect the linear built form of the existing 
warehouses. The impact of this row of dwellings would be softened and screened through the use 
of appropriate landscaping, which would include a 3m wide landscape buffer along the southern 
and eastern edge of the site. As such it is considered that the proposed redevelopment would be 
an improvement to the overall character and appearance of the area. 
 
The site is visible when viewed from the south and whilst the proposed dwellings would be no 
higher than the existing warehouses on site the east, west and south boundaries would require 
suitably landscaping to ensure that the development is not overly visually intrusive within this very 
rural setting. There is a strong tree line to the north of the site on the railway embankment. This 
limits views of the site when looking from the north. Although these trees are off site, and the site 
already has hardstanding, it is appropriate to include a tree protection condition to ensure that any 
overhang is not impacted on by development activities and that any new surfacing is porous and 
takes into account the presence of tree roots. 
 
Amenity considerations: 
 
Given the location of the site distant from any surrounding neighbours the proposed 
redevelopment of the site would have no physical impact on the amenities of nearby residents. 
 
Each of the proposed houses should be served by private amenity space in excess of 100m2, 
which is in line with the recommendations contained within the Essex Design Guide. 
 
Concern has been raised by the operator of the Epping Ongar Railway that the introduction of ten 
new households will lead to complaints of noise and disturbance from the operational railway, 
primarily since the train drivers are obliged to sound their horn at this stretch of railway due to the 
presence of a pedestrian crossing. Any future occupant purchasing a property on this site would 
be fully aware of the existing railway line and therefore any such matters are ‘buyer beware’. The 
presence of a railway line does not preclude residential development, as can be seen throughout 
the district (and the Country) and consent has already been granted for the residential 
redevelopment of the site. 
 
In addition the application site is separated from the railway line by a dense band of trees that 
would assist in mitigating noise nuisance from the railway line. 
 

Page 50



Highways: 
 
The proposed residential development would be served from Blake Hall Road. Whilst the visibility 
to the north of the access is restricted due to the presence of the bridge the development would 
reduce vehicle movements below the current use and would remove any associated HGV traffic as 
well, to the benefit of all highways users. It is due to this that Essex County Council Highways 
raise no objection to the proposal. 
 
Each of the proposed dwellings would be served by at least two off-street parking spaces and 
there are two designated visitor parking spaces proposed within the site. As such the proposal 
complies with the requirements of the Vehicle Parking Standards. 
 
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation: 
 
The Council has a duty as the competent authority under the Habitats Regulations to protect the 
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) from the effects of development. Two issues in 
particular have been identified as being likely to have a specific effect on the Epping Forest SAC; 
being visitor pressure and impacts from air quality. 
 
Work is on-going with Natural England and the Conservators of Epping Forest in agreeing a joint 
interim strategy for mitigation against any potential harm. However the latest advice from Natural 
England makes it clear that at the current time any residential development within 6.2km of Epping 
Forest SAC is likely to have an impact on visitor pressure and any residential and employment 
proposals within Epping Forest District as a whole are likely to have an air pollution impact. 
 
The application site lies outside of 6.2km distance from the Epping Forest SAC and therefore the 
proposed development would not be likely to give rise to significant effects on the Epping Forest 
SAC with regards to increased recreational pressure. 
 
On the issue of air quality impact on Epping Forest SAC, this application has been accompanied 
by a Transport Impact Report showing that the proposed development would reduce vehicle 
movements associated with the site. Natural England was consulted on the submitted Transport 
Impact Report and raised ‘no comments’. Whilst they make it clear that this lack of comment does 
not imply that there are no impacts on the natural environment they do state that “the application is 
not likely to result in significant impacts on statutory designated nature conservation sites or 
landscapes”. 
 
Based on the above it is clear that a reduction in the number of vehicle movements associated 
with the site would be of net benefit to air quality and, as confirmed by Natural England’s 
response, the proposed development would not be likely to give rise to significant effects on the 
Epping Forest SAC with regards to air pollution either alone or in combination with other 
developments. Therefore, as the competent authority, it can be reasonably concluded that this 
particular proposal will not need to be subject to a project level Habitats Regulation Assessment.  
 
In addition to the above, as required by policy T 1 of the Epping Forest District Council Local Plan 
Submission Version, a condition is required to ensure that an electric charging point is provided for 
each of the new dwellings to encourage and facilitate the use of electric cars, which would assist in 
improving air quality within the District. 
 
Other Considerations: 
 
Affordable housing: 
 
The previous approval was subject to a financial contribution of £100,000 in lieu of on-site 
affordable housing. The viability of the new scheme has been reassessed and it is now proposed 

Page 51



to raise this contribution to £115,000, which is acceptable and would comply with policy 
requirements in terms of affordable housing provision. 
 
Flood risk: 
 
The site lies within an Epping Forest District Council flood risk assessment zone and the 
development is of a size where it is necessary to avoid generating additional runoff and where the 
opportunity should be taken to improve existing surface water runoff. As was required under the 
extant consent, a Flood Risk Assessment is required, which can be dealt with by condition. Further 
details of foul and surface water drainage are also required by way of a condition. 
 
Contamination: 
 
The application has been accompanied by a Phase 1 Environment Report, however this report has 
not identified the former military use of this site (military goods yard) and adjoining site to the 
south, the 2004 fire at a sleeper treatment yard identified by the EA as located at this site, and the 
potential for the septic tank soakaway and any diesel/fuel oil leaks/spillages to provide a potential 
source of ground gases. As such the report would need to be satisfactorily revised and, if 
identified, any contamination would need to be suitably mitigated. As such Land Contamination 
conditions would be required. 
 
Conclusion:  
 
This application is an amendment to a previously approved and extant planning consent and 
proposes the same number and size of properties as previously agreed. Since the site constitutes 
the redevelopment of previously developed land and would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development the proposal would continue to not 
constitute inappropriate development. 
 
Whilst the site is not well located in terms of sustainable transport modes or served by local 
services/facilities and the redevelopment would result in the loss of the existing employment site, 
consent has recently been granted for a similar redevelopment and therefore these factors would 
not constitute reasons for refusal. 
 
The design and layout of the proposed dwellings would be acceptable and would result in visual 
improvements to the wider area and there would be the opportunity to provide additional 
landscaping to the site. Furthermore this development would provide additional housing to assist in 
the Council meeting its five-year land supply. As such the proposed application complies with the 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework and the relevant adopted Local 
Plan and Submission Version Local Plan policies and is recommended for approval. 
 
 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Graham Courtney 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564228 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
 

123  
 

 
 
  

 

80.2m

78.3m

Windy Ridge

Gipfel

Great Notts

Fairmead

Roughtalleys

Firs House

Highfield

STONY LANE

MORET
ON R

OAD

GP

Pond

Pond

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 4 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/0904/18 

Site Name: Barn adjacent Great Notts 
Moreton Road Bobbingworth 
OngarCM5 0LU 

Scale of Plot: 1:2500 

 Page 53



Report Item No: 4 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/0904/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Barn adjacent Great Notts 

Moreton Road 
Bobbingworth 
Ongar 
Essex 
CM5 0LU  
 

PARISH: Moreton, Bobbingworth and the Lavers 
 

WARD: Moreton and Fyfield 
 

APPLICANT: Mrs Shirley Bates 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Proposed conversion of existing barn to form a single detached 
residential unit, retaining existing access and on-site car parking.  
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=607633 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 18/31008/002, 18/31008/003, 18/31008/004, 18/31008/005, 
18/31008/006, 18/31008/007, 18/31008/008. 
 

3 Materials to be used for the external finishes of the proposed development shall 
match those of the existing building, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

4 No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation 
has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the 
Phase 1 investigation. The completed Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
any necessary Phase 2 investigation. The report shall assess potential risks to 
present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface 
waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", 
or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the Phase 2 site investigation condition 
that follows] 
 

Page 54



5 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out 
under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no 
development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 
A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 
remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

6 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 
 

7 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

8 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 
 
 

Page 55



9 Before any preparatory demolition or construction works commence on site, full 
ecological surveys and a mitigation strategy for the site shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for agreement in writing with a working methodology for site 
clearance and construction work to minimise impact on any protected species and 
nesting birds. Development shall be undertaken only in accordance with the agreed 
strategy and methodology. 
 

 
 
And subject to the prior completion of a section 106 agreement to secure a suitable 
contribution toward mitigation measures with regard to Air Quality impact on the Epping 
Forest Special Area of Conservation. 
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal and since a 
majority of the neighbours consulted have raised objection (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part 
Three: Scheme of Delegation) 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site was originally part of the grounds of ‘Great Notts’ having been subdivided into 
the current site following the sale of ‘Great Notts’ a number of years ago.  The barn, being one of 
several outbuildings on the overall site, was erected approximately 16 years ago to serve the 
agricultural smallholding.  The site is located to the north of Moreton Road and is accessed by an 
existing gate and driveway.  ‘Great Notts’, lies 26m south-west of the barn which is 10m from the 
shared boundary.  The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt. 
 
Description of Proposal:  
 
Permission is sought for the conversion of an existing barn into a single detached residential unit, 
retaining existing access and on-site car parking.  The existing barn has a maximum width of 
18.7m, a maximum depth of 8.4m, eaves height of 5m with a hipped pitched roof with pitch height 
of 9.7m.  The gable-end projection on the east elevation has a maximum width of 4.5m, a 
maximum depth of 2.1m, eaves height of 5m with a pitch height of 7.8m.  Whilst internal alterations 
are proposed the overall mass and footprint of the existing building remains the same.  The 
materials remain as existing with farmhouse mixed red profiled roof tiles, stock facing bricks and 
black stained timber weatherboarding to the walls.  The east elevation would involve the 
replacement of the metal shutter door with a feature door and window along with the insertion of 6 
additional windows at ground and first floor level as well as a soil vent pipe on the roof.  The west 
elevation would see the insertion of a large feature window straddling the ground and first floor 
with 2 entrances proposed at ground level along with 6 additional windows at ground and first floor 
level.  The roofslope of the west elevation would include a dormer window set in from the eaves 
and below the pitch flanked on either side by two pairs of rooflights as well as a soil vent pipe.  The 
north elevation would have 2 windows at ground level and 2 windows at first floor level with a 
chimney flue on the roof.   The south elevation would remain unchanged.  The existing pedestrian 
and vehicular access from the main road will remain unchanged. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPF/1493/99 - Demolition of sheds and replace with two storey barn: Conditional Planning 
Permission 24/03/00. 
EPF/0438/05 - Change of use from agricultural barn/store to residential occupation: Refused 
Planning Permission 29/04/05. 
EPF/0597/06 - Change of use of existing barn to provide a leisure annexe to be used ancillary to 
main residence: Refused Planning Permission 17/05/06. 

Page 56



EPF/0790/07 - Change of use of existing barn to provide a leisure annexe to be used in 
connection with main house: Refused Planning Permission 24/05/07. (Dismissed on Appeal 
29/02/08) 
ENF/0721/11 – Enforcement Notice regarding an agricultural barn used as residential (Appeal 
dismissed but varied 22/05/14) 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1 – Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 – Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP9 – Sustainable transport 
GB2A – Development in the Green Belt 
GB7A – Conspicuous development 
GB8A – Change of use or adaptation of buildings 
GB9A – Residential conversions 
DBE1 – Design of new buildings 
DBE2 – Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE8 – Private amenity space 
DBE9 – Loss of amenity 
LL10 – Provision for landscape retention 
LL11 – Landscaping schemes 
ST6 – Vehicle parking 
U2B – Flood risk assessment zones 
U3A – Catchment effects 
RP3 – Water quality 
RP4 – Contaminated land 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 

Page 57



objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP6 – Green Belt and district open land 
SP7 – The natural environment, landscape character and green infrastructure 
H1 – Housing mix and accommodation types 
T1 – Sustainable transport choices 
DM2 – Epping Forest SAC and the Lee valley SPA  
DM4 – Green Belt 
DM9 – High quality design 
DM10 – Housing design and quality 
DM19  - Sustainable Water Use 
DM15 – Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM18 – On site management of waste water and water supply 
DM21 – Local environment impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22 – Air Quality 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received:   
 
3 neighbouring residents were consulted. 
 
WINDY RIDGE – Object on the grounds of inappropriate change of use from agricultural to 
residential. 
 
TY GWYN – Object on the grounds of inappropriate development and highways concerns. 
 
MORETON, BOBBINGWORTH & THE LAVERS PARISH COUNCIL – Object on the grounds that 
the applicant has stated that justification for the conversion of the barn to form a single detached 
residential dwelling is for the management and overseeing of the campsite activities.  The 
application site does not include the area of land upon which the camp site is located, and as such 
should not be considered as part of this application.  Furthermore, if the camp site is required to 
have a permanent management presence, then it is the camp itself which is not suitable.  The barn 
was erected for agricultural use, and the applicant has not supplied any evidence as to why its 
intended use is no longer viable, especially considering the rural nature of the area. 
 
Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are whether the development is 
appropriate in the Green Belt, the design of the development, parking and highway safety 
implications and contamination. 
 
Design and Appearance: 
 
Policies DBE1, DBE2 and DBE4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is 
satisfactorily located and is of a high standard of design and layout.  Furthermore, the appearance 
of new development should be compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and would 
not prejudice the environment of occupiers of adjoining properties.  The proposed conversion 
would retain the existing footprint and would see no increase in height.  The elevational design is 
well thought out and is considered to be acceptable.   
 
Amenity: 
 
Given the generous plot, the proposal retains more than adequate amenity space for occupiers 

Page 58



and visitors to the camp site and would accord with policy DBE8.   
 
Impact on Neighbours: 
 
The barn is located 26m from the nearest neighbouring dwelling and 10m from the shared 
boundary.  The layout and design of the proposed conversion is proposed such that all new 
windows would be situated away from the neighbouring property.  The south elevation would 
remain unchanged.  This, and the distance involved, would ensure that there would be minimal 
additional impact caused by the proposal.  The proposal is not considered to adversely impact the 
amenities of the adjoining neighbour having regard to Local Plan policy DBE9. 
 
Green Belt: 
 
The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt.  The Government attaches great importance to 
Green Belts.  The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence.  The erection of buildings within the green Belt is considered inappropriate 
development unless they meet one of the exceptions as laid out within the National Planning policy 
Framework (NPPF) or where the harm is clearly outweighed by very special circumstances.   
 
Paragraph 146 of the NPPF clarifies that “the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of 
permanent and substantial construction” is an exception to inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt.  This is reflected within Local Plan policy GB8A, and residential conversions are also 
subject to policy GB9A, which states that “conversion for residential use must not require such 
changes to buildings that their surroundings, external appearance, character and fabric could be 
unsympathetically or adversely affected.  This includes features such as new curtilages, boundary 
treatment (including walls and fences), windows, door openings and chimneys”.   
 
Whilst the principle of converting the existing building, which is clearly of permanent and 
substantial construction, would generally comply with the above mentioned exception to 
inappropriate development and Local Plan policies GB8A and GB9A, the history of the site 
complicates matters since the Local Planning (and subsequently the Planning Inspectorate) were 
not convinced that the building, once erected, was ever used for agricultural purposes.  Planning 
Permission was refused in 2005 for the change of use of this agricultural barn/store into residential 
accommodation with the following refusal reason given: “the proposed development is at odds with 
Green Belt Policies GB8 and GB2 of the Adopted Local Plan and Policy C2 and RE2 of the 
adopted replacement Structure Plan for Essex and Southend on Sea, because it would result in a 
change of use from a recently erected agricultural building to a residential dwelling thereby 
introducing a further residential unit on the site, which would detract from the rural character and 
amenity of the area.  The Local Authority is not convinced that the building is not suitable for any 
alternative, more appropriate use or that it is so desirable that they should be brought back into 
beneficial use that residential should be considered.  Furthermore the very special circumstances 
put forward in this case are not considered sufficient to overcome the harm caused by the 
development”.  A planning Enforcement Notice was served and upheld on appeal in 2014 for the 
change of use of the barn into a mixed use of residential and agriculture.  The notes from the last 
visit by the Planning Enforcement Officer in 2017 said “following my site inspection of the barn I 
can confirm that the steps she has taken to comply with the Enforcement Notice are acceptable, 
namely the removal of all panel doors, architrave, skirting boards, radiators, down lighting and all 
domestic furniture.  The second floor has not been removed as stated in the Enforcement Notice, 
however providing it is used for agricultural storage purposes only the Council do not think it 
expedient to pursue with its removal”. 
 
A Design and Access Statement has been submitted which discusses among other matters the 
history of the site and the requirement for the applicant to have an on-site presence in order to run 
the camping business currently operating on the site.  Following my site visit, and taking into 

Page 59



account the notes recorded by the Enforcement Officer, it is accepted that the barn is no longer 
used for residential purposes.  It was also stated on site that the building when originally erected 
was used for agricultural purposes.  Notwithstanding the Council’s previous doubts that the barn 
was ever used for agricultural purposes it is accepted that the building was erected in 2001 and it 
does not appear that any unlawful residential use took place for a number of years (it is noted that 
there is no mention of any residential use within the Officer’s report for Planning Application 
EPF/0438/05 and an Enforcement Investigation was not opened until 2011).   
 
As such, the building has been on site for some 17 years, and despite doubts about its original 
use, it is considered it is now being utilised as an agricultural building.  It was clear from my site 
visit that the applicant no longer runs an agricultural business on the site but is engaged in running 
an adjacent camp site.  The proposal includes a residence with a workshop and office and the 
change of use would not be likely to result in any significant detrimental harm to the Green Belt 
through vehicle movements, activity or residential paraphernalia, particularly given the adjacent 
camp site use.  On balance it is considered that the change of use of the existing barn from 
agricultural use to residential use would preserve the openness of the Green belt and therefore 
would not constitute inappropriate development. 
  
Parking and Highways:  
 
The Highway Authority Engineer of Essex County Council has reviewed the application and has 
provided the following comment:  From a highway and transportation perspective the Highway 
Authority has no objections to make on this proposal as it is not contrary to the Highway 
Authority’s Development Management Policies, adopted as County Council Supplementary 
Guidance in February 2011, policies ST4 & ST6 of the Local Plan and Policy T1 of the Local Plan 
(Submission Version) 2017. 
Informative 
The proposal will use an existing access into the site. 
 
Contamination:  
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the application and provided the following 
comment: Due to the former agricultural (poultry & piggeries) and stables uses of the site since 
1929 there is the potential for contaminants to be present over all or part of the site.  Domestic 
dwelling gardens are classified as a particularly sensitive proposed use.  The answers to Question 
14 on the Application Form relating to land where contamination is suspected for all or part of the 
site and to a particularly vulnerable use should therefore have been marked yes and, as detailed 
on the application form, an appropriate contamination assessment should have been included with 
the application.  As remediating worst case conditions should be feasible, it should be possible to 
deal with land contamination risks by way of condition, although this will cause pre-
commencement delays.  I would recommend that the standard land contamination conditions 
SCN87, 87A, 87B, 87C and 87D are attached to any approval granted. 
 
Other Matters:  
 
The proposal is in close proximity to a High-Pressure Gas Pipeline.  National Grid has No 
Objection to the proposal provided that works are carried out in strict adherence to their guidelines 
and rules.  This can be attached as an informative. 
 
Any conversion of the barn could impact on bats or barn owls.  Therefore surveys would need to 
be undertaken prior to commencement of works and if the presence of bats or barn owls is 
revealed then adequate mitigation and compensation would need to be agreed.  This can be dealt 
with by condition. 
 

Page 60



As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential 
development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. 
The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy for the management and 
monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to be funded through the 
securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with Policy DM 2. 
Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the agent has confirmed willingness 
to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation measures.  
 
Conclusion 
 
In conclusion it is considered that the proposed barn conversion is acceptable.  The proposal 
would not constitute inappropriate development harmful to the Green Belt.  The conversion would 
not adversely impact the amenity of the donor building and provides adequate private amenity 
space for future occupiers.  As such, the proposal complies with national and local planning policy 
and guidance and is recommended for approval with conditions and subject to a legal agreement 
to secure suitable air quality mitigation measures. 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Patrick Flanagan 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564101 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 

Map 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 5 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/106218 

Site Name: Land adj no 24 Vicarage Road, 
Coopersale, CM16 7RB 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 (approx.) 

 
 

Page 62



 
Report Item No: 5 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1062/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Land adj no 24 Vicarage Road 

Coopersale 
Epping 
Essex 
CM16 7RB 
 

PARISH: Epping 
 

WARD: Epping Hemnall 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Chris Hoare 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

The proposed development is the erection of 2, two storey 
detached houses with rooms in the roof in place of the existing site 
(Tennis court and unused green area). 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=608258 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: TCTC-06017-PL-01,134.PL02, 134.PL03, 134.PL04, 
134.PL05, 134.PL06. 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 No development shall take place, including site clearance or other preparatory work, 
until full details of both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and 
implementation programme (linked to the development schedule) have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works 
shall be carried out as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as 
appropriate, and in addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed 
finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other minor 
artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services above 
and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for 
planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules 
of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where 
appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or 
establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any 
replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously 

Page 63



damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size 
as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 

5 No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place 
until a Tree Protection Plan Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring 
schedule in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition 
and construction - recommendations) has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
 

6 The parking area shown on the approved plan shall be provided prior to the first 
occupation of the development and shall be retained free of obstruction for the 
parking of residents (staff) and visitors vehicles. 
 

7 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and 
associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice 
tools. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial 
completion of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance 
with the management and maintenance plan. 
 

8 No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation 
has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the 
Phase 1 investigation. The completed Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
any necessary Phase 2 investigation. The report shall assess potential risks to 
present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface 
waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", 
or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the Phase 2 site investigation condition 
that follows] 
 

9 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out 
under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no 
development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 
A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 
remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  

Page 64



[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

10 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 
 

11 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

12 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 

13 No development shall take place until details of levels have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority showing cross-sections and elevations of 
the levels of the site prior to development and the proposed levels of all ground floor 
slabs of buildings, roadways and accessways and landscaped areas. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with those approved details. 
 

14 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
 
1. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
2. Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
3. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
4. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
5. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction, including 

Page 65



wheel washing. 
6. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 
 

15 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any other Order 
revoking, further amending or re-enacting that Order) no development generally 
permitted by virtue of Class A, B and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Order  shall be 
undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

16 Prior to first occupation of the development the vehicular accesses, at their junction 
with the highway, shall not be less than 3 metres in width and shall be provided with 
an appropriate dropped kerb vehicular crossing of the footway. 
 

17 There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway. 
 

18 No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular access 
within 6 metres of the highway boundary. 
 

19 An electric vehicle charging point shall be provided for each dwelling prior to first 
occupation and shall be thereafter retained.  
 

20 Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved measures to improve 
the ecological value of the site in accordance with details which have been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

21 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard or 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 

 
 
And subject to the completion of a S106 Legal agreement to secure appropriate financial 
contributions for the management and monitoring of visitors to the Epping Forest Special 
Area of Conservation and appropriate measures to mitigate potential impacts on air quality.  
 
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal and where 
additional objections from residents have been received (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: 
Scheme of Delegation) 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site currently consists of a parcel of garden related to The Gatehouse, Coopersale 
Common.  It currently contains a tennis court and vegetation, including two TPO trees, and is 
bordered by a high brick wall.  The site is bordered to the northeast by a public footpath and 
benefits from a gated pedestrian access onto Vicarage Road.  To the south of the site is The Old 
Rectory, which is a Grade II listed building.  The site is surrounded by residential properties and is 
located within the village boundary of Coopersale outside of the Metropolitan Green Belt. 
 
Description of Proposal: 
 
Consent is being sought for the erection of two detached dwellings fronting onto Vicarage Road.  
The proposed dwellings would each measure 10.5 metres in width and 9.5 metres in depth with 

Page 66



crown topped roofs reaching a height of 8.1 metres.  The proposed houses would each be 5 
bedroom properties with individual vehicle access, parking provision and rear amenity space.  
They would be set back 12 metres from the edge of the highway and approximately 6.4 metres 
behind the front wall of the adjoining neighbour at No. 24 Vicarage Road. 
The application proposal matches the scheme previously granted Conditional Planning Permission 
under EPF/1172/15. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPF/1172/15 – Erection of 2, two storey detached houses with rooms in the roof.  Conditional 
Planning Permission. Granted at East Area Committee July 2015 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1 – Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 – Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP3 – New development 
CP6 – Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
H3A – Housing density 
DBE1 – Design of new buildings 
DBE2 – Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE3 – Design in urban areas 
DBE8 – Private amenity space 
DBE9 – Loss of amenity 
LL9 – Felling of preserved trees 
LL10 – Adequacy of provision for landscape retention 
LL11 – Landscaping schemes 
ST1 – Location of development 
ST4 – Road safety 
ST6 – Vehicle parking 
NC1 -  SPAs, SACs and SSSIs 
NC4  - Protection of established Habitat 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

Page 67



 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
H1 – Housing mix and accommodation types 
T1 – Sustainable transport choices 
DM3 – Landscape character, ancient landscapes and geodiversity 
DM9 – High quality design 
DM10 – Housing design and quality 
DM11 – Waste recycling facilities on new development 
DM18 – On site management of waste water and water supply 
DM21 – Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22 – Air Quality 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received: 
 
18 neighbouring residents were consulted. 
 
EPPING TOWN COUNCIL – Object on the following grounds: 
 

1) No details are provided of the vehicle parking that would be provided on the proposed site. 
2) The site has very limited street parking and there is intense pressure on car parking in the 

area. 
3) The tree report provided is not up to date as there are a number of established trees to be 

felled on the site. 
 
EPPING SOCIETY – Object to the proposal as being relatively large relative to the surrounding 
properties, the additional storey is out of character with the surrounding street scene and the third 
storey will overlook, they suggest the proposal should be slightly lower without the rooms in the 
roof, no vehicle parking details were submitted for this application. 
 
21 VICARAGE ROAD – Object to the proposal on the grounds of overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 
23 VICARAGE ROAD – Object on the grounds of parking and traffic impact of the proposal and 
overdevelopment of the area in combination with the new housing estate nearby resulting in strain 
on services and facilities. 
 
24 VICARAGE ROAD – Object as the proposal combined with 12 additional houses under 
construction since the previously granted conditional planning permission EPF/1172/15 as well as 
the possibility of 6 further houses being developed represents overdevelopment and risks 
changing the character of the village.  Reiterated previous objections to planning application 
EPF/1172/15; the development is out of character with the street scene and wider area, it is an 
overdevelopment of the land, there would be a detrimental impact on local schools, infrastructure, 
etc., and due to the impact on the adjacent listed building. 
 

Page 68



Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
The key issues within this application are the suitability of the site for such a development, amenity 
considerations, design, and regarding highway and parking concerns. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
Planning permission was granted at committee for this development in July 2015.  That permission 
has now lapsed but remains a material consideration. 
 
Suitability of site: 
 
The application site is located within the village envelope of Coopersale, which is a small 
settlement predominantly residential in nature but containing amenities such as a school, small 
parade of shops and a public house.  Given that 92.4% of the District is designated Green Belt the 
principle of further development within existing settlements outside of the Green Belt such as this 
are generally considered to be appropriate. 
 
Although Coopersale is not well served by public transport there are local facilities within the 
village such as a small row of shops (Parklands Local Centre), a Primary School, a cricket ground 
and a Public House (the Garnon Bushes).  Furthermore, whilst not within a reasonable walking 
distance, the village is a relatively short distance from the main town of Epping. 
 
The surrounding residential dwellings primarily consist of semi-detached or detached houses on 
relatively constrained plots, particularly those to the east on the opposite side of the alleyway.  The 
erection of two dwellings on this 0.1 hectare site equates to 20 dwellings per hectare, which is 
significantly lower than the recommended 30-50 dwellings per hectare in Policy H3A.  As such, the 
erection of two dwellings would clearly not constitute ‘overdevelopment’ of the site indeed ideally a 
larger number of smaller properties could potentially make better use of the land. 
 
Epping Forest District Council is currently in the process of preparing a new Local Plan, where 
sites will be identified for residential development, however at present it cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of housing sites as required by the NPPF. The proposed development would assist in 
the provision of a five year supply of land for housing and it has been shown in several recent 
appeal decisions, both within and outside of the district, that the provision of additional housing in 
an area where there is a lack of a demonstrable five year supply of housing weighs in favour of 
granting planning permission. 
 
Amenity considerations: 
 
Whilst objections have been raised in terms of a proliferation of new housing developments in the 
locality, it is not considered that the provision of two additional dwellings would have an 
unacceptable impact in terms of sustainability and pressure on local services and facilities nor 
would it result in excessive harm to the character of the locality.  The proposed dwellings would be 
set further back from the edge of the highway than the neighbouring property at No. 24 Vicarage 
Road and, as a result of this, House 1 would extend approximately 4.5m beyond the rear wall of 
this neighbouring dwelling. Despite this, the proposed new house would be located 4.4m from the 
flank wall of the neighbouring dwelling and would not encroach a 45 degree angle as measured 
from the closest rear window in this neighbouring property. 
 
The only upper storey windows within the flank elevations of the proposed new dwellings would be 
high level hallway windows and high level rooflights, none of which would result in any loss of 
privacy to neighbouring properties. 
 

Page 69



The proposed dwellings would benefit from amenity space measuring 189m2 (Plot 1) and 236m2 
(Plot 2), which both exceed the recommended 180m2 required for each house. The amenity space 
for each dwelling would be located to the rear and side and would be suitably private and usable. 
 
There are two TPO trees located along the western boundary of the site. The submitted tree report 
has demonstrated that the proposed development can take place without a detrimental impact on 
these, or any other trees shown to be retained. As such the majority of the established 
landscaping will be retained on the site, which would assist in softening the overall appearance 
and impact of the development.  
 
The Trees and Landscape Section has raised no objection to the scheme. 
 
Design: 
 
The proposed new dwellings would be two storey detached properties with an additional third floor 
within the roof space. Each of the properties would be largely symmetrical in appearance and 
would have hipped roofs with two front gable projections and a small central flat roofed dormer 
window. The dwellings would have projecting bay windows at the front and rear that extend up to 
second storey level and would benefit from an open fronted porch and rear veranda. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be traditional in appearance and would utilise plain clay tiles on the 
roof and a mix of brick and render on the walls to match the existing dwellings within Vicarage 
Road and St. Albans Road. The third storey is fully integrated within the roof area and therefore 
the proposed dwellings would be just 200mm higher than the neighbouring properties on Vicarage 
Road and would have a matching eaves height. Therefore they would not appear as over 
dominant three storey properties. 
 
Whilst the majority of dwellings along Vicarage Road and St. Albans Road are semi-detached 
properties that share a single design (although several have been extended to the side, which 
provides some variation) the five detached dwellings to the immediate northeast of the site (No’s 
25-33 St Albans Road) differ in terms of type, size and appearance to the remainder of the road. 
Given the location of the proposed new dwellings and the significant set-back from the edge of the 
highway it is considered that an alternative appearance to these houses would not be 
unacceptable. Whilst the properties would not mirror the built form or appearance of the run of 
houses along Vicarage Road it is not considered that this development would be detrimental to the 
character and appearance of the street scene. 
 
Highways and parking issues: 
 
The proposed new dwellings would be served by two new vehicle crossovers onto Vicarage Road. 
Since Vicarage Road is unclassified the crossovers themselves do not require planning consent, 
simply consent from Essex County Council Highways. Nonetheless, the proposed new vehicle 
crossovers would provide separate access to each property and the gravelled front garden areas 
can accommodate at least three off-street parking spaces. 
 
Concern has been raised that the new access points would cause highway safety issues and a 
conflict with pedestrians, particularly that serving House 2 given its proximity to the public footpath. 
No objection has been raised by the ECC Highways Officer and it is proposed to replace the 
existing high brick wall that currently runs adjacent to Vicarage Road with a low picket fence. 
Therefore there would be clear visibility between anybody exiting the new properties and 
pedestrians using the public footpath or the pavement. As such it is not considered that the 
proposed access points would have any adverse impact on highway safety or cause conflict with 
pedestrians. 
 

Page 70



The Essex County Council Vehicle Parking Standards requires 2 spaces per 2+ bedroom 
residential units plus 0.25 visitor parking spaces per dwelling. Therefore there is a requirement for 
a total of five off-street parking spaces to serve the two proposed dwellings. Given that each 
dwelling would have its own individual access and parking area it is proposed to provide space for 
at least 3 off-street parking spaces for each property (although a maximum of four could be 
squeezed onto the front garden of House 2). This would be accommodated whilst still retaining 
some landscaped areas and existing trees. Since the proposal exceeds the requirements as laid 
out within the Vehicle Parking Standards it complies with Local Plan policy ST6. 
 
Concern has been raised by neighbours with regards to the loss of on-street parking which would 
result from the proposed vehicle crossovers and it is stated that there are existing parking 
problems on these roads. Although the vehicle crossovers would remove existing on-street parking 
spaces this element of the proposal does not require planning consent, just Essex County Council 
Highways consent. Furthermore no objection has been raised by the ECC Highways Officer and 
as such it is therefore not considered that the impact on on-street parking would be unacceptable. 
 
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC): 
 
As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential 
development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. 
The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy for the management and 
monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to be funded through the 
securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with Policy DM 2. 
Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the agent has confirmed willingness 
to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation measures.  
 
Other considerations: 
 
There is the potential for made ground used in the construction of the existing Tennis Court and 
adjoining hardstanding (demolition waste, tar/bitumen asphalt, ash & clinker) to contain 
contaminants. As domestic dwellings with gardens are classified as a particularly sensitive 
proposed use land contamination investigations are required. As remediating worst case 
conditions should be feasible this matter can be dealt with by conditions. 
 
The development is of a size where it is necessary to avoid generating additional runoff and where 
the opportunity should be taken to improve existing surface water runoff. As such a flood risk 
assessment is required for the development, which can be dealt with by condition. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
Planning permission has previously been granted for this development and whilst we now have an 
up to date submission version Local Plan and a new NPPF there has not been any significant 
change in policy  or material considerations since that last approval, other than the potential 
impact on the Epping Forest SAC. 
 
The provision of additional housing within this undesignated village location would be acceptable 
in terms of sustainability and would not constitute overdevelopment of the land. Whilst the design 
and positioning of the proposed dwellings would differ from the predominant pattern of 
development within Vicarage Road the proposal would not be detrimental to the character and 
appearance of the street scene, particularly when taking into account the detached dwelling to the 
immediate northeast of the site. The proposal would retain the TPO trees, along with other existing 
trees, would provide adequate private amenity space and off-street parking provision, and would 
not result in a detrimental impact on neighbours amenities or highway safety. As such the 

Page 71



application complies with the guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework 
and the relevant Local Plan policies and is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 
completion of a legal agreement to secure appropriate mitigation with regard to the Epping Forest 
SAC. 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Patrick Flanagan 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564101 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 72



123  
 

 
 
  

 

77.1m

Thatch

24

Little

Thatches16
17

22

Twinings

18

The O
ld

The

Q
ueens H

ead

10

W
heelw

rights

C
ottage

12 12a

14

Fern C
ottage

V
ailim

a

Willow House

T
he E

lm
s

2

C
ottages

B
roadlands

C
herry T

ree
1

P
um

p

F
ontenoy

C
ottage

S
outhbury

Jessam
ine

PO

B 183

THE STREET

TCB

Pp

Pond

DrainEFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 6 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1339/18 

Site Name: Land adj. Hoppit, The Street, 
Sheering, CM22 7LR 
 

Scale of Plot: 1/1250 

 

Page 73



Report Item No: 6 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1339/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Land adj Hoppit 

The Street 
Sheering 
Essex 
CM22 7LR 
 

PARISH: Sheering 
 

WARD: Hastingwood, Matching and Sheering Village 
 

APPLICANT: Founthill Ltd 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Erection of three detached dwellings 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to a Legal Agreement) 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609436 

 
CONDITIONS  
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: P01 Rev 1, P02 Rev 1, P03 Rev 2 and E01 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 No development shall take place until details of foul and surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

5 No development shall take place until wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for 
vehicles leaving the site during construction works have been installed in 
accordance with details which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved installed cleaning facilities shall be used to 
clean vehicles immediately before leaving the site. 
 

6 Prior to the first occupation of the development, the access at its centre line shall be 
provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 2.4 metres by site 
maximum, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway in 
both directions. Such vehicular visibility splays shall be maintained as such in 
perpetuity. 
 
 

Page 74



7 Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle 
parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided, 
hard surfaced, sealed and marked out. The access, parking and turning areas shall 
be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose. 
 

8 No development shall take place until a Phase 1 Land Contamination investigation 
has been carried out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before commencement of the 
Phase 1 investigation. The completed Phase 1 report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
any necessary Phase 2 investigation. The report shall assess potential risks to 
present and proposed humans, property including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface 
waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the 
investigation must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's "Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", 
or any subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the Phase 2 site investigation condition 
that follows] 
 

9 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out 
under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no 
development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 
A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 
remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

10 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 

Page 75



11 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

12 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 

13 An electric vehicle charging point shall be provided for each of the approved 
dwellings prior to first occupation  
 

14 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 

15 If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural 
reports is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies, or becomes severely damaged 
or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the 
development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be 
planted within 3 months at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of five years from the date 
of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, 
or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of 
the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 3 months, be 
planted at the same place. 
 

16 Two Acer pseudoplatanus ‘Worleii’ (Golden sycamore) of 14-16cm girth at time of 
planting shall be placed as shown on Arbol Euro Consulting Ltd ‘Tree Protection 
Plan (drawing number 101224 dated 13th July 2018 – TR1 and TR2) within one 
month of the implementation of the felling of T11 and T12 (Arbol Euro Consulting Ltd 
‘Tree Protection Plan (drawing number 101224 dated 13th July 2018)), unless varied 
with the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five 
years from the date of planting any replacement tree is removed, uprooted or 
destroyed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree of the 
same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 

17 No development shall take place, including site clearance or other preparatory work, 
until full details of both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and 
implementation programme (linked to the development schedule) have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works 
shall be carried out as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as 
appropriate, and in addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed 
finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other minor 
artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services above 
and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for 

Page 76



planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules 
of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where 
appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or 
establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any 
replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size 
as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 

18 No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place 
until a Tree Protection Plan Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring 
schedule in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition 
and construction - recommendations) has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in 
accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
 

 
 
And subject to the completion of a S106 Legal agreement to secure appropriate financial 
contributions for the management and monitoring of visitors to the Epping Forest Special 
Area of Conservation and appropriate measures to mitigate potential impacts on air quality.  
 
This application is before this Committee since it is for a type of development that cannot be 
determined by Officers if more than two objections material to the planning merits of the proposal 
to be approved are received (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three:  Planning Services – 
Delegation of Council functions, Schedule 1, Appendix A.(f).) 
 
And contrary to an objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the 
proposal (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three:  Planning Services – Delegation of Council 
functions, Schedule 1, Appendix A.(g)) 
 
This application was deferred from the last sub committee for more information regarding the 
history of the site and to enable Members to carry out a site visit, and the report has been 
amended to provide additional information regarding the history of the wider site. 
 
Description of site 
 
The application site is located on a parcel of land directly adjacent to a large dwelling known as the 
Hoppit on The Street, within the settlement of Sheering. The Hoppit itself is a recent development 
having been approved in 2014 as a limited infill development. The application site forms part of the 
approved garden area of the Hoppit. The  site is an open gap in an otherwise built up frontage 
which has a large number of protected trees within its boundaries. The application site is located 
within the boundaries of the Metropolitan Green Belt and it is not in a Conservation area.  
 
Description of proposal 
 
The proposed development is for the erection of three detached dwellings. 
 
Relevant History 
 
EPF/2465/12 - Redevelopment of the northern part of the site creating two detached dwellings with 
a new vehicular and pedestrian access from The Street via a vehicular bridge. – Refused 
EPF/0603/14 - Erection of a single dwelling on residential land to the north of Willow House. – 
Approved 

Page 77



EPF/2473/14 - Erection of a single dwelling on residential land to the North of Willow House 
(amended application following approved development EPF/0603/14) - Approved 
EPF/1049/15 - Change of use of annexe known as Willow Cottage to separate dwelling. – 
Approved 
EPF/3040/16 - Erection of a new detached dwelling within an established residential curtilage - 
Refused 
EPF/1397/17 - Erection of a new detached dwelling within as established residential curtilage. 
(Revised application to EPF/3040/16) – Refused (This related to development to the south of 
Willow House which would not have been infill development)  
 
Policies applied 
 
Local Plan policies 
CP2 Protecting the quality of the environment 
GB2A Green Belt 
DBE1 Design of new buildings 
DBE2 Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE4 Design in the Green Belt 
DBE8 Private Amenity Space 
DBE6 Parking in new development 
ST4 Road safety 
ST6 Vehicle Parking 
LL2 Inappropriate Rural Development 
LL10 Adequacy of landscape retention 
LL11 Landscaping Schemes 
U3B Sustainable drainage 
NC4 Protection of Existing Habitat 
 
The above policies form part of the Councils Combined Local Plan (1998) and Local Plan 
Alterations (2006). Following the publication of the NPPF, policies from this plan (which was 
adopted pre-2004) are to be afforded due weight where they are consistent with the Framework. 
The above policies are broadly consistent with the NPPF and therefore are afforded full weight. 
 
Epping Forest Submission Version Local Plan 2017 
 
The Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017 has been approved for 
publication and is the Plan the Council intend to submit for independent examination. The policies 
in the Plan are considered to be up to date and accord with national policy and therefore should be 
given substantial weight in the consideration of planning applications in accordance with the 
Council’s decision on 14 December 2017 and paragraph 48of the NPPF. The policies and the Plan 
are supported by up to date and robust evidence – the evidence should also be treated as a 
material consideration. The relevant policies in the context of the proposed development are: 
 
SP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP6 – The natural environment, landscape character and green infrastructure 
T1 – Sustainable transport choices 
DM1 – Habitat protection and improving biodiversity 
DM4 – Development in the Green Belt 
DM2 – Epping Forest SAC 
DM9 – High quality design 
DM11 – Waste recycling facilities on new development 
DM15 – Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM18 – On site management of waste water and water supply 
DM21 – Local environment impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22 – Air Quality 

Page 78



Consultation carried out and summary of representations received  
 
152 Neighbours consulted -  
 
SHEERING PARISH COUNCIL – OBJECTION – It is Green Belt. The development would 
adversely affect highway safety and another driveway onto the Street would be dangerous. The 
proposed bridge would need to cross a wide brook and it was suggested that if the scheme goes 
ahead a better access point would be the driveway already in place.  
 
2 CHERRY TREE COTTAGES – OBJECTION - The dwellings are an overdevelopment of the site 
and will harm the character of the area. The bridge in incongruous and the ecology of the site 
would be harmed.  
 
10 THE STREET – SUPPORT – The dwellings are thoughtfully designed and will add to the 
harmony of the village.  
 
CROWN CLOSE RESIDENT (formally 10 THE STREET) – OBJECTION – This proposal would be 
dangerous in terms of highway issues and inconvenient for road users.  
 
12 THE STREET – OBJECTION - The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and the houses 
are too prominent and would harm the character of the area. 
 
12A THE STREET - OBJECTION – The new dwellings are an overdevelopment of the site and 
would cause substantial overlooking into our property. The vehicular bridge will cause disruption to 
the flow of traffic. We will also suffer a substantial loss of light. There will be significant pollution. 
 
FAVARDALE – OBJECTION – The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and the houses are 
too prominent and would harm the character of the area.  
 
WOODLANDS FARM – SUPPORT – This type of small scale development is exactly what is 
needed in the village and the design is good.  
 
WESTLETON – OBJECTION – The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and the houses 
are too prominent and would harm the character of the area. 
 
DELMAR – OBJECTION -The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and the houses are too 
prominent and would harm the character of the area. 
 
TREETOPS – OBJECTION – The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and the houses are 
too prominent and would harm the character of the area. 
 
SOUTHBURY – OBJECTION - Concerns around a new driveway being built via a bridge for entry / 
exit to the dwellings. This will cause considerable inconvenience to us during the building process 
as well as disturbing the wildlife that live on and around the marshes and within the trees and 
hedgerows that will have to be destroyed to make way.  An existing driveway is already in place 
which gives ample access to the land. 
 
Issues and considerations  
 
The main issues to consider when assessing this application are the potential impacts on the 
Green Belt, the living conditions of the neighbours, the design of the proposal, ecology issues, 
land drainage and any other material planning considerations. 
 

Page 79



Green Belt 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, CLG, 2018) indicates that the Government 
attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of the Green Belt is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are 
their openness and their permanence.   
 
The NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and 
should be refused planning permission unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated 
which clearly outweigh this harm.  
 
The NPPF also emphasises that when considering an application, a Local Planning Authority 
should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. Very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt, by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 
 
However paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF allow certain exceptions to inappropriate 
development one of which is the: 
 
Limited infilling in villages, and limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies 
set out in the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites) 
 
The first stage of this assessment is to consider whether the site can be reasonably considered to 
fall within the boundaries of a village. To the east of the site is the main settlement of Sheering 
which is a rather substantial settlement which has a school, two pubs and a large number of 
dwellings, easily fulfilling a definition of a village for the purposes of planning policy. The 
application site is located somewhat detached from the main settlement, however is still connected 
to it through a continuous row of dwellings fronting onto the Street. It is therefore concluded that 
the site does fall within the village boundary.  
 
The next stage of this assessment is to consider whether the proposal would be limited infilling 
within the village. The Epping Forest Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017 assists decision 
makers by defining ‘infill development’ at Appendix 1 as: 
 
The development of a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage or the small scale redevelopment 
of existing properties within such a frontage.  
 
In terms of context, the site is located directly adjacent to the Hoppit to the east and to Farm 
Cottage to the west and would fill a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage. It is therefore 
reasonable to conclude that the proposal constitutes limited infilling within an existing village and 
therefore it is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
 
Since the site is within the Green Belt, it has been considered whether it is necessary to remove 
Householder permitted development rights to ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains 
control over future development on the site. However Government guidance advises that permitted 
development rights should not be removed unless there are exceptional circumstances. In this 
instance, the scope for further development under permitted development rights is limited and in 
any event the Council would need to be generally supportive of limited extensions in future 
applications. As such it is not considered necessary to remove such rights.  
 
Living conditions of neighbours  
 
The front elevation of the dwelling on the eastern most part of the site will be some distance 
behind the rear elevation of Farm Cottage located adjacent to it. However Farm Cottage is 
orientated away from the position of the closest dwelling, has a large wide garden and is a 

Page 80



substantial enough distance from the front of the new house to ensure that there will not be 
significant harm caused to their living conditions.  
 
On the other side, the Hoppit is directly adjacent to the western most dwelling however there is a 
substantial gap between their respective side elevations and the rear projection does not exceed 
the rear elevation of the Hoppit. As a result there will be no significant harm caused to the living 
conditions of this neighbour.  
 
Concern has been raised regarding the impact of the proposed access to the site which is directly 
opposite cottages on the other side of the Street. The road is narrow and the cottages opposite are 
set close to the road with no front gardens so there is concern that headlights from vehicles 
existing the site will cause light disturbance. Given that the proposal is only for three dwellings it is 
not considered that there will be such a level of night time movements that headlights will cause 
excessive harm to residential amenity.  
 
Trees and landscaping 
 
The Tree and Landscape team consider that the proposal is acceptable subject to conditions to 
ensure the retention of existing trees and the replacement of trees as shown on the submitted 
landscape plan. These are reasonable and necessary conditions to impose.  
 
Design 
 
The new dwellings are set back from the road in a similar way as the Hoppit located directly 
adjacent. The site is currently very significantly screened from public views from the Street by 
significant number of trees and vegetation; however the application involves the creation of a new 
access, which will allow oblique views into the site from directly in front of the new access. Since 
the dwellings have a reasonably conventional design, are set back from the front of the site and 
will only be obliquely visible from public viewpoints they will not cause harm to the character and 
appearance of the area.   
 
Parking and Highway safety 
 
The proposed access to the site entails provision of a bridge over the existing pond at the front of 
the site. The Essex County Council Highway Team has commented that they have no objection to 
the application since the new access has good visibility splays and will therefore offer a safe form 
of access onto the site. Comments were made at the last committee that a previous scheme that 
proposed this method of access had been refused.  Whilst it is a fact that the previous application 
was refused, it was refused only on Green Belt issues and there was no highway reason for 
refusal as the access was considered appropriate. 
 The parking offer is suitable for the dwellings proposed and raises no concerns.  
 
Land Drainage 
 
The land drainage team have raised no objection to the application subject to conditions requiring 
details of foul and surface water drainage. These are reasonable and necessary conditions to 
impose.  The development will not be at risk of flooding and conditions will ensure that it will not 
increase the rick of flooding elsewhere. 
 
The site is not adjacent to a main river or in an identified flood zone. The bridge to the front is over 
a pond not a watercourse and as such this is not an application which can be referred to the 
Environment Agency for Comment. 
 
Epping Forest SAC 
 

Page 81



As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential 
development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. 
The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy for the management and 
monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to be funded through the 
securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with Policy DM 2. 
Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the agent has confirmed willingness 
to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation measures.  
 
  
Contaminated Land  
 
The Contaminated Land officer has commented that the site has the potential to be contaminated 
and has suggested conditions to minimise the risk to new residents. These are reasonable and 
necessary conditions to impose.  
 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt, the design is satisfactory, there 
will not be significant harm to the living conditions of the neighbours and it satisfies all other 
criteria. Therefore it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the applicant 
first entering into a legal agreement to ensure appropriate mitigation for the SAC.  
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: James Rogers 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564 371 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



 
 

Page 83



 
 

123  
 

 
 
  

 

7

2

5

1

3

Theydon

Barn

Sawkins

Farm

8

4
6

Pond

Pond

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 7 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1406/18 

Site Name: 1 Mount End, Mount End Road, 
Theydon Mount, CM16 7PS 
 

Scale of Plot: 1/1250 

 Page 84



Report Item No: 7 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1406/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: 1 Mount End  

Mount End Road 
Theydon Mount 
Epping 
Essex 
CM16 7PS 
 

PARISH: Theydon Mount 
 

WARD: Passingford 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Robert Shaw  
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Demolition of barn and erection of two detached houses (Revised 
application to EPF/2248/17) 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=609733 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 1B, 2A and 3A 
 

3 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and 
associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice 
tools. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial 
completion of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance 
with the management and maintenance plan. 
 

4 No development shall take place until details of foul and surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

5 No development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried 
out. A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 
remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 

Page 85



archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

6 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 
 

7 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

8 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 

9 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 
 
1. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
2. Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
3. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,  
4. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 
5. Precautionary measures for minimalizing effects on great crested newts, reptiles, 
badgers and hedgehogs. 
 

Page 86



10 Prior to the commencement of development other than groundworks, a scheme of 
soft landscaping and a statement of the methods, including a timetable, for its 
Implementation (linked to the development schedule), have been submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. The landscape scheme shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and the agreed timetable. If any 
plant dies, becomes diseased or fails to thrive within a period of 5 years from the 
date of planting, or is removed, uprooted or destroyed, it must be replaced by 
another plant of the same kind and size and at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees to a variation beforehand in writing.  
 

11 Prior to the commencement of development, other than groundworks, a biodiversity 
plan including, but not limited to, provision of bird and bat boxes, shrubs of benefits 
to bats and  nectar rich planting to encourage invertebrates shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall 
thereafter be implemented fully in accordance with the agreed details. 
 

12 Prior to the commencement of development other than groundworks,  details of the 
proposed surface materials for the building frontage courtyard and patio areas have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
agreed surfacing shall be made of porous materials and retained thereafter or 
provision shall be made and retained thereafter to direct run-off water from the hard 
surface to a permeable or porous area or surface within the curtilage of the property. 
The agreed surface treatment shall be completed prior to the first occupation of the 
development or within 1 year of the substantial completion of the development 
hereby approved, whichever occurs first. 
 

13 Prior to the commencement of development other than groundworks, details of all 
walls, fences, gates and other means of enclosure shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall thereafter be completed 
in accordance with the agreed details 
 

14 Prior to the commencement of development other than groundworks, details of all 
external lighting to the site, including freestanding lighting columns and exterior 
lights attached to the3 building shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works shall be completed only in accordance with the 
agreed details.  
 

15 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

16 No development shall take place until wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for 
vehicles leaving the site during construction works have been installed at the site.  
The installed cleaning facilities shall be used to clean vehicles wheels immediately 
before leaving the site. 
 

17 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 87



18 No vents, grilles or ducting shall be fixed to any elevation of the buildings visible 
from the road without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

19 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or any other Order 
revoking, further amending or re-enacting that Order) no development generally 
permitted by virtue of Classes A, B, C or  E (other than a single freestanding building 
not exceeding 10 sq.m.) and F of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Order  shall be 
undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

20 Other than as indicated on the plans hereby approved, there shall be no increase in 
the area of the residential gardens on the site, nor any increase in roadways, 
parking areas, patios or other hard surfaced areas without prior consent from the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 

21 No additional windows beyond those shown on the approved plans shall be installed 
in any elevation of the buildings hereby permitted without the prior consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 

 
 

And subject to the completion, within 6 months, of a Section 106 Legal agreement to secure 
appropriate financial contributions towards a) access management and monitoring of 
visitors to the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and b) mitigation of air 
pollution in the vicinity of the Epping Forest SAC. 
  
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal (Pursuant to 
The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation, Appendix 3) 
 
The Application was deferred from the last agenda to enable members to visit the site. 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site lies to the west side of Mount End Road currently forming part of the curtilage 
of 1 Mount End, a two storey detached house fronting the road . The land the subject of the 
application comprises around 0.21ha including access from the existing gravelled drive along the 
southern boundary, a timber clad barn building and land to the rear extending north behind 5 
Mount End (the neighbouring house on the frontage) 
 
The existing building is partly open on three sides and was most recently used as stables. It 
occupies an area of around 415 square metres and the main gable roof is 5.5m high at eaves and 
8m high at ridge, with a mono-pitch cat slide  roof on the rear part falling to single storey. The 
remainder of the site curtilage is enclosed by a mix of post and rail fencing and gates, and hedging 
all around 1metre high. 
 
There is a ribbon of built development concentrated primarily along the road frontage of Mount 
End Road predominantly consisting of two storey dwellings, no.5 incorporates chalet style 
dormers. To the south lies the Grade II listed buildings originally part of Sawkins Farm but now 
converted into two dwellings (Sawkins Farm and Theydon Barn). The whole area is located within 
the Green Belt.  
 

Page 88



Description of Proposal:  
 
The application is a resubmission of a proposal for redevelopment as two x 4 bed houses, being 
part two storey, part single. The main element of each has an off-centre ridge line with a cat slide 
roof to the rear and single storey projections on two faces. The front elevations include a double 
height window as the only opening , within the rear faced elevation is a central two storey 
projecting bay. The buildings are arranged at right angles to each other to create a central 
courtyard. 
 
Two parking spaces are provided for each dwelling, within the courtyard for Unit1 and at the rear 
for Unit 2. Private gardens are formed within the existing, retained outer boundary fence.  
 
Relevant History: 
 
Historic applications for works to the frontage house indicate that around 2000, the barn building 
was part of Sawkins Farm. An application in 2004 shows the building as having been separated 
from the farm and within the demise of 1 Mount End. Aerial photographs support this. The land 
and building were subsequently used for stabling horses and associated storage until 2016 / early 
2017. 
 
EPF/2248/17 - Demolition of barn and erection of two detached houses. - granted 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Adopted Local Plan and Alterations: 
 
CP1 Achieving Sustainable Development Objectives  
CP2 Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment 
CP5 Sustainable buildings 
GB2A Development in the Green Belt 
GB4 Extensions to residential curtilages 
GB7A Conspicuous Development 
HC12 Development affecting the setting of listed buildings 
RP4 Contaminated land 
U3B Sustainable Drainage Systems 
DBE1 Design of new buildings 
DBE2 Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE4 Design in the Green Belt 
DBE8 Private amenity space 
DBE9 Loss of amenity 
LL11 Landscaping schemes 
ST6 Vehicle parking 
NC4 Protection of Established Habitat 
 
NPPF: 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) Paragraph 213 states that due weight 
should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with 
the framework.  The above policies are broadly consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be 
given appropriate weight. 
 

Page 89



Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 
 
 The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 

greater the weight that may be given);  
 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 

the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  
 The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 

NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the 
weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP1  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP6  Green Belt and District Open land 
SP7  Natural Environment, landscape character and green infrastructure 
T1  Sustainable transport choices 
DM4  Green Belt 
DM5  Green and Blue Infrastructure 
DM7  Heritage Assets 
DM9  High Quality Design 
DM10  Housing design and quality 
DM16  Sustainable Drainage Systems 
DM21  Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination  
DM22  Air Quality 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received   
 
Number of neighbours consulted:   Six 
Responses received:  Two responses have been received from neighbours. 
 
2 MOUNT END – The neighbour objected to the previous application and comments: Plot 2 still 
sits primarily outside of the footprint of the existing barn, encroaching into open Green Belt beyond 
the building line and increasing site cover and sprawl.  In my opinion, this is over development of 
the site and will have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing barn.  I 
still consider that a single dwelling, not extending beyond the footprint of the barn, would be more 
appropriate. 
 
5 MOUNT END – The objector’s detailed comments are summarised below: 

1. Overdevelopment - We cannot see any planning merit or justification in replacing the 
current barn with two large properties, only one of which is on the footprint of the present 
built structures and with the other protruding into the open field beyond.    

2. Impact on Openness of the Green Belt - Plot 2 (furthest from 1 Mount End) remains outside 

Page 90



of the footprint of the existing barn, further adding to the impact on openness of the green 
belt.  At present this a rural agricultural locality and ultimately this development constitutes 
not the conversion of an existing structure but two additional dwellings in the Green Belt for 
which no special circumstances have been shown.  
There is a public footpath running alongside the boundary of the property and the field 
beyond which presently enjoys views across the skyline to Epping.  The addition of two 
large properties, crammed in, will undoubtedly have an impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt in this rural location.  The built form will comprise not only the actual dwellings 
but, with modern living, there will be other residential paraphernalia such as garden sheds, 
outdoor eating areas etc. etc., and all this will introduce a residential element/sprawl into an 
open area of the countryside in the Green Belt. 
This side of Mount End in our hamlet of Theydon Mount comprises a ribbon development 
of houses all of which front the road.  There is no existing “back land” development and the 
building line is consistently one of road frontage.  The only exception is the Grade II listed 
Theydon Barn which is set back from the road.  The applicant makes reference to the 
annexe to Theydon Barn and the depth of this structure being used as justification for the 
proposed “back” development in this application.  However, it is not an appropriate 
comparable.  The annexe to Theydon Barn is the conversion of an existing single storey 
structure of a rural nature, it is not two wholly new large and bulky structures in the Green 
Belt. Importantly, nor does it have any fenestration/openings in the flank wall facing north.  
Building as is proposed would introduce a residential element where presently there is 
none and constitute and lead to further residential sprawl in the Green Belt and 
countryside.    

3. Loss of residential amenity – Plot 1 (nearest to 1 Mount End) remains adjacent to our 
boundary, and re-orientated towards us from the original application, increasing the 
overlooking.  In the Design & Access Statement, page 14, Advice 3 states “Particular 
attention needs to be given to how the form of the building impacts on the adjoining 
property to the north”, i.e. our house at 5 Mount End, and the revised plans continue to 
significantly impact on our residential amenity.  We note the applicant has reduced the 
height of part of Plot 1 to single storey, but this is inconsequential as the remainder of Plot 
1 continues to be significantly higher than the existing roofline of the extension to the barn 
and this would be materially intrusive to our residential amenity.   The Applicant has 
therefore not addressed the third reason for refusal of their previous application. 

4. This revised application has done nothing to address our concern about the proposed 
drainage.  There is no mains drainage here.  The plans show the new plots draining into 
the ditch on adjacent land both for foul and surface water.  This ditch will not take any 
intensification of current use – it is often brimming full from current discharge run offs.  Any 
additional use is likely to lead to overflowing and will exacerbate the flooding across the 
adjacent land and out to Mount Road where water gathers extensively after rainfall.    
 

THEYDON MOUNT PARISH COUNCIL Object to the application, considering it an 
overdevelopment of the site and an intrusion into the openness of the Green Belt. 
 
Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
Impact on Green Belt 
 
In considering the primary Green Belt issue, regard has to be had to the position around the 
existing building. There is sufficient evidence to support the contention that this has been used for 
non-agricultural purposes for at least 10 years. The use of stables also now appears likely to be 
lawful. As a result, the built area must be regarded as previously developed land when assessing 
the application of Green Belt policy. 
 
The land identified as the proposed gardens for the dwellings lies largely beyond the built form and 
its status is relevant. The whole area is indicated in a 2004 planning application as being part of 

Page 91



the residential curtilage of 1 Mount End. A visual inspection supports the argument that this land is 
materially different from the open fields beyond in form, appearance and function, it is apparent 
that this area has been maintained by regular mowing as a domestic garden or paddock as 
opposed to the more natural agricultural character of the fields beyond. Thus no extension to the 
domestic curtilage is proposed. 
 
Assessment of the impact on the openness and function of the Green Belt needs to consider 
whether the application would have a fall back position of an application that follows the footprint of 
the existing building. Such a scheme would involve a single large dwelling or more likely a pair of 
semi-detached houses and was discouraged at  pre-application stage  as being unduly bulky in its 
appearance and out of keeping with the scale and pattern of local domestic architecture. The 
proposal to create two detached buildings thus  inevitably results in some of the building falling 
outside the footprint of existing building (around 35% of the built footprint) but a number of good 
planning reasons exist for doing this; 
 

 This allows the dwellings to be efficiently designed and for built development to be reduced 
in overall scale. As a result there are reductions to both the built footprint in the volume of 
built development of around 11%, and in the maximum height at eaves and ridge levels of 
around 1m . 

 A visual break between the buildings reduces the impact of the mass. 
 The built form is more appropriate to the location (see below design issues). 

 
Taking the above into account, officers consider that these benefits would constitute very special 
circumstances that would support a limited extension on the existing built footprint. 
 
Design 
 
Consideration of the design and form is influenced by a number of factors – the character of the 
location, the adjacent listed buildings and the layout of the existing building.  
 
In terms of the general local character, the settlement generally follows a ribbon pattern with 
residential buildings running along the road frontage although the adjoining plot to the south is a 
notable exception.. Here however the history of the farm site dictates the form and it is evident that 
the rear buildings are generally subordinate to the frontage.  
 
The application proposes a similar approach and demonstrates a good understanding of its context. 
The layout of the proposed houses in a courtyard plan has been clearly informed by the adjacent 
farm complex and the strong rural character of the area. In addition, the proposal makes evident 
references to the scale, massing, forms, design and detailing of the adjacent agricultural buildings. 
The proposed material palette featuring vernacular materials such as timber cladding and red plain 
clay tiles will match the materials and textures of the adjacent buildings and allow the new 
dwellings to blend in with its immediate surroundings. 

 
The type, scale and materials of boundary treatments are crucial elements in the design of new 
buildings. The proposed boundary treatment including 5-bar gates, post and rail fencing and 
indigenous hedges and shrubs are typical of farm complex and therefore fully supported. The 
proposed use of gravel as a surfacing for the courtyard is also considered appropriate.   
 
Amenity 
 
The immediate neighbour lies at 5 Mount End, to the north of the application site. The proposal 
has been designed to ensure the new buildings do not project beyond the northern most boundary 
of the existing building thereby ensuring direct views over the surrounding countryside are not 
compromised. The proposed building closest to the neighbour is designed to have a sloping roof 

Page 92



falling to single storey at the rear (with a central gable feature at two storey), the eaves on the rear 
main wall is lower and further from the boundary than the existing building. Taking into account 
that the nearest dwelling is around 5 metres from the shared boundary and 17 metres from the 
property at no.5, officers accordingly consider that the impact is not materially greater than 
currently exists. 
 
Impact on listed buildings 
 
While the development lies outside the curtilage of the adjacent listed buildings to the south, 
inappropriate development would still have the potential impact on their setting. The listed 
buildings present a blank facade to the boundary such that habitable areas are not directly 
impacted. The proposals also reflect on certain characteristics of the adjoining site, with the 
buildings arranged a courtyard and of comparative height and scale to Theydon Barn. Taking 
account the design considerations discussed above, the development is considered appropriate 
within the context of the listed building. 
 
Other matters 
 
Development has to be considered in the context of the Habitat Regulations Act. As set out in 
Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with respect to 
the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential development, and from 
relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. The application site lies 
within the 6.2km zone around the SAC where mitigation measures are required. The applicants 
have confirmed their willingness to enter into an appropriate s106 agreement to secure an 
appropriate contribution to such mitigation, a strategy for the management and monitoring of visitor 
pressures on the SAC is currently being developed with strategic partners.  This will include 
measures to be funded through the securing of financial contributions from new development in 
accordance with Policy DM 2.  
 
Such measures are distinct from any issues that may affect habitats within and adjacent to the 
application site. Any such assessments can be reasonably undertaken post determination of the 
application. 
 
Historic agricultural uses of the site make it likely that contaminants could be present on the site. 
This is confirmed by a Phase One contaminated land study that accompanies the application.  
 
Suggested conditions to the recommendation that are relevant in this case include removal of 
permitted development rights, biodiversity plan requirement to consider whether there are bat 
habitats.  
 
 
Conclusion: 
 
 
The existing building meets the relevant criteria to be considered as previously developed land. In 
this context, replacement buildings to provide residential accommodation are not inappropriate 
provided they do not have a greater impact on the Green Belt. 
 
The proposals involve a decrease in both the footprint and volume of buildings on the site, and a 
reduction in the maximum ridge height. The buildings are arranged in a courtyard style that reflects 
a more traditional layout to subsidiary buildings and reflects the context and form of the adjoining 
listed building. Where the building impacts on the neighbouring property to the north, the form 
reflects that of the existing structure in falling to a single storey eaves height and its impact is not 

Page 93



significantly greater. As such, the development is not considered to have a materially more 
substantial impact on the character and openness of the Green Belt in this location. 
 
Taking all of the above in the context of relevant development plan policies, officers consider the 
development to be of an appropriate scale and siting. Subject therefore to an appropriate legal 
agreement if required to secure a contribution to mitigate the impact of the development on the 
Epping Forest SAC and wider air quality, and to appropriate conditions, it is recommended that 
planning permission be granted  
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 94



123  
 

 
 
  

 

Abby Rose Court

1
81

a Abbeyrose

Budworth Hall

Superstore

Bank

PCs

Police Station

Ex
Tel

Ashton House

Central

Dovecot

1 to 6

The

Bansons Court

House

1

3

Surgery

1

BANSONS YARD

B
A

N
SO

N
S M

EW
S

BANSON'S LANE

Sub Sta

Car Park

El

FB

Path (um)

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

C
ripsey B

rook

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 8 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1556/18 

Site Name: Site at Bansons Lane, Ongar, Essex 
CM5 9AR 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 

 
 

Page 95



Report Item No: 8 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1556/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: Site at Bansons Lane 

Ongar 
Essex 
CM5 9AR 
 

PARISH: Ongar 
 

WARD: Chipping Ongar, Greensted and Marden Ash 
 

APPLICANT: Brodie Property Group Limited 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Erection of 7 no. 2 bedroom units with associated car parking, 
cycle store, bin store and landscaping. 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=610437 

 
CONDITIONS  
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 8673/001, 002 rev A, 010, 020, 021, 022, 023,  024, 025, 
and 100 rev A 
 

3 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation 
of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by 
the planning authority. 
 

4 Should the Phase 1 Land Contamination preliminary risk assessment carried out 
under the above condition identify the presence of potentially unacceptable risks, no 
development shall take place until a Phase 2 site investigation has been carried out. 
A protocol for the investigation shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the Phase 2 investigation. The 
completed Phase 2 investigation report, together with any necessary outline 
remediation options, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any redevelopment or remediation works being carried out. The 
report shall assess potential risks to present and proposed humans, property 
including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments and the investigation must be 
conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11", or any 
subsequent version or additional regulatory guidance.  
  

Page 96



[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the remediation scheme condition that 
follows] 
 

5 Should Land Contamination Remediation Works be identified as necessary under 
the above condition, no development shall take place until a detailed remediation 
scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 
and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures and 
any necessary long term maintenance and monitoring programme. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 or any subsequent version, in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation.  
[Note: This condition must be formally discharged by the Local Planning Authority 
before the submission of details pursuant to the verification report condition that 
follows] 
 

6 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

7 In the event that any evidence of potential contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified in the 
approved Phase 2 report, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with a methodology previously approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the immediately above 
condition.   
 

8 Prior to the commencement of the development, an invasive species management 
plan, incorporating measures to manage the extent and future spread of Himalayan 
balsam within the site shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. All works required pursuant to the said management plan shall be 
completed in accordance with the agreed details, and on completion of report of the 
outcome prepared by the specialist contractor shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

9 No development shall take place until details of surface water disposal have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

10 No development, including works of demolition or site clearance, shall take place 
until a Tree Protection Plan Arboricultural Method Statement and site monitoring 
schedule in accordance with BS:5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition 
and construction - recommendations) has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out only in 

Page 97



accordance with the approved documents unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
its written consent to any variation. 
 

11 No development shall have taken place until samples of the types and colours of the 
external finishes have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing prior to the commencement of the development. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. For 
the purposes of this condition, the samples shall only be made available for 
inspection by the Local Planning Authority at the planning application site itself.  
 

12 Additional drawings that show details of proposed new windows, doors, rooflights, 
eaves, verges, and cills, to be used by section and elevation at scales between 1:20 
and 1:1 as appropriate, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing prior to the commencement of any works, other than 
groundworks. The works shall thereafter be completed only in accordance with the 
agreed details. 
 

13 Prior to the commencement of development, other than groundworks, full details of 
both hard and soft landscape works (including tree planting) and implementation 
programme (linked to the development schedule) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These works shall be carried out 
as approved. The hard landscaping details shall include, as appropriate, and in 
addition to details of existing features to be retained: proposed finished levels or 
contours; fences gates and other means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other 
minor artefacts and structures, including signs and lighting and functional services 
above and below ground. The details of soft landscape works shall include plans for 
planting or establishment by any means and full written specifications and schedules 
of plants, including species, plant sizes and proposed numbers /densities where 
appropriate. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting or 
establishment of any tree, or shrub or plant, that tree, shrub, or plant or any 
replacement is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes seriously 
damaged or defective another tree or shrub, or plant of the same species and size 
as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
 

14 Prior to the commencement of development other than groundworks, , a lighting 
design strategy for bats shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The strategy shall: 
a) Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and 
that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites or foraging 
routes, 
b) Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of 
appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) that demonstrates 
that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory or having 
access to their breeding sites and resting places, and  
c) All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the Bat Conservation 
Trust’s ‘Bats  And Lighting in the UK’ 
 

15 Prior to the commencement of development, other than groundworks, an ecological 
enhancement plan incorporating details of the type and location of 2 bat bricks 
(incorporated into the new building), the type and location of 2 bat boxes and 2 bird 
boxes (installed on existing trees),  and locations of hedgehog gaps in any new 
fencing shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
works as agreed shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of any residential 
unit. 

Page 98



16 Prior to the commencement of the development other than groundworks, full details 
of the cycle store incorporating details of cycle stands or enclosures shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works as 
agreed shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of any residential unit, and 
shall thereafter be retained for use by residents of the development. 
 

17 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

18 No development shall take place until wheel washing or other cleaning facilities for 
vehicles leaving the site during construction works have been installed at the site.  
The installed cleaning facilities shall be used to clean vehicles wheels immediately 
before leaving the site. 
 

19 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the flood risk assessment 
(Waterman, Ref WIE12994-100-R-1-5-2-FRA Project No. WIE12994, August 2017) 
and drainage strategy submitted with the application unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 

20 No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st March and 
31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful, 
detailed check of vegetation for active birds’ nests immediately before the vegetation 
is cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that 
there are appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any 
such written confirmation should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
 

21 If any tree, shrub or hedge shown to be retained in the submitted Arboricultural 
reports is removed, uprooted or destroyed, or dies, or becomes severely damaged 
or diseased during development activities or within 3 years of the completion of the 
development, another tree, shrub or hedge of the same size and species shall be 
planted within 3 months at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives its written consent to any variation. If within a period of five years from the date 
of planting any replacement tree, shrub or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed, 
or dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another tree, shrub or hedge of 
the same species and size as that originally planted shall, within 3 months, be 
planted at the same place. 
 

22 Prior to first occupation of the proposed development, the Developer shall be 
responsible for the provision and implementation, per dwelling, of a Residential 
Travel Information Pack for sustainable transport, approved by Essex County 
Council, to include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public 
transport operator. 
 

23 Any open trenches formed within the development construction phase shall be 
covered over with wooden sheeting and all construction compounds fenced securely 
at night. 
 

24 All rainwater goods installed externally on the building shall be of black painted 
metal or aluminium, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  No 
vents, grilles or ducting shall be fixed to the external fabric of the building without the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 99



25 All plant, pipes and other equipment installed on the flat roof area shall be installed 
so as not to project above the ridge line of the western part of the building is hereby 
permitted, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

26 Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted, charging points for electric 
vehicles shall be fitted for use in all parking bays and shall thereafter be retained in 
working order. 
 

 
 
 
And subject to the completion of a S106 Legal agreement to secure appropriate financial 
contributions for appropriate measures to mitigate potential impacts on air quality, and a 
contribution of £3,000 towards enhanced tree planting in the local area.  . 
 
This application is before this Committee since it is for a type of development that cannot be 
determined by Officers if more than five objections material to the planning merits of the proposal 
to be approved are received (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation, 
Appendix 3) 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site lies on the north side of Bansons Lane, within the Chipping Ongar 
Conservation Area. The developable area comprises around 600 sq.m. falling from east to west 
and  containing trees and other vegetation. A footway runs along the eastern and northern 
boundary and a vehicle access lies in the western side also serving Great Bansons, a two storey 
mixed use building comprises offices and residential. 
 
The wider area comprises a mix of uses, Sainsburys store lies to the south and to the east lies the 
telephone exchange building. Land to the west of the access lies within the Green Belt, and 
includes the skate park. Bansons Lane is a public right of way and extends into the open 
countryside to the west  forming part of the Essex Way . 
 
Description of Proposal:  
 
The application proposes residential redevelopment of the site to provide seven x 2 bedroom flats 
with an integral parking area. 
 
The building is stepped to follow the land levels. The lower level comprises a parking area 
containing 8 spaces and a secure cycle store accessed from the west side of the building from the 
existing accessway. Residential accommodation above comprises one floor western half of the 
building, and two floors on the eastern half, the upper floor comprising two units. Pedestrian 
access to the building will be from the east side with the stair core to all levels. 
 
The building is designed with a series of gabled elements to break up the building form, and a mix 
of brick, render and boarding are proposed for external walls, with tiled roof. 
 
A bin store is proposed close to the pedestrian entrance and the remainder of the building 
surround is to be landscaped.,    
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPF/3282/17 Redevelopment comprising 8 x two bedroom flats with associated parking and 

landscaping – application withdrawn. 
 

Page 100



Policies Applied: 
 
Adopted Local Plan: 
 
CP1 Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 Protecting the Quality of the Rural and Built Environment 
CP6 Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
CP7 Urban Form and quality 
HC1 Scheduled monuments and other archaeological sites 
HC6 Character, appearance and setting of Conservation Areas 
HC7 Development within Conservation Areas 
NC3 Replacement of lost habitat 
NC4 Protection of existing habitat 
RP3 Water quality 
RP4 Contaminated land 
H2A Previously developed land 
H3A Housing density 
U3B Sustainable Drainage Systems 
DBE1 Design of new buildings 
DBE2 Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE3 Design in Urban Areas 
DBE6 Car parking in new development 
DBE9 Loss of amenity 
LL3 Edge of settlement 
LL10 Adequacy of landscape retention 
LL11 Landscaping schemes 
ST2  Accessibility of development 
ST4 Road safety 
ST6 Vehicle parking 
 
The above policies form part of the Councils 1998 Local Plan. Following the publication of the 
NPPF, policies from this plan (which was adopted pre-2004) are to be afforded due weight where 
they are consistent with the Framework. The above policies are broadly consistent with the NPPF 
and therefore are afforded full weight. 
 
NPPF: 
 
The Revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2018) states at paragraph 213  
that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly consistent with the NPPF and 
should therefore be given appropriate weight. 
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 
 
 The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 

greater the weight that may be given);  
 The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 

the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

Page 101



 The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the 
weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP1  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP7 The Natural Environment, landscape character and Green and Blue Infrastructure 
H1  Housing mix and accommodation types 
T1  Sustainable transport choices 
DM1  Habitat protection and improving biodiversity 
DM2  Epping Forest SAC and Lee Valley SPA 
DM3  Landscape Character, ancient landscapes and geodiversity 
DM7  Heritage Assets 
DM9  High Quality Design 
DM10  Housing design and quality 
DM16  Sustainable drainage systems 
DM19  Sustainable water use 
DM20  Low carbon and renewable energy 
DM21  Local environmental impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22  Air quality 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received   
 
37 neighbours were consulted and a site notice was displated.:  Eight responses have been 
received, comprising 6 objections and 2 supporting comments. 
Objections have been received form the adjoining office GREAT BANSONS, 5 CASTLE STREET 
ONGAR, 15 THE SPINNEY ONGAR, 215 ENGLANDS LANE LOUGHTON, 40 BARN MEAD 
DODDINGHURST, and from the head leaseholder of Great Bansons. Objectors raise a number of 
concerns: 

- The proposal represents over development of the site – in terms of its volume, layout and 
general scale in this location. 

- The proposal is inappropriate in the Conservation Area – relating to the built form and 
character. 

- Proposals involve the loss of existing trees and potentially habitat, one objector refers 
specifically to the presence of slow worms on the adjacent skate park site 

- On parking grounds – comments include concerns that the level of parking (including the 
visitor provision) is inadequate, that the development will conflict with other vehicles in the 
area, particularly those using the Sainsbury car park opposite, and that existing parking on 
the access road will be lost. 

- Issues around the direct impact on residential and commercial uses in Great Bansons, 
including loss of outlook and light, and the larger scale and mass of the proposed scheme. 

- Impact of the development when viewed from open countryside to west. 
- Other comments not material to the planning merits includes issues around the site sewer, 

ownership issues relating to the access and construction disturbance. 
 
Comments supporting the application have been received from 5 GREAT LAWNS ONGAR and 19 
GREAT STONY PARK ONGAR. Both respondents comment on the contribution made to local 
housing supply relieving pressure on green land. One respondent refers specifically to the design 

Page 102



quality and merits of the undercroft parking scheme, the other welcomes opportunity for landscape 
improvement near the skate park.  
TOWN COUNCIL:  No comments have been submitted by Ongar Town Council. 
 
Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
The application has been developed and revised in consultation with officers, including significant 
input on Conservation Area matters. Development of the site potentially impacts not only on its 
immediate surroundings, but also on the wider Conservation Area and on the adjacent Essex Way 
and surrounding countryside. 
 
Development principle 
 
The site lies within the identified boundary of the Chipping Ongar settlement and must be 
considered in that urban context, notwithstanding the proximity to the Green Belt boundary. 
Developing under-used sites within such areas is encouraged by national and local policy as 
relieving pressure on more sensitive locations. While the site  would not meet the typical definition 
of previously developed, or brownfield, land, it is not covered by the definition in the NPPF of land 
that should expressly not be included in such a definition.  
 
Design and built form 
 
In terms of the wider visual impact, the setting down of the western half of the building is seen as 
an important element in managing the relationship of the building with the surrounding area.. The 
stepped approach reflects the site levels rising from the west into the town centre beyond. The 
taller element is consistent in height terms with the telephone exchange building, and visibly lower 
than the Sainsbury store to the south. Initial concerns that the two elements were not sufficiently 
distinguishable, presenting a continuous form to the roof line, but the two elements are evidently 
visually distinctive as a result of revisions to the scheme. The building demonstrates a good 
understanding of its context drawing on architectural references from the surrounding buildings 
and conforming to their height, scale and general traditional appearance. 
 
Trees and landscaping 
 
The development will result in the loss of the existing trees from the site and these evidently have 
an amenity value. However the Council’s Tree Officer comments;  ‘a careful inspection of these 
trees, leads us to conclude that their structural condition makes them unsuitable for long term 
retention or warrant the making of a Tree Preservation Order’. This does not however alter the fact 
that the trees have an amenity value in the wider context. 
 
There remains a landscape role for the land to the west in screening development. This area 
contains a natural landscape of trees and shrubs. While the application initially proposes a 
residents garden area immediately west of the access, officers consider the amenity value of the 
existing planting to the wider area outweighs any direct benefit to residents from a formal garden 
area, particularly in the context of the potential for wider recreational availability of land to the west.  
 
Accordingly, the applicants have agreed to the retention of the existing landscape and habitat to 
the west of the site, and to a contribution of £3,000 towards wider tree planting in the surrounding 
area to compensate the loss of the existing trees. In such circumstances, officers are satisfied the 
development will not have an adverse landscape impact. 
 
Wider impacts 
 
The site lies in a potentially sensitive location in relation to the Essex Way and open ground and its 
impact thereon is a material consideration in its own right. As discussed above, existing trees 

Page 103



between the site and the land to the west provide a degree of screening, to the extent that in mid-
August with trees in full leaf the much bulkier Sainsbury building was completely screened when 
viewed from around 200m to the west. In this context, even allowing for the loss of the trees from 
the site, it is evident that the existing landscape is strong.  
 
Thus, only the upper parts of the building are likely to be visible. The overall scale includes 
articulation and the building is not unduly wide. Views into Ongar from the Essex Way include a 
number of breaks in the screening, in particular to the north of the site where the development at 
Bansons Mews comprising three storey terraces of houses, is more prominent but entirely 
consistent with the built form that may be found on the edge of the built area. 
 
Officers conclude that the development does not materially impact on the open land to the west. 
 
Neighbour amenity 
 
Consideration has been given to the potential impact directly on Great Bansons which shares the 
access. This two storey building includes residential and office uses; there are two ground floor 
flats on the ground floor with principal windows facing west, and  a further flat and an office space 
on the first floor. One significant window to the office lies in the south facing wall and there are 
high level windows to ground floor. 
 
Officers consider that there are a number of factors which suggest the overall impact is not severe. 
The most affected window is at first floor and retains views to the south west from this workspace. 
The building reducing in height to the west with a pitched roof reduces the extent of any 
overshadowing. The level of activity arising from seven units is not likely to be so intensive as to 
significantly affect residential and commercial occupiers.  
 
Parking and access issues 
 
The scheme proposes provision of 8 parking spaces accessed from the existing entrance serving 
Great Bansons, clear of the highway.  The parking bays meet the relevant requirements in terms 
of the dimensions and turning areas. In addition a large cycle store is indicated with 10 stands 
shown but evidently space for more if desired.    
 
The Highway Authority considers the parking provision to be satisfactory, commenting that 
surrounding roads are well secured with parking restrictions and concluding that there will be no 
on-street parking to the detriment of highway safety. The site access is some distance from the 
busier car park entrances to the east and no evident conflict from a low intensity residential use 
results. 
 
Other matters 
 
The application has been considered in the context of the Epping Forest SAC and associated air 
quality issues. The site lies outside the 6.2km SAC boundary and does not require any further 
consideration at this stage. The development will lead to an increase in impact on air quality and 
the applicants have agreed to making an appropriate contribution in line with emerging policy and 
Natural England guidance, 

Page 104



 
Evidence exists that historic uses of the site have the potential to have resulted in residual 
contamination. A phase one contaminated land assessment accompanies the application and 
supports this view, recommending a remediation strategy be developed as part of the scheme. 
This can be dealt with by condition. 
 
The site location also justifies archaeological investigation due to the presence in the locality of 
remains of a medieval settlement. This again can be addressed by condition. 
 
A phase one extended habitat survey accompanies the application. This identifies the potential of 
activity in the vicinity from bats, but does not identify any other protected species, including newts 
or badgers active within the site. In this regard, a number of conditions are suggested to deal with 
impact of site clearance on roosting and to encourage future wild life activity. 
 
Conclusion: 
 
The site lies on the edge of, but clearly within the built area of Ongar. While it has not been built on 
previously, the main building plot has limited amenity value which officers conclude is outweighed 
by the desirability to deliver new housing within the confines of the built up area. 
 
The building has been carefully designed with regards to the character and form of the 
Conservation Area and the proximity to the Essex Way. By stepping the building, the scheme 
responds to existing ground levels without being excessively bulky in the context of the main 
adjacent buildings, the telephone exchange and the retail store. The built form and choice of 
materials are reflective of the character of the Conservation Area. The building is generally well 
screened from views from the west and where it is visible, forms a logical start to the built 
landscape, similar to other properties along the western edge of the town, such as those in 
Bansons Mews to the north. 
 
A degree of  impact on the adjacent mixed use building at Great Bansons is acknowledged, but 
this is not considered so significant as to justify refusal of a development that is considered broadly 
acceptable in all other regards, subject to the proposed s106 agreement in relation to air quality 
impacts and tree planting, and appropriate conditions. 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 3pm on the Monday preceding the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Ian Ansell 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564481 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



 
 

123 
 

 
 

 
 
  

 

107.6m

5

5a

2

Cou
rtSim

on
Cam

pi
on1 

to
 8

29
7

303 305

2

224a
224b

1 
to

 8

PH

28
3

287

29
3

289

Surgery

291

224

226

PolSta

230

222

SortingOffice

28
1

27
1

27
5

26
9

27
9

277

Post O
ffice Bk

House

1

1a
Doubleday

26
7

218

216

25
7

25
9

26
5

25
5

210

214

204

22
9

23
5

to 23
9t

o2
53

PH

212

Council Offices

15

8

47

23
1

The

The

Cottage

Sub Sta

El

Mill 
House

Bakers 
Villa

s

49 to 54

7a
22

5

9

PC

7 to 48

HEM
NAL

L

HIG
H

STAR LANE

BUTTERCRO
SS LAN

E

ST
RE

ETLB

TCBs

El Sub Sta

Car Park

Sub Sta
El

PondEFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 9 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1583/18 

Site Name: 1 Buttercross Lane Epping 
CM16 5AA 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 

 
 Page 106



Report Item No: 9 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1583/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: 1 Buttercross Lane 

Epping 
Essex 
CM16 5AA 
 

PARISH: Epping 
 

WARD: Epping Lindsey and Thornwood Common 
 

APPLICANT: Mr David Shaw 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Demolish existing house and replace with 9 apartments 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=610515 

 
CONDITIONS  
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 1A, 2CD, 3C. 
 

3 No development shall have taken place until samples of the types and colours of the 
external finishes have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing prior to the commencement of the development. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. For 
the purposes of this condition, the samples shall only be made available for 
inspection by the Local Planning Authority at the planning application site itself.  
 

4 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the proposed window 
openings in the north flank elevations shall be entirely fitted with obscured glass and 
have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the 
window is installed and shall be permanently retained in that condition. 
 

5 The Biodiversity Enhancement and Management Plan (BEMP) submitted by SES in 
May 2018 should be adhered to. Any changes to the document and/or working 
practices should be reported to EFDC by the Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) for 
consent. 
 

6 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the 
development. The assessment shall demonstrate that adjacent properties shall not 
be subject to increased flood risk and, dependant upon the capacity of the receiving 
drainage, shall include calculations of any increased storm run-off and the 
necessary on-site detention. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the 

Page 107



substantial completion of the development hereby approved and shall be adequately 
maintained in accordance with the approved management and maintenance plan. 
 

7 No development shall take place until details of foul and surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

8 The proposed use of this site has been identified as being particularly vulnerable if 
land contamination is present, despite no specific former potentially contaminating 
uses having been identified for this site.   
 
Should any discoloured or odorous soils be encountered during development works 
or should any hazardous materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming 
materials be found, then all development works should be stopped, the Local 
Planning Authority contacted and a scheme to investigate the risks and / or the 
adoption of any required remedial measures be submitted to, agreed and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of 
development works. 
 
Following the completion of development works and prior to the first occupation of 
the site, sufficient information must be submitted to demonstrate that any required 
remedial measures were satisfactorily implemented or confirmation provided that no 
unexpected contamination was encountered. 
 

9 Additional drawings that show details of proposed new windows and doors, soffits 
and eaves detailing  by section and elevation at scales between 1:20 and 1:1 as 
appropriate, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of any works. 
 

10 Details and colours of all external pipes, extracts, grilles, flues, lights and any alarm 
boxes or satellite dishes to be fixed to the fabric of the building shall be  submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to starting any work on 
site. 
 

11 Additional drawings of the type, colour, and position of new boundary treatments 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to 
the commencement of any works. 
 

12 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

13 The refuse storage facility shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to 
the first occupation of the development and shall thereafter be retained free of 
obstruction and used for the storage of refuse and recycling only and for no other 
purpose, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

14 Prior to first occupation an electric vehicle charging point shall be provided within the 
development for the use of residents. 
 

15 Prior to first occupation measures shall be incorporated within the development to 
ensure a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day. 
 

Page 108



16 Prior to the first occupation of the development the access arrangements, vehicle 
parking and turning areas as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided, 
hard surfaced, sealed and marked out.  The access, parking and turned areas shall 
be retained in perpetuity for their intended use. 
 

17 Prior to the first occupation of the proposed developer shall be responsible for the 
provision and implementation, per dwelling, of a Residential Travel Information Pack 
for sustainable transport, approved b Essex County Council, to include six one day 
travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public transport operator. 

 
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal (Pursuant to 
The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation, Appendix 3) 
 
And subject to the applicant first entering into a legal agreement under Section 106 to 
secure appropriate mitigation in terms of both recreational use of the forest and air quality 
with regard to impact on the Epping Forest SAC. 
 
Description of Site: 
 
A 0.25a site with a width of 21m and a depth of 57m located to the west of Buttercross Lane, itself 
a cul-de-sac accessed via a passage between the flank walls of buildings on the High Street within 
the built-up area of Epping.  The site is currently occupied by a two storey detached house built in 
the 1950’s with a maximum width of 17.6m.  The area is characterised by close knit two storey 
dwellings and flatted buildings of mixed designs and styles with narrow frontages, predominantly 
two-storey with tiled roofs and rendered or brick walls.  The south-west of the site is screened by 
mature trees and hedging and backs onto a car parking area and two storey buildings to the rear 
of the High Street.  To the immediate north of the site is a two storey building, with a three storey 
building to the east on the opposite side of Buttercross Lane.   The site is within the Epping 
Conservation Area. 
 
Description of Proposal: 
 
Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the site comprising the demolition of the 
existing two storey house and garage and the construction of a three storey block of 9 flats, 
comprising 8 two-bedroom flats and 1 one-bedroom flat, with associated parking and landscaping.  
The proposed building would have an L-shaped footprint with its most prominent elevation facing 
Buttercross Lane, the ground and first floor would each provide 3 two-bedroom flats and the 
second floor would provide 2 two-bedroom flats and 1 one-bedroom flat.  The building to 
accommodate the flats would have a central communal entrance door on the principal elevation 
and would resemble a substantial detached house of a contemporary style.  The façade of the 
building would be finished in red brick at ground floor level with a dentil course above ground floor 
lintels to separate it from the white timber cladding and jetting proposed at first and second floor 
level.  A red clay roof tile is proposed for the roof.  The building would have a maximum width of 
16m and a maximum depth of 23.7m.  Vehicular access to the building would be via a new 
crossover proposed to the right of the building on Buttercross Lane.  Nine car parking spaces, an 
electric vehicle charging point, bicycle storage, bin storage and an amenity space would be set to 
the rear of the building. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
EPU/0073/58 – Erection of dwelling house: Planning Permission. 
TPO/EPF/0001/75 – (TPO/ESX/5/53). Proposed lopping of preserved tree in rear garden: 
Approved with conditions. 

Page 109



 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1 Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP3 New development 
CP4 Energy conservation 
CP5 Sustainable building 
CP6 Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
CP7 Urban form and quality 
DBE1 Design of new buildings 
DBE2 Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE3 Design in urban areas 
DBE6 Car parking in new development 
DBE8 Private amenity space 
DBE9 Excessive loss of amenity to neighbouring properties 
DBE11 Sub-division of residential properties 
ST1 Location of development 
ST2 Accessibility of development 
ST4 Road safety 
ST6 Vehicle parking 
H2A Previously developed land 
H3A Housing density 
H4A Dwelling mix 
LL11 Landscaping schemes 
RP4 Contaminated land 
NC1 -  SPAs, SACs and SSSIs 
NC4  - Protection of established Habitat 
 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework: 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  

Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

Page 110



 

In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 

SP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP6 The natural environment, landscape character and green infrastructure 
H1 Housing mix and accommodation types 
H2 Affordable housing 
T1 Sustainable transport choices 
DM2 Epping Forest SAC and Lee Valley SPA 
DM9 High quality design 
DM10 Housing design and quality 
DM11 Waste recycling facilities on new development 
DM15 Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM18 On site management of waste water and water supply 
DM21 Local environment impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22 –Air quality 
HC7 Development within conservation areas 
 
Representations Received: 
 
29 Neighbours were consulted and a site notice was displayed.  
 
Responses: 
 
PETITION – Object, 196 signatures from local residents and frequent visitors to the area who all 
know Buttercross Lane and oppose the proposal. 
 
2 BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, proposal does not take previous planning appeal decisions 
into account, increased traffic, impact on pedestrian safety, not in keeping with the street scene, 
dominant and intrusive, impact on the Conservation Area. 
 
THE LITTLE HOUSE, 3 BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, proposal conflicts with decisions of 
three planning appeals regarding planning applications for residential development at No. 2 
Buttercross Lane, intrusive feature within the street scene, roof will be 3 metres higher than No. 3, 
9 flats will intensify development, detract from the openness of the lane, out of scale with adjoining 
houses, would set a precedent for similar development down the lane outside the Conservation 
Area, parking concerns, increased traffic, concerns regarding amenity space, does not conform 
with existing pattern of development, unclear plans, failure to conform to standards of design and 
density, no improvement or enhancement on the openness and appearance of the Conservation 
Area,  
 
5 BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, increased traffic, parking concerns, disruption due to building 
works, impact on Conservation Area, impact on view, overlooking, impact on character and value 
of property. 
 
5A BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, impact on area, increased traffic, parking concerns, impact 
on architectural and historical aspects. 
 

Page 111



6 BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, impact on appearance of lane, dominant and overbearing, out 
of scale, impact on pedestrian safety. 
 
7A BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, impact on Conservation Area, out of keeping with the lane, 
overdevelopment of site, increased traffic, parking concerns, impact on pedestrian safety, impact 
on character of Epping, disruption to neighbouring residents and workers in the High Street. 
 
9 BUTTERCROSS LANE – Object, increased traffic, parking concerns, impact on pedestrian 
safety, would set a precedent for further similar developments, impact on Conservation Area. 
 
3 THE SADDLERY, 1B BUTTERCROSS LANE  - Object, negative impact on way of life, impact on 
value of property, concerns regarding overdevelopment of site, increased traffic, disturbance and 
noise, overbearing, visual impact, loss of privacy, impact on Conservation Area, disrespects 
neighbouring residents. 
 
68 RAYFIELD, EPPING – Object, impact on amenity and Conservation Area 
 
ROSE FARM, THORNWOOD COMMON – Object, size of proposal, impact of increased traffic, 
drawings unclear, overdevelopment of site, potential for overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 
14 MORRISON AVENUE, POOLE – Object, increased traffic, impact on pedestrian safety, parking 
concerns, noise, disturbance to residents. 
 
EPPING TOWN COUNCIL – Object,  Committee strongly OBJECT to this application. 
This proposal will have a dramatic and negative impact on the conservation area.  The proposal is 
a vast overdevelopment of the site in terms of density and height, having three storeys, which 
would result in an overly dominant and irreversible effect on the street scene.  The proposal would 
decimate the street scene of this historic lane and the character of the road would be lost.  The 
whole development does not fit within this part of the conservation area. 
 
The proposal would be excessively overbearing and turn a family home into nine flats which would 
constitute mass overdevelopment.  The size and dominance of the building would create a 
tunnelling effect.  The density far exceeds that which is laid out in Policy.  The intensification of use 
from a detached family home to nine individual apartments would impact adversely on the 
surrounding area in terms of visual impact, noise nuisance, disturbance and additional traffic. 
The vast increase in the number of vehicles using the property would have a harmful effect on 
Highway safety and on the character of the area through which the new traffic would move.  The 
site is not large enough to accommodate larger scale movement of traffic.  There is no allowance 
for visitors parking to the flats, would result in additional cars parking in the neighbouring roads 
which already suffer from parking and congestion problems.  There are severe parking issues in 
Epping and the insufficient parking from this scheme will add to the problems.  The generation of 
additional traffic and refuse in this already busy location, will result in a loss of amenity in terms of 
noise and disturbance.  Buttercross Lane is a narrow road and this proposal would make access 
difficult for emergency vehicles as well as refuse vehicles. 
 
Committee object to the loss of this large family house, which are as necessary as flats and do not 
feel this is a suitable location.  A mix of dwelling types is required and removing large, family 
homes does not contribute to this objective.  Constantly granting permission for flats at the 
expense of good quality family homes, will adversely affect the mix of dwelling types available in 
the town and alter the core character of this historic lane. 
 
National policy states that the character of individual areas must be taken into consideration and 
this development does not respect the conservation area of the town centre.  Local and national 
policy state that the emphasis should be on improving the quality of life in urban areas, not 
reducing that quality for future generations.  Constantly allowing flats at the expense of family 

Page 112



houses reduces the mix of dwelling types available and thus reduces choice.  The need for flats is 
being catered for within the new Draft Local Plan and building plans set until 2033 within such 
plan. 
 
There would be a loss of trees and loss of greenery which would generate increased pollution. 
The resulting loss of amenity for neighbouring properties in terms of its overbearing nature, visual 
impact, additional traffic and nuisance is not acceptable and contravenes policy. 
 
Relevant policies: CP2, CP6, CP7, DBE1, DBE2, DBE9, H3A, H4A, ST4, ST6. 
Emerging Local Plan: H1A (ii) & (iii), DM9J 
NPPF: Paras 9,17, 53, 55, 64 
 
Issues and Considerations: 
 
The key issues for consideration in relation to this proposal are the principle of development, 
amenity considerations, design, highways and parking, impact on the character and appearance of 
the Epping Conservation Area. 
 
Principle of Development: 
 
The application site is located within the urban area of Epping, adjacent to the designated town 
centre.  Epping is one of the larger built up towns in the District, is well served by local services 
and amenities and has excellent public transport links.  The ‘golden thread’ running through the 
NPPF in terms of both plan-making and decision-taking is the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  The principle of the redevelopment of this site is considered to accord with this 
presumption and therefore this should be afforded significant weight.  Furthermore, the 
redevelopment of this site would constitute the reuse of previously developed land.  The NPPF 
and Local Plan policy H2A encourage the reuse and intensification of use of such sites.  
Notwithstanding this applications still need to be assessed on their individual merits. 
 
Amenity Considerations: 
 
The proposed development would replace an existing two storey dwelling with a considerably 
larger three storey block of flats.  The proposed 4m gap between the proposed building and No. 3, 
the neighbouring property to the north-west would represent a 1.5m increase on the existing gap 
between the properties.  No. 3 has a staggered footprint set marginally further back than the 
proposed building and whilst there is a 3m difference in height between No. 3 and the proposed 
building, the element of the proposed building immediately adjacent steps down 1.6m,  to reduce 
the height difference..  Given that the rear element of the proposed building is set 12.5 metres 
away from the shared boundary, the concerns regarding the difference in height and the dominant 
and intrusive form of the proposed building, while noted are not considered to be sufficient 
grounds to warrant refusal of the application.  Windows on the north elevation of the proposal 
serve bathrooms and kitchens in the main and a condition can be imposed to obscure glaze these 
windows in order to prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to No. 3.   
The south and west elevations of the proposal back onto a car park to the rear of the High Street 
and would not significantly impact the nearby properties.  Whilst concerns have been raised 
regarding the potential for disturbance and noise as a result of construction works this is not a 
material planning consideration, nevertheless this has been noted and a condition can be imposed 
regarding construction works. 
 
Local Plan policy DBE8 and the Essex Design Guide suggest 25 sq. m. of communal amenity 
space for each flat when assessing new residential dwellings.  Given this requirement, the 
proposed development would necessitate 225 sq. m of communal amenity space to serve this 
development.  Whilst the amenity space indicated on the submitted plans is at variance with the 
requirements of policy DBE8, it is not considered sufficient grounds to reasonably refuse 

Page 113



permission since it is generally accepted that properties within town centres can provide less 
amenity space and the application site is within walking distance of both Lower Swaines 
Recreation Ground and Stonards Hill Recreation Ground. 
 
Design: 
 
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF sets out that “planning policies and decisions should ensure that 
developments are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change (such as increased densities)”.  With regard to the appearance of the proposal, the 
proposal  has been designed to appear from the front as a large detached house and would 
continue to be set back from the road by 4.5m, increasing to 6.5m as the road progresses to the 
north-east.  Policy DBE1 requires that new buildings “(i) respect their setting in terms of scale, 
proportion, siting, massing, height, orientation, roof-line and detailing; (ii) are of a size and position 
such that they adopt a significance in the street scene which is appropriate to their use or function; 
and (iii) only employ external materials which are sympathetic in colour and texture to the 
vernacular range of materials”.  Whilst the bulk, mass and scale of the proposed building is greater 
than the existing dwelling, the increase in height is mitigated by the continued retention of the 
existing setback from Buttercross Lane, the 1.6m decrease in width of the principal elevation and 
the breaking up of the elevations by use of different materials.  Whilst the objections from 
neighbouring residents and the comments from Epping Town Council and the Epping Society 
regarding the visual impact of the proposal are noted, it is considered that subject to quality 
materials being used and appropriate detailing of eaves soffits and fenestration being submitted 
for approval, the development will fit well within the Conservation Area and the streetscene. 
(Impact on the conservation area is covered in more detail below) While it is accepted that the 
majority of neighbouring properties are predominantly two storey, the proposed three storey block 
of flats would relate well to Doubleday House, a three storey flatted building directly opposite in 
terms of bulk, mass and scale.  As such it is considered that the proposed building and Doubleday 
House could function in combination to complement Buttercross Lane by serving as a ‘gateway’ 
from the High Street.  From a design point of view, it is considered that the proposed three storey 
building could be accommodated without detriment to the street scene.  Whilst objections have 
been received regarding loss of trees and greenery, there are no trees worthy of retention on the 
application site.  As with any new development of this scale, hard and soft landscaping should be 
implemented and can be required by condition. Adequate space is maintained at the front of the 
site to secure appropriate planting to maintain the appearance of a domestic garden..  . 
 
Impact on Conservation Area: 
 
Many objections received have expressed concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on the 
Epping Conservation Area.  The Council’s Senior Conservation Officer has reviewed the proposal 
and has provided the following comments: 
 
The proposal site stands within the Epping Conservation Area to the rear of the High Street and 
directly behind no. 269, a grade II, largely 17th and 19th century building. The proposed scheme 
has been discussed at pre-application stage, although not with myself, and received positive 
feedback. 

 
The site marks the start of the residential development on Buttercross Lane after the lane passes 
through the narrow gap between the side elevations of the buildings fronting the High Street. The 
existing house is late 20th century in date and stands at two storeys with a single storey garage. 
No objections to the loss of the existing building are raised as it is of limited historic and 
architectural interest and is not considered to make a positive contribution to the conservation area 
(the character appraisal of 2009 identifies it as making a ‘neutral’ contribution to the conservation 
area). 

 

Page 114



The proposed building contains 9 flats over three floors. It occupies an L-shaped plan with a three 
storey element to the south (behind the High Street) stepping down to a two and a half storey 
range to the north. The design was discussed and amended throughout the pre-application 
process to arrive at the current design. 

 
The site acts as a transition point between the denser developments fronting the High Street with 
their service areas behind, and the lower density residential character of Buttercross Lane. Due to 
a drop in levels, the proposed three storey element will sit lower than the ridge height of the rear of 
no. 269 and will also relate to the large, imposing block opposite (Doubleday House). The drop in 
ridge height to two and a half storeys and its position on the same set-back building line as the 
existing helps to transition the proposed building into the prevailing smaller scale, lower density 
character of Buttercross Lane. 

 
My attention has been drawn to two appeal decisions at no. 2 Buttercross Lane (formerly ‘land 
adjacent to Broadbents, Buttercross Lane’). These concerned the redevelopment of an open plot 
of land, formerly a walled garden; the first appeal concerning the erection of two dwellings 
(dismissed) and the second a single dwelling (approved). In these decisions the Inspectors 
identified the change in character from the denser High Street to the more open feel of Buttercross 
Lane, partly thanks to the set-back position of nos. 1 and 3. This set back position will be 
preserved. Due to the position of no.1 further south down Buttercross Lane (closer to the High 
Street), its location opposite the huge three-storey Doubleday House, and the fact that a house 
already exists on the site (rather than the site being an empty, green plot), the appeal decisions 
relating to no.2 are not relevant in their entirety, to the current proposal, although their appraisal of 
the character of Buttercross Lane is. 

 
The general form of the proposed building is traditional in character with pitched roofs, simple 
casement windows and materials taken from the local vernacular. 

 
On balance, the proposal is not considered to harm this part of the conservation area as it acts as 
a transition between the High Street and Buttercross Lane, respecting the neighbouring building 
heights. It also relates to Doubleday House opposite. 

 
It is recommended that the following conditions are attached to any planning permission: 
- Details of the types and colours of all external materials shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to the commencement of any works.  
- Additional drawings that show details of proposed new windows, doors, and rooflights, by 
section and elevation at scales between 1:20 and 1:1 as appropriate, shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to the commencement of any works.  
- Details and colours of all external pipes, extracts, grilles, flues, lights and any alarm boxes 
or satellite dishes to be fixed to the fabric of the building shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works. 
- Additional drawings of the type, colour, and position of new boundary treatments shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing prior to the commencement 
of any works. 

 
This is supported by policies HC6, HC7 and HC12 of our Local Plan and Alterations (1998 and 
2006), policy DM7 of our Submission Version Local Plan (2017), and paragraphs 190 and 193 of 
the NPPF. 
 
Highways and Parking: 
 
The proposed flats would be served by nine off-street parking spaces.  The Essex County Council 
Vehicle Parking Standards requires 2 spaces per 2+ bedroom residential units (total of seventeen 
in this instance) plus two visitor spaces.  However, the parking standards state that “a lower 
provision of vehicle parking may be appropriate in urban areas (including town centre locations) 

Page 115



where there is good access to alternative forms of transport and existing car parking facilities”.  
Whilst much concern has been raised regarding increased traffic, parking implications and 
pedestrian safety, the town centre is well protected by parking restrictions and as such it is not 
considered that this proposal will be detrimental to highway safety or cause any on-street parking 
issues in the vicinity.  Furthermore Essex County Council’s Highway Authority has raised no 
objection to the proposal either on the grounds of level of provision or on highway safety grounds.  
Given the sustainable town centre location of the site, which is well served by local facilities and 
public transport, it is considered that one off-street parking space per flat is acceptable in this 
instance.  Adequate turning space is available within the site. It is accepted that Buttercross Lane 
is a narrow road largely without pavements and is used as a pedestrian cut through to the High 
Street from residential areas to the north, however it is not considered that the increase in vehicle 
movements at the top of the lane close to the High Street will adversely impact on highway safety.  
It is generally accepted that narrow shared surface roads are appropriate for residential 
developments and do not increase highway danger (due to the drivers and pedestrians perception 
that there is a need for care. 
 
Other Matters: 
 
Housing: 
 
Given the Council’s lack of a five year housing supply, the proposal will provide a net increase of 8 
residential units, adding to the supply of housing to the District which must be weighed against the 
objection regarding the loss of a family home and the Government’s objective of bringing 
development forward to meet the growing need for housing and to stimulate economic growth as 
laid out in the NPPF.  
 
The proposal falls below the threshold which requires the provision of affordable housing, and as 
such there is no requirement for a legal agreement to secure affordable housing. 
 
Ecology: 
 
Epping Forest Countrycare team has commented that they have no objection to the proposal 
subject to the imposition of a condition. 
 
As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential 
development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. 
The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy for the management and 
monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to be funded through the 
securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with Policy DM 2. 
Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the applicant has confirmed 
willingness to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation measures. 
 
Flooding: 
 
The Council’s Engineering, Drainage and Water Team has reviewed the application and provided 
the following comment: 
 
The site lies within an Epping Forest District Council flood risk assessment zone.  
The development is of a size where it is necessary to avoid generating additional runoff and the 
opportunity of new development should be taken to improve existing surface water runoff. A Flood 
Risk Assessment (FRA) is required; therefore please add land drainage condition SCN84A.  
The site does not lie within any Environment Agency (EA) Floodzones; therefore consultation with 
the EA is not required.  

Page 116



The applicant is proposing to dispose of surface water by main sewer. However, our records do 
not indicate a public sewer at this location. Further details are required. Please add a condition 
requiring approval of surface water details by the Local Planning Authority prior to development 
commencing.  
 
No objection to planning application in principle, subject to the approval/implementation of the 
requirements set out above by this team. 
 
Contaminated Land: 
 
The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the application and provided the following 
comment: 
 
I have screened readily available council records regarding former land uses and can see no 
evidence of a former industrial or potentially contaminating land use. 
 
As potential land contamination risks are likely to be low, it should not be necessary for these risks 
to be regulated under the Planning Regime by way of standard conditions. It is the responsibility of 
the developer to ensure the safe development of the site (including the appropriate disposal of any 
asbestos within the existing building & hardstanding) and the addition of a single condition 
requiring the developer to stop development, contact the Local Planning Authority and carry out 
any necessary agreed investigation and remediation works if significant contamination is 
encountered should suffice. 
 
I would therefore recommend that the stand alone ‘Unexpected Land Contamination’ condition be 
attached. 
 
Water: 
 
Thames Water has reviewed the application and provided advice to the applicant, but has raised 
no objection to the proposals.  
 
Conclusion: 
 
Taking all matters into account the proposed development is considered acceptable.  The proposal 
would make more efficient use of previously developed land and would accord with the NPPF’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The proposals would sit well within the street 
scene and subject to conditions will maintain the character and amenity of the conservation area. 
A lower car parking provision is considered acceptable in this location and there are no highway 
objections to the scheme Subject to mitigation measures that can be achieved by legal agreement 
there will be no harm to the Epping Forest SAC..  Accordingly the recommendation is one of 
approval subject to conditions and to the required legal agreement. 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Patrick Flanagan 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564101 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
 

Page 117



 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 
 

123  
 

 
 
  
 

94.5m

92.0m

Skips Corner

New

Cottage

244
2

1

20

37

31

36

Office

171

226

Police

218

224

42

7 14

47

202a

117

202b

204
161a

52

163

8

2

6
10

190

202

26

1

S
C

H
O

O
L  

G
R

E
E

N

PRINCES CLOSE

HIG
H 

RO
AD

E
l S

ub S
ta

EFDC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 10 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1834/18 

Site Name: 171 High Road North Weald 
EppingCM16 6EB 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 

 
 Page 119



Report Item No: 10 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1834/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: 171 High Road 

North Weald 
Epping 
Essex 
CM16 6EB 
 

PARISH: North Weald Bassett 
 

WARD: North Weald Bassett 
 

APPLICANT: Miss Victoria Edgar 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Demolition of existing dwelling to be replaced with 1 no. 4 bedroom 
detached house and a pair of 4 bedroom semi-detached houses 
(Revised application to EPF/0976/18) 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=611639 

 
CONDITIONS  
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 06, 07, 08. 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the proposed window 
openings in the flank elevations of the dwellings on plot 1, plot 2 and plot 3 shall be 
entirely fitted with obscured glass and have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres 
above the floor of the room in which the window is installed and shall be 
permanently retained in that condition. 
 

5 A flood risk assessment and management and maintenance plan shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development. The assessment shall include calculations of increased run-off and 
associated volume of storm detention using WinDes or other similar best practice 
tool. The approved measures shall be carried out prior to the substantial completion 
of the development and shall be adequately maintained in accordance with the 
management and maintenance plan. 
 
 

Page 120



6 No development shall take place until details of foul and surface water disposal have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such agreed details. 
 

7 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme 
and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced 
together with any necessary monitoring and maintenance programme and copies of 
any waste transfer notes relating to exported and imported soils shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved monitoring and 
maintenance programme shall be implemented.   
 

8 The parking area shown on the approved plan shall be provided prior to the first 
occupation of the development and shall be retained free of obstruction for the 
parking of residents (staff) and visitors vehicles. 
 

9 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

 
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal (Pursuant to 
The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of Delegation, Appendix 3) 
 
And subject to the applicant first entering into a legal agreement under Section 106 to 
secure appropriate mitigation in terms of both recreational use of the forest and air quality 
with regard to impact on the Epping Forest SAC. 
 
Description of Site:  
 
Large wide fronted detached dwelling and garage on 26 metre wide plot located on the northern 
side of the High Road in North Weald within the urban area. 
 
Description of Proposal:  
  
The proposal is for demolition of the existing dwelling to be replaced with a four bedroom detached 
house and a pair of four bedroom semi-detached houses.  (This is a revised application to 
EPF/0976/18).   
 
The detached dwelling on plot 1 would have a maximum width of 8.3m and a maximum depth of 
12m.  The pair of semi-detached dwellings would have a maximum combined width of 12.2m and 
a maximum depth of 11 metres.  Each dwelling would have private amenity space to the rear and 
would be served by two off-street car parking spaces to the front with provision for two additional 
visitor off-street car parking spaces. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Outline planning permission for the erection of a detached dwelling to the east of the existing 
dwelling was granted in 2005 under reference EPF/1342/04  
 

Page 121



A reserved matters application EPF/0098/07 was refused due to the scale and bulk of the proposal 
and a revised, significantly reduced scheme (EPF/2560/07) was approved in January 2008. 
 
EPF/1722/13 – erection of detached dwelling was refused for the following reason: 
“The proposed dwelling, due to its scale and position in relation to the rear facing windows and 
garden of no 22 Princes Close, would be overbearing and result in an unacceptable loss of 
outlook, causing harm to the residential amenity of the occupants of that dwelling, contrary to 
policy DBE2 and DBE9 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations.” 
 
EPF/2245/13 – A revised application for the erection of a 4 bed house to the east of the existing 
dwelling was approved by committee - 18/12/13 
 
EPF/2460/15 – Outline application for the erection of 3 pairs of semi detached houses – Refused 
under delegated powers for the following reason: 
“The proposed development, due to the narrow plot widths and the over dominance of parking at 
the front of the site, would appear camped and out of keeping with the prevailing pattern of 
development in this part of the High Road. As a consequence, the development would be harmful 
to the street scene, character and appearance of the locality and its visual amenities. Accordingly, 
the proposal is contrary to policies CP7 and DBE6 of the adopted Local Plan and Alterations, 
which are consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework”. 
 
EPF/1247/16 Outline application for demolition of existing house and construction of 4 detached 
houses, each with 4 bedrooms - Revised application to EPF/2460/15. (Access and layout to be 
determined) Refused at committee for the following reasons  
“1.The proposed development due to the number of units and the lack of space between the 
buildings has a cramped appearance out of keeping with the more spacious nature of the existing 
street scene on this side of the High Road and harmful to the character and visual amenity of the 
area, contrary to policies DBE1 and CP7. 
2. The siting of the dwelling on Plot 4 is poorly related to number 36 Princes Close, such that any 
building on that footprint  will have a significantly adverse impact on the light and outlook to the 
rear elevation and garden area of that property, contrary  to policies DBE2 and DBE9 of the 
adopted Local Plan and Alterations.” 
An appeal following this decision was dismissed – 11/01/17. 
 
EPF/2396/16 – Erection of 1 no. detached house with 4 bedrooms. Re-submission of approved 
application: EPF/2245/13: Approved by committee – 14/11/16.  
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1 Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP3 New development 
CP4 Energy conservation 
CP5 Sustainable building 
CP6 Achieving sustainable urban development patterns 
CP7 Urban form and quality 
DBE1 Design of new buildings 
DBE2 Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE3 Design in urban areas 
DBE6 Car parking in new development 
DBE8 Private amenity space 
DBE9 Excessive loss of amenity to neighbouring properties 
DBE11 Sub-division of residential properties 

Page 122



ST1 Location of development 
ST2 Accessibility of development 
ST4 Road safety 
ST6 Vehicle parking 
H2A Previously developed land 
H3A Housing density 
H4A Dwelling mix 
LL11 Landscaping schemes 
NC1 Development affecting SPAs, SACs and SSSIs 
RP4 Contaminated land 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework: 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
 
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 
weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
 
SP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
SP6 The natural environment, landscape character and green infrastructure 
H1 Housing mix and accommodation types 
H2 Affordable housing 
T1 Sustainable transport choices 
DM2 Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA 
DM3 Landscape character and ancient landscapes 
DM9 High quality design 
DM10 Housing design and quality 
DM11 Waste recycling facilities on new development 
DM15 Managing and reducing flood risk 
DM18 On site management of waste water and water supply 
DM21 Local environment impacts, pollution and land contamination 
DM22 Air quality 
HC7 Development within conservation areas 

Page 123



 
Consultation Response: 
 
30 neighbours were consulted. 
 
NORTH WEALD PARISH COUNCIL – No objection. 
 
The following responses were received; 
 
169 HIGH ROAD – Object, loss of light, flooding, noise and disruption during construction works, 
highway safety. 
 
218 HIGH ROAD – Object, parking concerns, increased traffic. 
 
224 HIGH ROAD – Object, parking concerns, highway safety. 
 
226 HIGH ROAD – Object, parking concerns. 
 
47 PRINCES CLOSE – Object, parking concerns, flooding, impact on amenity. 
 
Issues and Considerations:  
 
The key issues for consideration in relation to this proposal are the principle of development, 
amenity considerations, layout, design, highways and parking, impact on the character and 
appearance of the streetscene. 
 
The Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located within the built up urban area North Weald and within a 
predominantly residential area. The site is within a short walking distance to the facilities serving 
the village and whilst public transport within North Weald is fairly limited this is considered to be an 
appropriate location for additional housing. 
 
It is accepted that the proposal would involve the development of garden land and that the 
definition of previously developed land as quoted in Annex 2 of the NPPF specifically excludes 
“land in built-up areas such as residential gardens”. This was initially introduced under previous 
Government guidance PPG3 to restrict ‘garden grabbing’ however does not preclude development 
within the curtilages of existing properties provided these comply with all other development plan 
policies.  Whilst Paragraph 70 of the NPPF encourages Local Planning Authorities to “resist 
inappropriate development of residential gardens” this must be weighed against the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development – the ‘golden thread’ running through planning policy.  
 
The site is situated within a relatively sustainable urban location close to local services, facilities 
and public transport and would make more efficient use of this large site. Given that 92.4% of the 
District is designated Green Belt the principle of further development within existing sustainable 
settlements outside of the Green Belt is generally considered to be appropriate, provided all other 
policies are complied with. In addition, paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that  “In situations where 
the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving the provision of housing, the 
adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply: a) the 
neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less before the date on 
which the decision is made; b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its 
identified housing requirement; c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of 
deliverable housing sites (against its five year housing supply requirement, including the 
appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 73); and d) the local planning authority’s housing 

Page 124



delivery was at least 45% of that required over the previous three years”.   The Local Plan is 
currently being formulated but the position that is generally adopted is that the redevelopment of 
gardens is not inappropriate if the proposed scheme conforms with the general character of the 
area.  It is considered that the existing garden plot of number 171 is uncharacteristic of the 
gardens in the locality and that the proposed development of 4 on the plot is in line with the pattern 
of development along the High Road and would not be out of keeping with the area. 
 
The Council is currently in the process of preparing a new Local Plan where sites will be identified 
for residential development however the latest figures reveal that the Council can currently only 
demonstrate a 1.35 year supply of land for housing purposes. Due to this it has been shown in 
several recent appeal decisions, both within and outside of the district that such a lack of a 
demonstrable five year supply of housing weighs in favour of granting planning permission. 
However it should be noted that within a recent appeal decision for one new dwelling in Nazeing 
(EPF/2015/15) the Planning Inspectorate concluded that, with regards to the benefits to the five 
year land supply, “I attached only limited weight to that argument bearing in mind that the proposal 
is for one additional dwelling only, which would not make any appreciable difference in housing 
land supply”. 
 
Layout: 
 
This part of this side of High Road is characterised by detached properties on relatively wide plots, 
further to the west there are semi-detached properties with average plot widths of about 9 metres 
compared to the abnormally wide application site which is some 39m in width and is only occupied 
by one dwelling. To the east of the site the properties in Princes Close back on to the High Road, 
so that the High Road itself maintains a hedged and relatively rural character. 
 
The proposed layout results in 3 plots, the largest plot to the west of approximately 12m width to 
be occupied by a single detached dwelling to match the dwelling previously approved under 
EPF/2396/16) and two smaller plots of approximately 8m width each to be occupied by a pair of 
semi-detached dwellings.  Given the mix of development in the locality this is considered to be 
appropriate and not out of keeping with the general surrounding density or pattern of development.  
The houses would front the High Road, which makes sense.  Whilst parking would be to the front 
of the properties, given the size of the front garden areas proposed there is adequate space for the 
parking and turning areas not to over dominate the street scene, (unlike an earlier application for 6 
dwellings).  
 
Design and Appearance: 
 
The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of two-storey terraced and semi-detached houses 
and 1970’s three-storey flats of various architectural styles and designs.  Paragraph 131 of the 
NPPF sets out that “great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs which 
promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an 
area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings”.  The proposed 
dwellings are of a contemporary design and appearance and would incorporate a mixture of 
render and brick which would respond well to the local area and would conform with policies 
DBE1, DBE2 and DBE4 of the Epping Forest District Local plan which seek to ensure that “new 
development is satisfactorily located and is of a high standard of design and layout” and clarifies 
that “the appearance of new development should be compatible with the character of the 
surrounding area, and would not prejudice the environment of occupiers of adjoining properties”.  
Given the above, it is considered that the proposed dwellings would respect the general scale, 
height and character of dwellings within the street scene and would not adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the locality. 
 

Page 125



Access and Parking: 
 
Whilst the application site is located within the built up area of North Weald, public transport is 
rather limited and reliance on vehicles is accepted.  A new vehicular access is proposed off the 
highway and visibility in both directions is good.  The proposed access and parking areas are 
considered acceptable having regard to the Essex County Council Parking Standards.  Whilst the 
concerns regarding additional traffic are noted the application site has previously been reviewed 
by Essex County Council Highways Authority who concluded that development at this site is “not 
detrimental to highway safety, efficiency or capacity at this location”.  Each dwelling is served by 
two off-street parking spaces and there is additional provision for two off-street visitor car parking 
spaces.  A condition can be imposed to ensure the parking provision indicated on the submitted 
plans will be provided prior to the first occupation of the development.  Whilst the concerns 
regarding parking are noted it is not considered that refusal of the application on the basis of 
perceived inadequate parking provision could reasonably be sustained.  
 
Residential Amenity: 
 
The footprint of the proposed dwelling on Plot 1 would be set back from High Road and whilst set 
closer to the flank wall of No. 169, it is not considered to adversely impact the amenity of this 
dwelling.  A condition can be imposed to obscure glaze the windows on the side elevation facing 
No. 169 in order to prevent any loss of privacy or overlooking.  While the concerns from No. 169 
are noted, the proposal is not considered to result in an unacceptable degree of harm sufficient to 
warrant refusal of the application in this regard.  The proposed semi-detached dwellings on plots 2 
and 3 are set slightly further back from the principal elevation of the proposed dwelling on plot 1 
and maintain a sufficient gap to the sides between the proposed dwellings on plots 1 and 4 and do 
not give rise to any amenity concerns.  Whilst all three plots back onto gardens to the rear of 
properties on Princes Close, given the distance of approximately 20m from the rear elevations of 
each proposed dwelling to the shared boundary with the retention of the existing hedging 
proposed, it is not considered to result in any excessive harm to the residential amenities of 
properties on Princes Close.  While the objection from No. 47 Princes Close is noted it is not 
considered to result in an unacceptable degree of harm such that a refusal of the application could 
be reasonably sustained.  Each plot benefits from adequate private amenity space with access to 
the rear.  
 
Other Issues 
 
Drainage:  
 
Whilst the concerns regarding flooding are noted, the application has been reviewed 
by the Council’s Engineering, Drainage and Water Team who have raised no objection 
to the proposal subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
Contaminated Land: 
 
The site has not been identified as potentially contaminated, but given the residential use, it is 
considered appropriate to apply a condition relating to any unexpected contamination being found. 
 
Ecology:  
 
As set out in policy NC1 of the Adopted Local Plan and policies DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging 
Local Plan, issues have been identified with respect to the effect of development on the integrity of 
the Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure 
arising from new residential development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the 
roads that traverse the SAC. The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy 

Page 126



for the management and monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to 
be funded through the securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with 
Policy DM 2. Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the applicant has 
confirmed willingness to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation 
measures. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed scheme is considered appropriate, would not adversely impact the character or 
amenity of the area and is therefore in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
and the relevant Local Plan policies and is therefore recommended for approval subject to 
conditions. 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer:   Patrick Flanagan 
Direct Line Telephone Number:   01992 564101 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
. 

Page 127



  
 

 
123  

 

 
 
  

 

 

  
DC 

EFDC 

Epping Forest District Council 

 

Agenda Item Number 11 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings. 
 
Contains Ordnance Survey Data. © 
Crown Copyright 2013 EFDC License No: 
100018534 
 
Contains Royal Mail Data. © Royal Mail 
Copyright & Database Right 2013 

 

Application Number: EPF/1847/18 

Site Name: 55 High Street, Epping 
CM16 4BA 
 

Scale of Plot: 1:1250 (approx.) 

 
Page 128



Report Item No: 11 
 
APPLICATION No: EPF/1847/18 

 
SITE ADDRESS: 55 High Street 

Epping 
Essex 
CM16 4BA 
 

PARISH: Epping 
 

WARD: Epping Lindsey and Thornwood Common 
 

APPLICANT: Vanda Watling 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 
PROPOSAL: 

Redevelopment of existing shop (including new shopfront) with flat 
above, involving alteration and refurbishment of existing building 
plus new two storey building to the rear containing two flats. 
 

RECOMMENDED 
DECISION: 

Grant Permission with conditions (Subject to Legal Agreement) 
 

 
Click on the link below to view related plans and documents for this case: 
http://planpub.eppingforestdc.gov.uk/NIM.websearch/ExternalEntryPoint.aspx?SEARCH_TYPE=1&DOC_CLASS_CODE=PL&FOLDER1_REF=611717 

 
CONDITIONS  
 
 

1 The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date of this notice. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted will be completed strictly in accordance with the 
approved drawings nos: 459/01, 459/04, 459/05. 
 

3 No construction works above ground level shall take place until documentary and 
photographic details of the types and colours of the external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, in writing. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with such approved details. 
 

4 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, the proposed window 
openings in the north-east flank elevation shall be entirely fitted with obscured glass 
and have fixed frames to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which 
the window is installed and shall be permanently retained in that condition. 
 

5 No preliminary groundwork's of any kind shall take place until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant 
and approved by the local planning authority. 
 

6 The proposed use of this site has been identified as being particularly vulnerable if 
land contamination is present, despite no specific former potentially contaminating 
uses having been identified for this site.   
 
Should any discoloured or odorous soils be encountered during development works 
or should any hazardous materials or significant quantities of non-soil forming 

Page 129



materials be found, then all development works should be stopped, the Local 
Planning Authority contacted and a scheme to investigate the risks and / or the 
adoption of any required remedial measures be submitted to, agreed and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of 
development works. 
 
Following the completion of development works and prior to the first occupation of 
the site, sufficient information must be submitted to demonstrate that any required 
remedial measures were satisfactorily implemented or confirmation provided that no 
unexpected contamination was encountered. 
 

7 All construction/demolition works and ancillary operations, including vehicle 
movement on site which are audible at the boundary of noise sensitive premises, 
shall only take place between the hours of 07.30 to 18.30 Monday to Friday and 
08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturday, and at no time during Sundays and Public/Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

8 The refuse storage facility shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to 
the first occupation of the development and shall thereafter be retained free of 
obstruction and used for the storage of refuse and recycling only and for no other 
purpose, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

 
 
This application is before this Committee since the recommendation is for approval contrary to an 
objection from a local council which is material to the planning merits of the proposal and to at 
least one objection from a resident (Pursuant to The Constitution, Part Three: Scheme of 
Delegation) 
 
And subject to the applicant first entering into a legal agreement under Section 106 to 
secure appropriate mitigation in terms of both recreational use of the forest and air quality 
with regard to impact on the Epping Forest SAC. 
 
Description of Site: 
 
The application site consists of a currently vacant shop with first floor residential accommodation 
within the urban area of Epping. The site is situated within the designated Town Centre, however is 
not within the key frontage. The site is flanked on either side by retail units and to the rear by a 
large car park serving Tesco Superstore. The rear part of the site is an open yard. To the 
southeast of the site two residential properties have recently been erected behind No’s. 51 and 53 
High Street. These are accessed by way of an existing pedestrian archway between the two 
shops. 
 
Description of Proposal:  
 
Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the existing shop to include a new 
shopfront, the alteration and refurbishment of the existing building and the erection of a new two 
storey building to the rear containing two flats.  The ground floor of the existing building would be 
remodelled to provide a revised internal layout accommodating the shop, kitchen, WC, stairwell, 
an access passageway to the rear as well as provision for cycle parking and bin storage.  The first 
floor would be similarly remodelled to accommodate a 1 bedroom flat.  The access passageway 
would lead to a courtyard beyond which the proposed two storey building would be erected.  The 
new building would have a maximum width of 5.2m, a maximum depth of 13.2m, eaves height of 
4.3m with a double pitched roof with a maximum pitch height of 7.1m. 
 

Page 130



Relevant History: 
 
EPO/0030/65 – Alterations to shop and self contained flat: Planning Permission. 
EPF/0422/85 – Change of use of first floor flat to offices: Refuse Planning Permission. 
EPF/1862/00 – Retention of two timber sheds in rear yard used for storage and assembly of 
picture frames: Planning Permission. 
 
Policies Applied: 
 
Epping Forest District Council Local Plan (1998) and Alterations (2006): 
 
CP1 – Achieving sustainable development objectives 
CP2 – Protecting the quality of the rural and built environment 
CP9 – Sustainable transport 
GB2A – Development in the Green Belt 
GB7A – Conspicuous development 
H2A – Previously developed land 
H3A – Housing density 
DBE1 – Design of new buildings 
DBE2 – Effect on neighbouring properties 
DBE8 – Private amenity space 
DBE9 – Loss of amenity 
TC1 – Town centre hierarchy 
TC3 – Town centre function 
ST4 – Road safety 
ST6 – Vehicle parking 
RP3 – Water quality 
RP4 – Contaminated land 
NC1 -  SPAs, SACs and SSSIs 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework: 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been adopted as national policy since July 
2018. Paragraph 213 states that due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing plans 
according to their degree of consistency with the framework.  The above policies are broadly 
consistent with the NPPF and should therefore be given appropriate weight.  
Epping Forest District Local Plan (Submission Version) 2017: 
 
On 14 December 2017, full Council resolved that the Epping Forest Local Plan Submission 
Version 2017 be endorsed as a material consideration to be used in the determination of planning 
applications and be given appropriate weight in accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF. 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to: 

 the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, the 
greater the weight that may be given);  

 the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant 
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

 the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In general terms it is considered that the Submission Version of the Plan is at an advanced stage 
of preparation and the policies are considered to be consistent with the NPPF. As regards 
unresolved objections, some policies within the Submission Version have more unresolved 
objections than others. All of these factors have been taken into consideration in arriving at the 

Page 131



weight accorded to each of the relevant policies in the context of the proposed development listed 
below: 
SP1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
SP6 - Green Belt and District Open Land 
H1 - Housing Mix and Accommodation Types 
E2 - Centre Hierarchy/Retail Policy 
T1 - Sustainable Transport Choices 
DM2 - Epping Forest SAC and the Lee Valley SPA 
DM9 - High Quality Design 
DM10 - Housing Design and Quality 
DM11 - Waste Recycling Facilities on New Development 
DM15 - Managing and Reducing Flood Risk 
DM18 - On Site Management of Waste Water and Water Supply 
DM21 - Local Environmental Impacts, Pollution and Land Contamination 
DM22 - Air Quality 
 
 
Consultation Carried Out and Summary of Representations Received:   
 
7 neighbouring residents were consulted. 
 
53A EPPING HIGH STREET – Object on the grounds of accessibility to the site and parking 
provision. 
 
57 EPPING HIGH STREET – Object on the grounds of impact on their business, noise pollution 
and hours associated with the construction works 
 
EPPING TOWN COUNCIL – Object: 
 
Committee STRONGLY OBJECT to this application. 
 
This proposal is an overdevelopment of the site in terms of its bulk, scale and density. 
 
There is the question of access to the two new flats at the back of the property.  There seems to 
be only one front access for the shop and one front access for the existing flat upstairs. 
 
There does not seem to be any provision for access to refuse collection. 
 
There is no provision for vehicle parking for the two new flats.  Even though the property is located 
near other forms of transport with cycle provision at the development, there is every likelihood that 
the residents in the two new proposed flats will own vehicles even though the development is in an 
urban area.  There are existing car parking facilities in the town but this provision in the area is 
quite inadequate.  There are severe parking issues in Epping and the insufficient parking from this 
scheme will put additional pressures on the surrounding roads.   
 
National and Local policy seek to protect the quality of the urban environment.  The additional 
pressure on parking will reduce the quality of the urban environment in neighbouring roads.  
Development now should not result in a reduced quality of life for future generations. 
 
The Committee welcomes the refurbishment of the existing property as they agree that the shop 
front needs and update. 
 
Relevant policies:  CP6, CP7, DBE1, DBE8, DBE10, GB13 
Emerging Local Plan: H1A (ii), (iii) & (v), DM9J, T1 C & F 
NPPF: Para 17, 32, 39, 56 

Page 132



 
EPPING SOCIETY – Object on the grounds of overdevelopment of the site, access to the site, 
unacceptable amenity space provision and inadequate car parking provision. 
 
Main Issues and Considerations: 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are the principle of the development in this 
location, the design, the impact on neighbouring properties and highways/ parking implications. 
 
Principle of development: 
 
The application site consists of a currently vacant shop with first floor residential accommodation 
within the urban area of Epping. The site is situated within the designated Town Centre, however is 
not within the key frontage. The site is flanked on either side by retail units and to the rear by a 
large car park serving Tesco Superstore. The rear part of the site is an open yard. To the 
southeast of the site two residential properties have recently been erected behind No’s. 51 and 53 
High Street. These are accessed by way of an existing pedestrian archway between the two 
shops. 
 
The proposed alterations to the ground floor of the existing building would include internal 
alterations to the rear of the shop and would also include the provision of a ground floor 
‘passageway’ between the shop and the neighbouring premises at No. 57 High Street in order to 
gain separate access to the four new flats. 
 
Whilst the proposal alterations would result in some loss of retail floorspace this would not be to a 
significant degree and it is considered that the remaining floor area would be sufficient to continue 
trading as a retail store. The provision of an additional residential unit within the existing building 
would be considered acceptable within this urban, town centre location since it would accord with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
 
The provision of a new build block of two flats within the rear yard does create a somewhat 
constrained backland development, whilst this element of the proposal follows the recently erected 
development on the neighbouring site, which is similar in terms of location, design and layout, that 
development replaced an existing substantial building and should not be seen to set a precedent 
for this form of development within this location. Provision of a new passageway in order to provide 
access to the site would enable the use of the rear yard for residential purposes, and the new 
building to be erected would be viewed within the context of the neighbouring development. 
 
Residential uses are recognised as being beneficial to town centres as it increases activity, 
security and custom. This is highlighted within Paragraph 85 of the NPPF which states that Local 
Planning Authorities should, amongst other factors, “recognise that residential development can 
play an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and set out policies to encourage 
residential development on appropriate sites”.  
The application site is located within Epping Town Centre, which is one of the larger built up towns 
within the District and is well served by local services and amenities, and has good public transport 
links. The ‘golden thread’ that runs through the NPPF in terms of both plan-making and decision-
taking is the presumption in favour of sustainable development. The intensification of use of this 
site would accord with this presumption and would be afforded significant weight. 
 
Design and Appearance: 
 
Policies DBE1, DBE2 and DBE4 of the Epping Forest District Local plan seeks to ensure that new 
development is satisfactorily located and is of a high standard of design and layout.  Furthermore, 
the appearance of new development should be compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area, and would not prejudice the environment of occupiers of adjoining properties.  The concerns 

Page 133



expressed by Epping Town Council, the Epping Society and neighbouring residents regarding 
overdevelopment of the site must be balanced against the carefully thought out design of the 
proposal that respects the overall scale, height and relationship of the building to its plot 
boundaries and to the surrounding built form.   The design of the proposed extension to the 
existing building would mimic and retain the character and appearance of the existing building and 
is therefore considered to be acceptable.  Furthermore, the new building to the rear appears to 
mirror the building to the rear of the adjacent site and likewise is considered to be acceptable.  
Whilst it is generally accepted that properties within town centres can provide less amenity space, 
the Epping Society have raised concerns regarding amenity provision for the proposal.  The 
submitted plans indicate provision for amenity space and both Lower Swaines Recreation Ground 
and Stonards Hill Recreation Ground are within walking distance of the site.  Although this would 
not meet the recommended standards as laid out within the Essex Design Guide and Local Plan 
policy DBE8, given the above, the town centre location and the small size of the flats proposed, 
together with other instances of residential units that do not benefit from any amenity space in 
Epping Town Centre, (including the units currently above No’s 51 and 53 High Street) it is not 
considered sufficient grounds to warrant a refusal of permission. 
 
Impact on Neighbours: 
 
Given the location of the site and adjoining land uses it is considered that the development has 
been designed in such a way to ensure that there is no detrimental loss of amenity to neighbouring 
residents.  The proposed rear building would be located parallel to the adjoining development of 
No’s 51A and 53A.  There are no windows on the south-west flank elevation which would not 
result in overlooking or loss of privacy for the neighbouring dwelling to the south-west.  
Furthermore, the windows on this neighbouring dwelling serve a store and a stairwell therefore 
resulting in no unacceptable loss of light.  Since the only first floor flank window on the north-east 
elevation of the proposed building would serve a bathroom and would be obscure glazed there 
would be no loss of privacy for the adjoining neighbour at No. 57.  The south-east elevation of the 
proposed building would have a window serving a bedroom which is not considered to result in 
any undue loss of privacy to neighbouring residents or future occupiers of the first floor flat over 
the shop.  Whilst the north-west elevation of the proposal would have a dormer window and doors 
opening onto a balcony it is not considered to result in overlooking or loss of amenity for 
neighbouring properties given that the balcony would be screened by obscure glass side panels 
1.7m high.  As such it is considered the proposal does not result in any harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents.  Concern has been raised by No. 57 High Street with regards to 
disturbance and noise as a result of construction works, however since any such harm as a result 
of construction is a short lived issue it is not a material planning consideration.  Nevertheless, 
conditions could be imposed in order to reduce and control any potential impact as a result of the 
construction of the proposal. 
 
Parking/Highway Implications: 
 
Concern has been expressed by Epping Town and Council and the Epping Society due to a lack 
of off-street parking provision.  Whilst the Essex County Council Vehicle Parking Standards would 
normally expect 2 off-street parking spaces per dwelling and 1 visitor parking space for the site, it 
does allow for reduction in numbers in sustainable locations such as town centres.  Given that this 
only allows for a ‘reduction’ rather than no provision it has been accepted that zero-parking 
schemes can be appropriate within certain designated town centres, including Epping.  
Furthermore policy T1 F(iv) of the Submission Version of the Local Plan states that “reduced car 
parking, including car free, development in sustainable locations will be supported”.  Although this 
would not necessarily allow for a zero parking residential scheme there is no vehicular access to 
the site and therefore no possibility of providing off-street parking on site.  The town centre is well 
protected by parking restrictions and as such it is not considered that this proposal will be 
detrimental to highway safety or cause any on-street parking issues in the vicinity.  Space has 
been provided within the site for the storage of bicycles in accordance with adopted standards. 

Page 134



There are many examples of flats above shops in the town centre which do not have parking 
provision. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Epping Forest Special Area of Conservation (SAC): 
 
As set out in Policy DM 2 and DM 22 of the emerging Local Plan, issues have been identified with 
respect to the effect of development on the integrity of the Epping Forest Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) as a result of increased visitor pressure arising from new residential 
development, and from relatively poor local air quality alongside the roads that traverse the SAC. 
The Council is currently developing with partners an interim strategy for the management and 
monitoring of visitor pressures on the SAC. This will include measures to be funded through the 
securing of financial contributions from new development in accordance with Policy DM 2. 
Notwithstanding the fact that this work is yet to be completed the agent has confirmed willingness 
to enter into a S106 Agreement to assist in the funding of the mitigation measures. 
 
Archaeological Advice: 
 
The Historic Environment Advisor of Place Services, Essex County Council has been consulted 
and provided the following response: The Essex Historic Environment Record (EHER) shows that 
the proposed development is located on the edge of the historic town of Epping (EHER 3826).  The 
1st edn. OS map shows properties fronting the High Street, the age of these is not known.  There is 
the possibility therefore of archaeological features relating to the origins and development of 
Epping being impacted on by the proposed development.  A condition will be imposed on any 
planning permission granted. 
 
Contaminated Land: 
 
All readily available council records regarding former land uses have been screened and there is 
no evidence of a former industrial or potentially contaminating land use on the site. However, 
directly to the north a Depot is registered on our system, this is classified as a potentially 
contamination site. Moreover, there is an Electricity sub-station located directly to the east.  The 
answers to Question 14 on the application form regarding sensitive use that is particularly 
vulnerable to the presence of contamination were answered no however residential use would be 
considered a sensitive use.  As potential land contamination risks are likely to be low, it should not 
be necessary for these risks to be regulated under the Planning Regime by way of standard 
conditions. It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure the safe development of the site 
(including the appropriate disposal of any asbestos within the existing building & hardstanding) 
and the addition of a single condition requiring the developer to stop development, contact the 
Local Planning Authority and carry out any necessary agreed investigation and remediation works 
if significant contamination is encountered should suffice. 
 
Waste: 
 
Epping Town Council has raised concerns regarding the storage and collection of waste at the 
application site.  The submitted plans indicate provision for the storage of bins and the proposed 
access alley will enable the bins to be presented for the Council’s refuse collection service.  A 
condition can be imposed to ensure the bin storage facility shown on the approved plans shall be 
completed prior to the first occupation of the development and shall thereafter be retained free of 
obstruction and used only for its intended purpose. 
 

Page 135



Conclusion 
 
The proposed development would not be detrimental to the character and appearance of the area 
or the amenities of surrounding residents and would provide much sought after accommodation in 
a sustainable location.  Whilst no off-street parking is proposed and the level of amenity space is 
less than normally desired, given the sustainable town centre location, the small scale of the units 
proposed and inability to gain access for parking this is not considered to be unduly detrimental.  
The scheme makes best use of urban land in accordance with the NPPF and the submission 
version Local Plan. As such the proposed development is considered to comply with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and is therefore recommended for approval. 
 
 
Should you wish to discuss the contents of this report item please use the following 
contact details by 2pm on the day of the meeting at the latest: 
 
Planning Application Case Officer: Patrick Flanagan 
Direct Line Telephone Number: 01992 564101 
 
or if no direct contact can be made please email:   contactplanning@eppingforestdc.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136


	Agenda
	2 ADVICE TO PUBLIC AND SPEAKERS ATTENDING THE COUNCIL PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEES
	Area Planning Subcommittee East - Further revised members photo sheet 18-19

	3 MINUTES
	Minutes
	15 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

	8 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
	East Agenda Schedule


